PASIFIKA W	OMEN, BEAUTY AND RACE:
	OMEN, BEAUTY AND RACE:  eauty ideals and the experiences of Pasifika women in contemporary society.
	eauty ideals and the experiences of Pasifika women in

# Malia Lesina Kelela Latu

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Masters of Communication Studies (MCS) at the Auckland University of Technology

2020

SCHOOL OF COMMUNICATION STUDIES

Contemporary notions of beauty embedded in social ideals and values, can have a significant influence on the lived experiences of women. From social class to skin colour and ethnicity, women's bodies have been largely "defined through a white lens" (p. 65). Poran (2002) and Aduonum (2004) suggest that if women of colour do not voice their concern about unequal representation, they are unlikely to achieve social change. This study recognises a lack of Pasifika representation in the widespread communication of beauty ideals. It seeks to understand the lived experiences of Pasifika women in relation to ideas of beauty, gender and race, drawing comparison with previous studies that have considered hegemonic "whiteness" (Amigo, Bravo, Secail, Lefebure & Burrell, 2016; Osuri, 2008) and resistant black culture through concepts such as Critical Race Theory and intersectionality. To achieve this research objective, this study applies the Pasifika methodology of Talanoa and the method of thematic analysis to both gather and analyse primary data from 12 Pasifika women. Inspired by Konahelu Thaman's (1999, cited in Fuka-lino, 2015) development of the Kakala Framework, this study also utilises the metaphor of the Kakala to interpret the process and outcomes of this research. Key findings identified several core tenets central to the experiences of the participants: Mass media and social media both influence formative experiences and an understanding of race, class and gender, which often perpetuates inequality in the pursuit of self-acceptance, social acceptance and concern for their peers. However, in the Pasifika context, personal relationships between friends and family contribute significantly to the perception of beauty ideals that account for the Pasifika traditions of the home, community and church. This study is significant in relation to the wider experiences of women of colour, because it prioritises the voices of Pasifika women who are rarely identified in existing research. In doing so, it highlights the inadequacies and potential consequences of communicated beauty ideals, challenging the value that is placed upon Pasifika women in contemporary society.

# Attestation of Authorship

I hereby declare that this submission is my own work and that, to the best of my knowledge
and belief, it contains no material previously published or written by another person (except
where explicitly defined in the acknowledgements), nor material which to a substantial extent
has been submitted for the award of any other degree or diploma of a university or other
institution of higher learning.

Malia Lesina Kelela Latu

24<sup>th</sup> January 2020

## Acknowledgements

Malo e Lelei ~

This thesis would not have been possible without the help of several individuals that I wish to extend my sincerest gratitude to -

Firstly, I would like to acknowledge the Pasifika women who extended their time to be a part of this study. Your contributions have made this study more meaningful in that your stories and personal experiences have helped shape my own perceptions of beauty and for that, thank you.

Secondly, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Colin McKay and Alex Woodley of the Geraldine Lopdell Memorial Trust. Thank you for your support and acknowledging the work of young Pasifika women such as myself. I cannot express enough, how honoured and grateful I am to be the first recipient of an award that celebrates the hard work of your late mother.

Thirdly, I am highly indebted and thoroughly grateful to my Primary Supervisor, Dr Rufus McEwan for your time, commitment and on-going support. Thank you for the weekly commitments, the emotional and academic support and for always being available when I needed your help. Your support and guidance is truly appreciated.

I also wish to extend my acknowledgement to Associate Professor Vijay Devadas, for your constant feedback and words of encouragement. Thank you for always making yourself available even with your busy schedule. I would also like to acknowledge Jessie Hsu of the School of Communications postgraduate department who made sure I had the resources and support I needed.

To my friends and colleagues, in particular to Fale Tumanu, Sharon Samuel, Joe Lolo and the Front Office department of Holiday Inn Auckland Airport. This study would not have made possible without your support and understanding in negotiating my working hours; and for always being responsive to unforeseen circumstances related to this study.

To my family, my sincerest gratitude for your understanding and support during my commitment to this study. In particular, I wish to express my gratitude to my parents Kalino Latu and Patelesia Latu. Thank you for your love, prayers, teachings and always allowing me to prioritise my studies and encouraging me to reach my highest potential. To my amazing siblings – Alpha Latu, Petelo Latu, Nicholas Latu, Angelica Latu and Sisi Latu. Thank you for taking responsibility for some of my duties and obligations as the eldest, at times when I was not able to fulfil those duties due to the challenges of postgraduate study. To my loving partner Peter Latu, thank you for your unconditional support and for always being a positive light in my gloomy days. Your words of encouragement do not go unheeded.

Finally, this thesis is dedicated to my beloved niece Nalani 'Elisiva Lesina Latu†, for you were the motivation behind completing this study. You will always be my sweetest memory.

To your parents, Nicholas and Dayna you are forever in my heart.

# **List of Tables & Figures**

Figure 1: Images of Angela	Yvonne Davis taken at the Police	station and placed on Top Ten
Most Wanted list (Rosenthal	l, 2017)	
`		C
Table 1: Participants Sample	<u>,                                     </u>	Pg. 46

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract
Attestation of Authorship
Acknowledgements
List of Tables & Figures
Contents

1.	Introduction	1
	1.1 Background – Encountering beauty ideals	2
	1.2 Research Aims & Objectives	4
	1.3 Chapter Outlines	6
2.	Literature Review	9
	2.1 The origins of "beauty"	9
	2.2 Race, Gender and Class in relation to beauty	11
	2.3 Whiteness, normality and hegemonic ideology	16
	2.4 "Black is beautiful"	21
	2.5 Pasifika women, post-colonialism and beauty	25
	2.6 Conclusion	28
3.	Research Methodology and Study Design	31
	3.1 Ko e Talanoa mo hono Kakala (The talking of Talanoa & Kakala)	31
	3.2 Kakala mo hono talanga (The talking of Kakala)	
	3.3 Stage 1: Teu (The preparation stage)	
	3.3.1 Justification	36
	3.3.2 Ethics	36
	3.3.3 Procedure	37
	3.3.4 Participants	38
	3.4 Stage 2: Toli (Kakala mo hono Paki – Collection)	39
	3.4.1 Talanoa'i e toli ( <i>Talking of the data collection</i> )	39
	3.5 Stage 3: Tui (Data Analysis)	
	3.6 Stage 4: Luva e Kakala (Presentation of findings)	46
	3.7 Challenges	
	3. 8 Conclusion	47
4.	Findings	49
	4.1 Theme One: Social Peer Pressure	49
	4.1.1 School and Workplace	50
	4.1.2 Family, Church and Community Support	52
	4.2 Theme Two: Media	57
	4.2.1 Television and Magazines	58
	4.2.2 Social Media	
	4.3 Theme Three: Race	64
	4.3.1 Race	64
	4.3.2 Acculturation	68
	4.4 Conclusion	71
5.	Discussion Chapter	
	5.1. Pasifika women and perceptions	
	5.2 Role & Influence of Media on beauty notions amongst Pasifika women	
	5.3 Race & Ethnicity in relation to Pasifika women beauty	
	5.4 Conclusion	

6.	Conclusion	84
	6.1 Summary of Findings	85
	6.1.1 Impact of Racial Stereotype	
	6.1.2 Impact of Social Relationships	
	6.1.3 To understand the impact of whiteness in developing self-confidence	
	6.1.4 Understanding racial different, beauty and diversity	
	6.2 Recommendation	
	6.3 Limitations	89
7.	References	85
8.	Appendix One: Ethics Approval	
	11 11	

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

In mainstream media, the widespread representation of beauty generally consists of light-skinned women with tanned, smooth skin, a tall slim build and softer shaped eyebrows; in short, physical traits that generally exclude a majority of Pasifika women. Considering the lack of ethnic women represented in mainstream media, Chavez, Fedelina and Guido-DiBrito (as cited in Richardson-Stovall, 2012) highlighted that ethnic women must shield their identity from negative and biased comments projected to them through media. Such messages could continue to hinder their perceptions of ethnic beauty, making them believe they are less valued than most. As Richardson-Stovall (2012) states, radio, television, film and other media products provide materials that forges our identities, sense of selfhood, class, sexuality, race and ethnicity, to grow with, or adhere to, within society. Previous studies concerned with the concept of beauty in relation to the experiences of women have focussed on White, Black and Latina identities, but the experiences of Pasifika women are yet rarely considered. Considering that women – more often than men – are highly alerted to the notions of beauty, this study aims to examine the way in which Pasifika women understand the communication of beauty ideals and analyse their representation in mainstream media. As an introduction, this chapter begins by describing personal experiences that motivated this particular research inquiry.

A key motivation for this study can be traced back to the researcher's own experiences as a young Tongan woman growing up in Auckland, New Zealand. In my teenage years, daily shopping for cosmetic products at mainstream shopping centres was a common practice with friends. One particular memory that stands out was being confronted with the lack of representation in the products that was made available to people with my own complexion. A close friend, who is African and who was also confronted by the same challenges, shared this experience that day. As I write today, I reflect on the emotions and the disappointment that robbed us of our identity that day. The feeling of rejection and embarrassment that denied us our skin tone and the lack of consideration given to women of colour. I soon realised that the inclusivity most cosmetic brands promote, lacks the exact meaning of their purpose. More importantly, I realised that the humiliation we both encountered could be the same for many other women of colour. Although feminists have raised awareness of this issue (Barber, 2016; Portella, 2014) in some ways, the reality for many women remains as strong as ever – a lack of representation of ethnic women and societal emphasis on western beauty norms – have made it more difficult for women of colour to embrace their natural beauty. This concern has

prompted my research interest in understanding the communication of beauty ideals as experienced by Pasifika women and in the hopes of understanding their experiences, this thesis presents a primary account of what beauty means to Pasifika women.

### 1.1 Background – Encountering beauty ideals

The representation of beauty continues to shift according to changes influenced by the mainstream media. As previously mentioned, media platforms are a part of a large system of meaning-making that contributes to represented identity and societal notions of beauty ideals. Women in particular have been subjected to scrutiny of their physical appearance via western ideologies of beauty, perpetuating the challenges for women of colour to achieve favourable social standards in contemporary society. The ideological function of beauty carries the idea that to look beautiful is to achieve social acceptance. Failing to achieve beauty, withholds the social value that is placed on being beautiful. Rice (2014) states that for women, the significance they place on looking beautiful is part of an "important identity project, a keymedium of self-making" (p. 3) and for many, it is a source of contentment.

Theoretical discussions of the concept of beauty has long been concerned with the debate of whether it is objective or subjective. While past studies (e.g. Mole, 2016; Wladyslaw, 1963) have highlighted these debates, Sidhu, McDougall, Jalava and Bodner (2018) suggested that the difference between subjective and objective judgements of beauty lies within the characteristics of human value. That is, while subjective judgement captures the response to the stimulus, objective judgement intends to capture the artistic value of the stimulus. However, although it is difficult to determine how women judge the subjectivity and objectivity of physical appearance, Mole (2016) states that it is imperative to "treat subjectivity of beauty as if it were an uncontroversial starting point" (p. 372). Mole's (2016) hypothesis is that since taste is the most common trope when talking about the judgement of beauty, the first necessary condition of a judgement of taste is that it is generally subjective. This means that the judgement of taste is established on feelings of pleasure. In this study, beauty is defined through multiple lenses: the studies of previous scholars, the researcher and the participants.

Societal standards of beauty have led to the scrutiny of the female body for centuries. For women, particularly women of colour the challenges lies within the pressure to uphold their physical appearances to reflect the dominant beauty standard. Many studies (Heggenstaller, Coetzee, Smit & Ryen, 2018; Nicola Di Stefano, 2017) have identified that the

pursuit of beauty ideals has led women towards plastic surgery, skin whitening and other body modifications, without resolving the root cause of significant body dissatisfaction. From my own perspective, as a young Pasifika Tongan woman, I am able to recognise a lack of representation in the communication of beauty and an inherent lack of diversity in the marketing of cosmetic beauty products.

In addition to the story shared earlier, interest prior to this study stemmed from the influence of YouTube beauty tutorials on young women. As both social media and video streaming platform, YouTube seamlessly blends content provided by everyday users and commercial entities. It has also seen a rise in particular types of content such as cosmetic beauty tutorials, promoting new products, beauty tips and other types of creativity. While in theory this concept could provide a useful platform for those fall outside the mainstream norms and for those less represented in mainstream society, YouTube can also be a vehicle to promote negative impact. Garcia-Rapp (2017) examines the authenticity and legitimacy of building bonds within the YouTube beauty community, finds that in most cases, the successful marketing or promotion of an idea occurs when the ethics and personality of the YouTube presenters are fitting with the expectations of the general community. Young women then, tend to be more compliant and accepting when they find presenters who share the same passion as them. This may be concerning because in reality most young women are unaware of the disconnect between mediated representation and lived reality. This also prompted my curiosity to develop a research project that seeks to understand the influence of beauty ideals on women, but with a specific focus on Pasifika women. Coupled with the formative experience shared earlier in this chapter, the project's focus extends to the race-based dynamics of beauty message and is further motivated by my interest in better understanding the impact of inequalities, centred on beauty within the contemporary multicultural society.

In New Zealand, 7.4% of the total population identifies with one or more Pacific ethnic groups, making a collective Pacific population the fourth-largest ethnic group in New Zealand (Pasefika Proud, 2016). However, existing studies on the Pasifika population, particularly women, focus predominantly on their traditional roles, health and sports to name a few (e.g. Mackley-Crump, 2015; Stevenson, 2009, Tongamoa, 1988). In a society that encompasses different cultures and many possibilities for developing cultural context to help fix complex social problems (De Bruin & Read, 2018) the reality for many of the Pasifika people and other

minority groups is that there is a lack of resources and knowledge. Williams, Ricciardelli, McCabe, Waqa and Bavadra (2006) add that, while some cultures may place significant values on thinness as the ideal female body type, studies have found non-western cultures such as African, Caribbean and the Pacific Islands women to associate larger body type with attractiveness and good nutrition. Other studies further support this finding, suggesting that Pasifika women are more tolerant towards larger female figures (Becker, as cited in Edman & Yates, 2004). However, according to Craig, Swinburn, Matenga-Smith, Matangi and Vaughn (1996), there is an increase in the preference for a thin body ideal among Pasifika women, which they attribute to the acculturation of the western culture (see also Craig, Halavatau, Comino, & Caterson, 1999). Their results show that gradually, more and more Pasifika women are beginning to think more highly of slimmer body sizes and Craig et al., (1999) propose that it may be a result of a growing western influence in the Pacific Islands. The current study also share these issues and contributes further to these findings.

Importantly, the use of the term "beauty" highlights an ideological function, which have established an overall influence in the wider society. Thus, how Pasifika women experience and interpret this concept through mediated messages or otherwise, is a key priority for this study. Such theory has prompted the consideration as to whether beauty's usage has contributed to the changes in female identity and the decline of self-confidence and self-assurance amongst Pasifika women. Evident in Beech's (2007) work, "beauty can be a purely private subjective experience although some could argue it is socially inscribed" (p. 14). As such, it is important that this study of beauty originate from a Pasifika woman's perspective encapsulating the experiences of other Pasifika women. On this account, Pasifika women are able to share the authenticity of that experience with true feeling and honest expression of the struggle they experience as women of a minority group.

### 1.2 Research aims and objectives

The way in which women of colour negotiate the intersections of media, discourses of dominant beauty and identity are rarely studied. As a result, the primary focus of this thesis is to look at the experiences of Pasifika women stemming from the articulation of beauty through mass media, social media and social interaction. Given that this thesis focuses on a range of different Pacific cultures, it was important to utilise a term that encapsulates the different identities involved within this study. As such, "Pasifika" is used as a term that not only represents one ethnicity but a diverse range of Pacific cultures. However, some academics

believe the term is problematic because it is considered a "new administrative stereotype" (Perrot, as cited in Samu, 2010, p. 6) suggesting that the term homogenises the Pacific community to one particular culture, in this case Samoan rather than the diverse uniqueness of each individual cultures. Dr Okusitino Mahina (as cited in Samu, 2010) also added that the term "Pasifika" is problematic due to the demographic dominance of the Samoan population anything that is labelled "Pasifika" fundamentally means "Samoan", which subsequently excludes other Pacific ethnicities or makes them invisible. However, as Samu suggests, only a few selected academics consider the term problematic whereas others (e.g Dr Ron Crocombe as cited in Samu) recognise "Pasifika" as a term that "satisfies both psychological and political needs" (p. 6) and that its reference and usage encapsulates both the unity and diversity of Pacific peoples. Ross (2017) shares her views as to why "Pacific peoples" are identified under the label of "Pasifika". Her analysis reveals that although New Zealand's Pacific peoples comprise of "linguistically, culturally and geographically distinct ethnic groups" (p. 1562), together they are the fourth-largest major ethnic group in New Zealand, with increasingly shared values and other related customs. To Ross (2017), despite the differences between Pacific groups, the younger, New Zealand-born generations are increasingly "adopting a shared Pacific identity" (p. 1562), that differentiates them from their parents' migrant origins and traditions. Their diaspora becomes a basis for collective identity and unity. For these reasons, this thesis employs the term "Pasifika" to describe the cultural heritage and ethnic identity of the women represented in the study.

The aim of this research is to deconstruct the communication of beauty ideals in the hope to gain insights into how Pasifika women collectively and individually, experience and understand the coded value placed upon beauty and how it shapes their perspectives overall. While there may be conflicting ideas in unpacking such a complex issue, this thesis will create some understanding of the challenges that Pasifika women experience on a daily basis. Taken from the work of Suaalii (cited in Jones, Herda, & Suaalii, 2000) she discusses the long embedded notions of beauty amongst the Pacific community. In her work, she provides some historical context for the perception of Pasifika women through her exploration of the long embedded notions of beauty attributed by foreigners to the people of the Pacific islands. While her study may focus on colonial beauty standards influenced Pacific women's self-perceptions, Suaalii (as cited in Jones, Herda & Suaalii, 2000) explains that this construction of the exotic beauty is partly responsible for the hypothetical and lived experiences of Pasifika women

today. This thesis places Pasifika women at the centre of inquiry, thereby giving them the opportunity to share their experiences of inequality in beauty. More importantly, it establishes a platform to discuss and consider the ongoing challenges and potential remedies for young Pasifika women. As such, the primary research question asks: How do Pasifika women experience the notions of beauty communicated through media, friends and at home? In an effort to encapsulate the overarching question, three more questions are explored:

- 1) How do mediated messages influence the perceptions of beauty amongst Pasifika women and how do they respond to societal beauty ideals?
- 2) To what extent does race play a role in shaping and forming Pasifika women's perceptions and experiences of beauty?
- 3) Do contemporary notions of beauty adequately represent the identities of Pasifika women?

Currently, there is a significant lack of studies in relation to Pasifika women's beauty. Jones et al. (2000) add Pasifika peoples have endured years of westernised framing, which makes it crucial to explore Pasifika women's stories from a Pasifika perspective rather than from a western point of view. As such, Pacific methodologies such as Talanoa and Kakala frameworks will be utilised to collect the information. Thus, the analysis of beauty in this research focuses on the personal experiences of Pasifika women. However, it was also essential to incorporate the influence of both mainstream media and social media, as studies have shown that the content presented on different platforms can have a strong influence on the perceptions and attitudes of the younger population. These influences are believed to have significant effect on young women, affecting their personal experiences of beauty and consequently their sense of self or personal identity.

#### 1.3 Chapter outlines

In order to understand the structure of this study, this thesis is organised into four main chapters. The following section provides a brief overview of each chapter, structured in the order of a literature review, research methodology and study design, the research findings, a discussion chapter that revisits existing literature and a conclusion.

As mentioned, *chapter two* provides a review of existing literature, highlighting knowledge and insights into how beauty concepts emerged, with particular attention to how it has been re-defined and reconditioned over time. This chapter also focuses on exploring the notion of whiteness, black is beautiful and Pasifika women in relation to beauty. In addition, Critical Race Theory is introduced and relevant literature that explores how power structure is also discussed. This is followed by a discussion on whiteness as normativity and a discourse of black women's beauty. This chapter ends with an investigation of the Pasifika women's beauty and how they navigate through the western ideologies of beauty.

Chapter three outlines the research methodology processes. It explains the application of Pacific frameworks, Kakala, and the methodology of Talanoa to gather the experiences of Pasifika women. It also discusses the advantages and disadvantages of the chosen analytical approach of thematic analysis and describes a step-by-step overview of how the data was analysed. This chapter is organised into the individual stages of the Kakala framework detailing its cultural values and protocols pertaining to the overall research. In addition, it also describes the experience of conducting the research and how participants were recruited and the protocols for Talanoa.

Chapter four presents the findings of the study along with an interpretation of the data in the Talanoa. Following this, the findings of the thematic analysis are discussed. Three main themes were identified within the data: the impact of social relationships, the role of media and the intersectionality of race, class and gender. Each theme also discusses concepts that were relevant to the overall topic with reference to the participants' experiences.

Chapter five discusses the findings with reference to the existing literature that were introduced in the literature review chapter. Chapter five is divided into three themes: Perceptions, Role and Influence of media on beauty notions and Race and Ethnicity. Each theme draws on the data collected from the participants with reference to how they interrelate to previous knowledge.

The final chapter concludes the thesis and presents a summary of the overall findings. It also explores the limitations of the present study and considers recommendations for future research. It proposes that future studies may focus on other gender groups, other race-based, cultural or ethnic identities and the perceptions of those advocating for change.

#### 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

"It is not vanity to feel you have a right to be beautiful. Women are taught we are not good enough, that we must live up to someone else's standards. But the aim is to cherish *yourself as you are* [emphasis added]" - Elle Macpherson

The concept of beauty is highly contentious, bound to debate regarding the essential qualities that make something – or someone - appealing (Eco & McEwen, 2004; Scruton, 2011). Past examinations of this concept have revealed the ideological function of beauty, suggesting that it is associated with notions of power, status and wealth (Fisher & Yu Ma, 2014). As society changes and socialised norms of beauty similarly continue to evolve, any sense of a universal or recognisable ideal becomes harder to locate. This chapter reviews existing literature that explores the social negotiation of beauty as a concept, drawing particular attention to its ideological function. It begins by accounting for the many ways that beauty has been interpreted, with a focus on how contemporary beauty concepts have manifested in, and continue to influence, the lived experiences of women. This chapter will also discuss concepts of race, class, and gender, and highlight how they intersect with and influence the experiences of women concerned with, and subjected to, notions of aesthetic beauty. In particular, it will focus on "whiteness" as a normative and hegemonic ideology, before discussing a resistant narrative of black beauty that emerged during the civil rights movement of the United States. Finally, and of significance to this study, the chapter will introduce changing concepts of beauty amongst Pasifika women, highlighting the gendered role of domesticity.

### 2.1 The origins of "beauty"

Through an early interpretation of beauty, Immanuel Kant (as cited in Clewis, 2018), a Philosopher best known for his doctrine of "transcendental idealism", developed an understanding of how beauty is judged. He proposes that there are two kinds of beauty: one tied to the idea of being free and the other is purposed-based. The idea of beauty being free is equivalent to that of "pure" and "non-conceptual" (p. 306); in other words, beauty can be self-evident or free from having a concept in mind whereas purpose-based beauty is identical to that of conditioned beauty. However, Clewis (2018) emphasizes that this early interpretation of Kant's work was not adequately made certain as further examination found Kant's (as cited in Clewis, 2018) original interpretation argues that purpose-based beauty is rather "self-standing" (p. 306). As such, it is "independent of us, stable, lasting and subsisting" (p. 307), visible to the naked eyes without stimulating hypercritical thoughts. Essentially, the point in

Clewis's (2018) work emphasizes that this understanding of beauty has accounted for the way beauty is judged in large part of today's society. However, Clewis (2018) also suggests that with Kant's philosophy of beauty, a concept-driven strategy was never far off.

Offering a more neuroscientific perspective, Zeki (as cited in Landau, 2012) attributes beauty to a particular pattern of brain activity by examining the "neural basis for art appreciation" (p. 5). Zeki (as cited in Landau, 2012) found that, although people may find different objects beautiful, there is common activity in the brain's frontal cortex, which is part of the reward and pleasure centre of the brain. Zeki (as cited in Landau, 2012) also refers to the idea of varying interpretations of beauty between the Japanese and Western culture. In Japanese culture, there is a general preference for asymmetry whereas in the West, there is a universal acceptance for symmetrical faces. He proposed the idea that beauty is measurable, but Sauchelli (2013) argues that the concept of beauty is generally determined by the individual's beliefs, expectations and perceptions. Goodman and Rhee (2014) suggest that "studies on beauty ideals are defined by both evolution and socialisation" (p. 27). However, providing a more socially accepted notion of beauty, Cunningham, Roberts, Barbee and Druen (1995) believe it is more to do with the facial features; large eyes, small nose, fuller lips and radiant skin are all that accounts for what is socially accepted. This was found to be a universal preference amongst many women, not just within certain cultures.

Beauty is often connected to the idea of "aesthetics", which on a universal scale usually relates to the aesthetic pleasure provided by an object or subject. For the most part, a common debate focused on whether beauty can be interpreted as objective or subjective (Mole, 2016; Tatarkiewicz, 1963). Tulon-Hugon (2017) suggests that beauty emerged from the concept of taste: when beauty is judged without tastes, one must acquire the sense of taste in order to understand how beauty is determined. To Kant (cited in Kuple, 2015) taste is subject to whatever our state of mind considers beautiful. Tulon-Hugon (2017) argues that between the 17th and 18th century, the use of the word "taste" was in the context of "a flair for social life" (p. 64) and it played a significant role "in the civilisation process by replacing rudeness and savagery of the past by manners and delicacy" (p. 64). As a result, beauty began to be associated with the ideas of power, status and wealth.

#### 2.2 Race, gender and class in relation to beauty

Race has always been an influential factor in relation to beauty. Malik (1996), who studied the meaning of race, explains that race has shaped so much of our lives and it continues to rank people's social beauty experiences according to their race. More so, race has also categorised everything from culture and physical appearance to dressing style and religion. He further analyses the concept of racial connotation – the usage of race-based terms to qualify identities, such as the term "black muggers" and many more. The conceptualisation of how race is commonly understood, substitute for "culture" and vice versa. Malik quotes, "we casually speak of Africans as one race, Asians as another, Europeans as whites" (p. 2) and in the same reference, Pacific Islanders as indigenous. Marger (2000), who wrote extensively on the notion of race and ethnic relations in a global context, states that race has a long history extending as far back as ancient civilisations. He suggests that while the notion of race may differ intrinsically, its most appropriate usage has been to describe the different categories of civilisation. In addition, Fuji Johnson, Genevieve and Enomoto (2007) acknowledged that race, racialisation and racism are intertwined. They propose that even though the notion of race is socially constructed, "racialisation derives from historical acts through which people's identities are inscribed with symbolic meanings and, on this basis, people are assigned social places" (p. 4). This suggests that, in order to understand how racialisation was established, one must believe that the notion of race is socially constructed.

For years, women have sought to be recognised as equal members of society by attempting to reduce racial differences. Menon (2016) explained that there was a time where women of second-generation American migrants – Jews, Italians, Germans and Russians – were classified as 'ethnic" due to their desire to look whiter or more American. Today, this behaviour is condemned by many feminists and occasionally in popular culture but for Morgan (1991), who studied the significance of cosmetic surgery amongst women, this practice in cosmetic surgery should be normalised as it will help "bring ethnic women in line with the universal white standard of beauty" (p. 599). Understandably, beauty in relation to race has a culture affinity for whiteness and class status.

In order to understand how beauty affects race and vice versa a discussion on race is of importance. When the term "race" is used or mentioned in a discussion, one would assume its meaning relates primarily to racism, ethnicity, skin colour and culture, but many critics (e.g.

Amos, 2017; Murji & Solomos, 2004) have argued the terminology is a much more complex subject yet to be fixed with a singular meaning. Malik (1996) proposes that, in order to understand race, one must understand how the relationship between humanity, society, and nature is socially constructed. Malik (1996) stresses the importance of understanding the modern discourse of race within European society. He gives insight to Fryer's (as cited in Malik, 1996) work, suggesting that race is an "ideology [that] grew out of three beliefs: that Africans were, in one way or another, closely connected with apes; the idea that people with differently coloured skins had different origins; and the idea that human beings could be graded hierarchically according to skin colour" (p. 81). Hall (1997) points out that race has been given different interpretations over the years and there is nothing permanent or fixed about it; it changes and shifts overtime. Hall (1997) also describes race as "the floating signifier", explaining that race is constantly subject to redefinition in different cultures, groups and different moments in history and that regardless of the condition, it will always shift according to times and spaces. Moreover, Hall (1997) believes that race was once considered to be the most salient factor in shaping women's beauty experiences.

Hall (2018) discusses the use of Critical Race Theory (CRT) as a theoretical framework that allows activists and scholars to identify racial inequality and power imbalances in corporate businesses. CRT is often understood to be multifunctional and according to some scholars, CRT is thought to be both a theoretical framework (e.g. Benveniste, Guenther, Dawson, & King, 2018) and a social movement (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017; Mills & Unsworth, 2018). In most cases, the core of CRT is concerned with the "studying and transforming of relationships among race, racism and power" (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017, p. 3). It helps to understand how racism and power structures exist within certain institutions such as schools, courthouses and corporate businesses and it aims to deconstruct these complex influences. Initially, CRT stemmed from the context of critical legal studies background and is largely attributed to the work of Bell, Freeman and Delgado (cited in Delgado, Stefancic & Harris, 2017), although earlier development can be traced back to the literature of W.E.B. Du Bois (Flores, 2009) and Frantz Fanon (Rabaka, 2007). CRT rose to popularity in the 1970s after many researchers began to notice its significance and value in addressing racism and power inequality. With much success, CRT began manifesting in other disciplines such as education (Dixson & Rousseau, 2006) women's studies, ethnic studies (Liu, 2018), and in communication studies, where the framework is referred to as a communication theory (Elers,

2018). In terms of the theory applied within communication studies, Campbell, LeDuff, Jenkins, and Brown (as cited in Elers, 2018) gave references to "the understanding of racism within news media, comparing legitimation strategies between journalists and members of the public concerning racial disparities and discussing the developing of media literacy of both students and citizens" (p. 88).

In Reece's (2018) study, CRT is used to conceptualise the idea of colourism between light skinned and dark-skinned African Americans, which he believes to be a "primary offshoot of racial domination" (p. 3). Similar to the work of Delgado, Stefancic and Harris (2017), Reece (2018) ponders the importance of CRT in analysing racism, claiming that structures and institutions are responsible for the maintenance of racial inequality. In his study, Reece (2018) employed CRT as a framework to "push back against [an individual's] preferences as the only... mechanism facilitating skin tone stratification" (p. 3). Cooper, Nwadike and Macaulay (2017) state that CRT helps to conceptualise equality and civil rights. For example, they argue racist norms, standards, and attitudes are deeply embedded in corporations and businesses; they perpetuate a "racial hierarchy whereby whiteness is privileged, and blackness is positioned as the most inferior race to the dominant society" (Cooper, Nwadike, & Macaulay, 2017, p. 2008). More importantly, their findings also found that CRT continues to evolve, highlighting several key principles: that racism is an integral and permanent component of society; that whiteness remains a normative ideology; and people in positions of significant power and influence will only support ideas that benefit their own interests. CRT is relevant to this study because it examines the way in which beauty as a driver of commercial and corporate activity caters to different racial identities within society and thus exists as a fertile site for questions of equality and discrimination. According to Bryant (2013) black women in particular, are vulnerable to the effects of western beauty standards, which often exclude women of colour. As Bryant (2013) further noted, the effects of western beauty on black women is a "societal issue often unaddressed on a multisystem level" (p. 81): women of colour are subjected to constant reminders of western beauty ideals while struggling to recognise or meet these ideals in their own appearance.

In multicultural societies, the conceptualisation of beauty and race is said to shape much of women's lives (Docker & Fischer, 2000). The use of race in this context refers primarily to the identification of physical characteristics associated with an ethnic group; for example, skin

colour, bone structure, body-type and the texture of someone's hair. In one study, Rhee, Woo and Kwon (2012) conducted an experiment in an attempt to find whether there are differences in the configuration of faces among different races, in relation to beauty. In their effort, they used seven racially different faces and a photogrammetry to photograph, measure, and analyse the faces. They performed multiple different shots from different angles to provide more selection of choices for the measure of the attractive and average faces. Their experiment found that among Asian participants, beauty lies within the idea of a slim shaped face and for Caucasian and African participants, both agreed that attractiveness lies within the idea of slightly palpebral slant shaped eyes equivalent to the like of jaguar's eyes. Regardless of racial differences, "wide set eyes and a lower brow position" (Rhee, Whoo & Kwon, 2012, p. 1236) emerged as common features of "attractiveness", highlighting the possibility of both culture-specific and universal perceptions of physical beauty.

In another study, De Casanova (2004) conducted a similar experiment with adolescent girls in which she combined ethnographic methods and a social-psychological survey to determine what Ecuadorian young women would consider ideal beauty. To encourage conversations, participating adolescent girls were provided with images of different coloured women from Ecuadorian magazine. The findings suggest that when it comes to the magazine images, participants chose two ideal prototypes of beauty: one white and one Latina. De Casanova (2004) interpreted the findings to mean that participants hold racist beauty ideals towards media images but are flexible when judging real-life women. To De Casanova (2004), there is evidence of low self-esteem in women stemming from being exposed to heavy promotion of western beauty and an apparent fixation with white beauty. Subsequently, women of other ethnic backgrounds increasingly feel excluded or inferior. This experience is perpetuated by society and the media, in which a lack of diversity in representations of "beauty" push women of colour towards pursuing white beauty by striving to mimic the physical characteristics of European ethnicities (De Casanova, 2004). To further understand the dominant ideological and racial functions of beauty, we must also consider the ideal beauty of other races in comparison to a dominant perception of western beauty. In Asia, one in every three women between the ages of 19-29 admits to undergoing cosmetic surgery in pursuit of westernised beauty ideals (Madan, Basu, Ng, & Lim, 2018). Consequently, Asian countries have a high rate of cosmetic surgery (International Society of Aesthetic Plastic Surgeons, 2019 cited in Madan et al., 2018) and a significant demand for beauty products. Irrespective of cultural differences amongst Asian countries such as Japan, South Korea, and China, data shows that these countries are among the top spenders on beauty products globally.

It seems as though for women, beauty standards are a battlefield for a wider debate regarding racial equality. Throughout history, women have fought extensively for equality in fields of employment, education, sports and recreation, regardless of the varied feminist movements that are evident in many parts of the world (Gonzalez, 2019; Mehar, 2019; Wilson, 2019). In Gay's (2018) investigation of the evolution of the feminist movement, she examined the impact of Miss America beauty pageant on the 1968 feminist movement. Gay (2018) explains that, "Miss America has never been a progressive event, but in 1968, it sparked a feminist revolution" (p. 104). The beauty pageant, although it had been running since 1921, sparked its first radical revolution in 1968 when feminist Carol Hanisch, protested against the event in the name of women's liberation. Hanisch (cited in Gay, 2018) believed the beauty pageant was the perfect timing to bring the, "fledgling Women's Liberation Movement into the public arena" (p. 104) as so many ill treatments were prevalent amongst women. Nevertheless, Gay (2018) noted, for as long as Miss America had been running, the rules and objectives of the pageant had been very undisguised: "Women's beauty – white, women's beauty – was a tool" (p. 104). There were also specific guidelines to determine the appropriate winner; she must be single, unmarried, age between 18 - 28, slim but not too thin, clever but not too clever, bubbly personality, flirtatious but not too provocative and must be heterosexual. In 1940 there was another rule that mandated all contestants "must be of good health and of white race" (p, 104); however, that rule was eventually removed. The protest was raising awareness on the racial inequality against not just women but women of colour. Gay (2018) comments that, although the 1968 protest did not do much for the influence of the Miss America beauty pageant, they did introduce feminism to the wider society and started a national debate about women's rights and liberation. It also was a historical year for black women as the first Miss Black America beauty pageant was established. The concept behind this event sparked the interest of many women around the world and it drew the attention of critics, feminists and many social elite members.

In other parts of the world, primarily in developing countries, women still struggle to identify themselves with their own culture. FEMINA, one of India's most influential women's magazines, reports that organisers of the Miss India beauty pageant are no longer simply

searching for "Miss India" (Runkle as cited in Varghese, 2017); instead, they are looking for "Miss World" – someone who can represent the country on a world stage (Runkle, as cited in Varghese, 2017, p. 61). Although this approach is likely to disconnect women contesting from their unique cultural context, the organisers saw it as an opportunity for Indian women to advance their social standing globally. Considering the specifications and demands of beauty pageants, it is possible that these women will likely attempt to match the dominant standards of beauty – a more westernised representation (Varghese, 2017). Osuri (2008), who explored the transfiguration of Bollywood actress and former Miss World, Aishwarya Rai, describes the actress's significant transformation from her cultural identity to a more westernised global image that connects her to the Western culture. As Osuri (2008) explains, "Rai's beauty and skin-colour appear to resonate with investments in the aesthetics of whiteness, which govern gendered notions of beauty primarily in Western locations" (p. 109). Picton (2013) refers to the terms "caucasianisation" and "internationalisation" to explain the imposition of western ideologies of beauty on ethnic women who are seeking acceptance from the outside world. However, according to Madan et al. (2018), non-western women are not the only group that suffer from this predicament as there is a, "deep-seated desire among Asian women" (p. 62) for fair and blemish-free skin. In contrast, Varghese (2017) suggests that the pursuit of western beauty ideal is only practiced by sections of the upper class, whereas the less affluent populations appreciate the ethnic fashion and local beauty trends. Although Varghese (2017) recognises that the proliferation of white or western beauty standards can be aligned with certain positions of social class, this also highlights the scope of its influence and hegemonic function in wider society.

#### 2.3 Whiteness, normativity and hegemonic ideology

Whiteness has become a key concept in academic discourses when discussing beauty. Thompson (1990, cited in Ferguson, 1998) notes that the construction of whiteness as normative is done so by constructing color as abnormal. Davis (2018), in discussing whiteness and Critical Race Theory, acknowledges that while diversity serves to perpetuate equality and opportunity amongst society, the historical context offered by Puzzo (1964, cited in Davis, 2018) shows that there are systems that have differentiated the Euro-western from the non-Europeans or people of colour. To Puzzo (1964, cited in Davis, 2018) these ideas were determined by two concepts — "that there is a correlation between individuals' physical characteristics and mental qualities and secondly, that mankind can be divided into superior

and inferior stocks" (p. 136). This system of hierarchy subsequently places white Europeans at the top and coloured or non-Europeans below. According to Puzzo (1964, cited in Davis, 2018) the subsequent effect is that biologically non-European features were considered "different" from what was considered to be "norms" in society. This led to racist practices, evident in the exclusion of coloured people from certain jobs and opportunities and "other practices used to suppress non-whites" (p. 136), while positioning white people as more deserving of society's resources and opportunities.

Guess (2006) explains that throughout history, whiteness has been treated as a standard that sits alongside other races or racial identities, as a "strategy of authority rather than an authentic identity" (p. 653). She also found that notions of "race" and "whiteness" are guided not by biological foundation but rather by the social meanings ascribed to these concepts. For many years, women of colour have been disadvantaged by the presence of white privilege and societal tendency towards ascribing whiteness as "universal beauty." The ideals of beautiful skin conceived in global markets or industry are reflective of the cultural construction of beauty. Ahmed and Ahmed's (2012) work on notions of race and diversity offers an account of "institutional whiteness" and explains how racism can be concealed by the standardisation of diversity. They raised the question of whether the use of the word "diversity" eases difficulties and dilemmas for businesses, or whether it simply operates as a fictional factor for most. In other words, does it only function as a safety net? Ahmed and Ahmed (2012) explain that the term 'racism' often remains concealed due to its negative connotations, "as if to describe x as racist is to damage or even hurt x" (p. 147) simply put an institution or an organisation. When an institution is accused of having a problem with racism, management or people within the company would often highlight the diversity of their organization to refute the claims. "When racism becomes an institutional injury, it is imagined as an injury to whiteness" (Ahmed & Ahmed, 2012, p. 147) as such, diversity is seen as a method of protecting whiteness. In addition to that, Ahmed and Ahmed (2012) claim that "diversity" is used to replace the phrase 'equal opportunity.' Based on these considerations, they propose that whiteness tends to remain invisible to those who inhabit it while being highly visible to others.

Skin whitening, treating whiteness as normal and concealing color are key ideas which affect majority of ethnic women around the globe. According to Ross (as cited in Russell, 2017) the gaze has always been traditionally white and never occurred problematic until all "others"

were measured. More importantly, suggestions have been made that a link between the cosmetic beauty industries as well as media institutions and networks are powerful contributing factors to these practices (Naugler, 2010; Khattab, 2012). Xie and Zhang (2013) explain that "in today's global environment, cultural beliefs of beauty and whiteness are communicated and reinforced through mass media" (p. 540).

Women are constantly bombarded with information disseminated via mass media, which reinforces the ideals of preferred skin tone and beauty standards. Yan and Bissell (2014) elucidate this in their work explaining that the media often portrays attractive people as more desirable, credible and a source of inspiration, which inevitably reflects the dominant culture. Yan and Bissell (2014) used the *Cosmopolitan* magazine as a case study. Despite the fact that Cosmopolitan is published in 36 languages, has 63 international editions, and is distributed in more than 100 countries, Yan and Bissell (2014) argue that only a narrow representation of beauty is included in the magazine:

The media industry's over-emphasis on beauty and attractiveness is not just a phenomenon found in western countries; rather, it may be a problem or issue that is more global in nature. For example, do the models look similar across editions or are they more similar to the magazine's readership? (Yan & Bissell, 2014, p. 195)

Lopaciuk and Loboda (2013) argue that the beauty industry changes strategy according to consumer's preferences. The consumers are the vehicle to the industry's increasing success. However, as Maria Mena (as cited in Schuller, 2009) states, "the impact of beauty products and services is in large part determined by the political and economic context of the goods themselves" (p. 86). In other words, modern beauty standards within society are constructed simultaneously by the beauty industry and the mass media. Subsequently, Xie and Zhang (2013) argue that the beauty industries are failing to represent multicultural consumers:

Leading brands in skin care and cosmetics such as L'Oreal, Estee Lauder, and Procter & Gamble generate billions of dollars' worth of business every year with women comprising much of their target markets all over the world. However, the standards and ideals of skin beauty conceived in the global beauty market are reflecting and influencing the cultural construction of beauty and femininity on the local level. (p. 539)

It is also important to note that the ideals of beauty, particularly skin tones, vary across cultures, generations and societies. In America, people who are of light-skinned tone may try to darken

their skin tone through tanning; meanwhile, in African, dark-skinned women may use various products to lighten their skin tone. Xie and Zhang (2013) note that in East Asia, women generally prefer to have a light or fair skin tone, and skin products that promise to brighten, whiten or lighten their yellow toned skins are highly favored. A tanned or bronze skin tone is highly fashionable and desirable among white women from other parts of the world (p. 538).

To give context to how these ideologies are formed, it is appropriate to acknowledge the hegemonic ideology framework. Gramsci (cited in Amigo, Bravo, Secail, Lefebure & Burrell, 2016) explains that often certain social groups or culturally diverse societies are conditioned to the philosophy of the ruling class through the influence of their beliefs, values, culture and much more, insofar that their views become a worldview. According to Byungju-Shin and Gon-Namkung (2008), the subtlest form of hegemony is culture. Their argument is that although it is known to be a form of hegemony, "it attracts less resistance than any other form of hegemony" (p. 116) due to its widely accepted influence. Cultural hegemony is therefore disseminated through media such as Hollywood films and, in a more contemporary context, social media and the increasing prevalence of "influencers." Scott (2009) argues that whiteness holds a hegemonic position, equated with both normality and superiority. In light of her work, Scott (2009) weighs in on how "whiteness" can be challenged within critical whiteness studies. It follows that, while many research studies may focus on 'people of color' in the study of race, the challenge lies within "deconstructing whiteness and its current forms of racial oppression without reducing the effects of white supremacy to material privilege" (Scott, 2009, p. 804) taking into account the identity of the Appalachian people. In Scott's (2009) work, the Appalachian people, although identified within the white race, have a strong marker for being the marginalised whites of the white population. This is due to the stigma and stereotypes that categorises them as the "hillbillies" and/or the "white trash" of the white population. Scott (2009) believes such claim accounts for both negative and positive representation however; despite deconstructing white supremacy and white ideologies, it will remain a universal non-racial marker in society.

Davidson (2007) argues that "an ideology can reach a hegemonic status when there are clear reflections of that ideology" (p. 106) being practiced in cultures other than the west. To illustrate his point, Jackson and Lyons (2012) listed the use of body-altering cosmetic treatments or surgeries, practices which have become commonly recognised in some parts of

the world and are often rewarded by the social capital of acceptance. Gamson, Croteau, Hoynes and Sassons (1992, cited in Jackson & Lyons, 2012) also suggest that while media is understood to incentivise certain traits or behaviours, friends and family are just as much active in enhancing hegemonic ideologies through daily interaction. Nadeem (2014), who conducted research on skin whitening creams in India, explains that women are constantly being ridiculed by friends and family for being dark skinned: "The anxieties their complexions prompt about self-worth and social position are etched on their concerned faces. That is, until whitening cream surfaces and, like a deus ex machina device, disperses the darkness" (Nadeem, 2014, p. 225). Her interpretation suggests that media does not whitewash disparities and biases; instead, they offer propositions to women of colour on how to use these products to their advantage:

They do not point to a post-color future, they tell you what to do in order to get ahead today. They are the parables of darkness and light. They are tales of metamorphosis, the lowly caterpillar becomes a sprightly butterfly, the ugly duckling becomes the most beautiful bird of all. (Nadeem, 2014, p. 225).

Asante (2016) who studied the changing discourse surrounding whiteness on the African continent, found that the usage of African light-skinned women in advertisements gives biological African women an illusion of inclusion, enabling them to feel a part of the dominant group. Interestingly, Peirre (2012, cited in Asante, 2017) also added, that the use of whitening products by ethnic women is not wanting to be white but rather to enhance natural beauty, just as white women enhance their skin tone through tanning. In his view, this is necessary for critics to discuss as it will bring more awareness to people on the benefit of using whitening creams rather than assuming negative influences. Twine (cited, in Frankenberg, 1997) states that, the construction and enactment of whiteness and white identities began in the mid-18<sup>th</sup> century. Here, Twine (as cited in Frankenberg, 1997) studied mixed identities of African-European women who, as children, identified themselves as white. The research also considered how this identity can shift. Findings suggested that majority of these women identified themselves as white based on their social status and suburban experiences. In other words, women of ethnic backgrounds who were brought up in a middle-class family network and are predominantly upper middle-class suburban community would identify themselves as white regardless of their biological markers (Twine, cited in Frankenberg, 1997). Essentially, this perception highlights the hegemonic significance placed upon whiteness and its influence on social status.

Given the idea of western constructions regarding race, Orientalism has played an important role in understanding this phenomenon. Edward Said is identified as the main contributor to the critique of Orientalism, and spent most of his work arguing that the concept of Orientalism is an invention of the West. Kennedy (2000) summarises Said's version of Orientalism in three ways: it is an academic tradition of learning about the Orient; it is a way of thinking from an ontological and an epistemological viewpoint, and thirdly, it is a Western way of thinking considered to be of dominating, influential and ruling over the "Orient". Hamdi (2013) who commented on the work of Edward Said noted Orientalism was already having an impact before the integration of Said's work. He argued that, "Said effectively began the interrogating of Western discourse" (p. 130) in an attempt to analyse the impact of the Western style on the "other", recognised as anything geographically outside of the West. In reference to that, Hamdi reiterated Said's definition of Orientalism as:

The corporate institution for dealing with the orient – dealing with it by making statements about it, authorising views of it, describing it, teaching it, settling it, ruling over it: in short, Orientalism as a Western style for dominating, restructuring, and having authority over the Orient (Said, 1978 cited in Hamdi, 2013).

Varisco (2017) further explains that the term had generated a long and historical course of debate in the academic world prior to Said's work. In early records of Orientalism, the East was told to be against the West in virtually every way; political, aesthetic, spiritual and even materialistically. Anything outside of the American and European imagination was deemed improper or namely considered as other to the West.

Considering the framing of Orientalism, Czajka (2005) explained that any incorporation of the West fundamentally considered to be powerful and critical to the "Orient". Following her analysis, she also explains the history of the African continent in reference to the West, Czajka (2005) interpreted how the West gives itself credit for the development of African evolution. While this remains controversial in some parts of the academic literature it is evident that hierarchal positioning of the West over the "others" feeds their perception as "more civilized than the native population of Africa" (Czajka, 2005, p. 120). Burney (2012) added to this in her work stating, Said's work of Orientalism sheds light on the underlying structures of power and cultural hegemony of the West over the Orient as the other. Burney's

interpretation argues that the negative depiction of the "other" is an invention of the West and that Orientalism is a system constructed to control the functions of non-Western peoples ranging from images, representation of art, visual media, film and other aspects of cultural and political appropriation.

#### 2.4 "Black is Beautiful"

For many years, black women have had their lives "defined through a white lens" (Poran, 2002, p. 66) and though they live in a white micro culture they are subject to dominant ideologies. Molloy and Herzberger (1998, p. 640 cited in Poran, 2002) identify the concept of "black culture" as giving black women "protective factors that shield them from developing low-self-esteem and body-images" (p. 67) caused by being marginalised. Interestingly, Poran (2002) also found that whilst white women may have an informed notion of beauty, women of colour have yet to develop a similarly uniform notion of beauty that matches the popular trends commercialised in the mainstream media. This was also interesting as early study by Zinn (1990, cited in Poran, 2002) found that white participants have frequently been generalised to 'all women' (p. 65) in research findings. In addition to that, Poran (2002) stated, there is an assumption that what is presumably true for white women is also assumed to be true for women of colour, suggesting that the standards in the western culture are assumedly the same for black women.

Yerima (2017), who studied the practice of western beauty by black women, stated that women of colour "throughout history have had roles ascribed to her by society" (p. 640). They are in constant battle with society while "striving to maintain self-worth within a world that judges them against the white notions of beauty and femininity" (Holmes, 2007, quoted in Yerima, 2017, p. 643). For many years, women of colour have been oppressed for the colour of their skin, their features and the right to be a black woman. Habermehl (as cited in Karl Holubar, 1997), who theorised the connotation of black skin commented that, "black skin has unjustifiably been equated with negative values and at the time, the use of "black" were synonym for bad, malicious and repugnant was perpetuated" (p. 813). Holubar (1997) reveals that the deal of beauty at the time was heavily associated with "pale" or "white" all across the world. Although this tradition was carried on for many years from one generation to another, shifting began during the civil rights (1960s) movement. Holubar (1997) believes it was the changing aspect of the negative connotations of black skin that triggered the shift. It was during

this time in history that the slogan "black is beautiful" was coined by women of colour to boost self-confidence and pride in their identity (Holubar, 1997).

The redefinition of black beauty emerged as a form of resistance to the hegemonic positioning of whiteness as superior or preferable to black physical appearances. According to a study on black women's identity, the first form of resistance to societal beauty norms began in the 1960's (Beauty is Pain, 2017) with Malcolm X's liberation movement and his advocacy for the celebration of black beauty by rejecting inculcation practices such as the use of chemical hair alterations and perms. During this time, dark skin and natural African hair were reclaimed by black women (Tate, 2007, cited in Beauty is Pain, 2017) while they continued to empower and educate each other on the dominating influence of white culture. Dash (2016, cited in Beauty is Pain, 2017) notes that "hair conking and straightening were perceived as symbols of self-hatred" (p. 9) and the Afro hairstyle becoming a marker of black pride. People began using the slogan "black is beautiful" as an act of resistance to the hegemony of whiteness. Fanon (1991) draws on his experiences as a black man in white society when he states, "I found that I was an object in the midst of other objects" and he uses this understanding to unpack the construction, continuity and the "denegrification" (p. 111) of black people. Denegrification in this context is what Fanon (1991) refers to as the "whitening" of black people. Through his experience, Fanon (1991) offered insight into the white-scripted notion of blackness. Here, he explains that:

Without a white man, there is no black man and as far as skin colour is concerned, a black man can indeed be ontologically brown or even possess a skin shade that can make him pass for white as history has shown us. (p. 119)

Thus, the pertinent issue is not whether you are black or brown, but rather the pre-conditions of the "white gaze": that not only "must the black man be black but he must be black in relation to the white man" (Fanon, 1991, p. 110). This experience ultimately highlights the "otherness" of being black in a white-dominated society, but it also establishes a foundation for resistance to domination through the celebration or reclamation of difference.

The resistance to hegemonic beauty ideals can also be described through the story of activist Angela Davis. Without reducing the activist struggle against racism (that continues in contemporary society), the framing of Angela Davis as a representative of beautiful black

women may have helped to reduce discrimination against black culture and reconstruct the representation of black beauty whilst sustaining the fight for racial equality. In discussing Davis, Ford (2015) draws attention to her popularised mugshots (see Figure 1 below) and their subsequent representation in the media. The FBI released the images after she was arrested for guns registered under her name were used during her court trial (Ford, 2015). The image on the left was the first mug shot released by the FBI and it displays her afro hair prominently. In the image on the right hand side, taken several months later, Davis sports fashionable round glasses and a dashiki. Davis quickly became the headline for many mainstream media outlets who labelled her a revolutionary glamour, whilst others labelled her as a "fashion-forward beauty who embodied the transformative ideal that black is beautiful" (p. 2). In most cases, media portrayed her as a "femme fatale" (Ford, 2015, p. 2) rather than intellectual. The celebration of Davis in these images has been critiqued as painting a picture of a model rather than of a revolutionary and a professor. However, to Ford (2015), these images were a clear representation of Davis' resistance to the cultural and political status quo. Black women struggled to "redefine themselves against the stereotypes of black female that circulated in both mainstream and activist culture" (p. 1). For many young black women, Davis's controversial image gave a sense of empowerment and resistance to the dominant ideology of the ruling class. Her influence gave women the confidence to feel a sense of black pride and she "reflected the changing aesthetic tastes and political ideologies of college women of colour" (Ford, 2015, p. 2), encouraging them to feel a sense of power and beauty in their culture.



Figure 1: Images of Angela Yvonne Davis taken at the Police station and placed on Top Ten Most Wanted list (Rosenthal, 2017)

Aduonum (2004) notes that "black women have been doubly objectified as black, as women and under white supremacy" (p. 279) and if black women are not voicing their experience then they are destined to repeat the same failures that they went through for social change. Aduonum (2004) further explains that, to empower and support the endeavor of the black community, black women worked effortlessly to resist the western mainstream as retaliation against negative portrayals and the devaluation of black women's beauty. For years, many women were taught to believe that feminine beauty could only be found in the white female body while the black female body was deemed ugly. As a result, scholars and black feminists have challenged this idealised notion by offering definitions that encompass and value all body types. For Martinez-Jimenez, Galvez-Munoz and Solano-Caballero's (2018), the concept of "black is beautiful" can been seen more recently in the identity of the popular singer Beyoncé. The significance of her image relates to her involvement in celebrating black female sexuality, whilst at the same time engaging in a conscious discourse on equal opportunities for black women. To Martinez-Jimenez et al. (2018), Beyoncé is also a representative of neoliberal post-feminism – she is the epitome of a powerful and successful black female who embraces her sexual empowerment in the celebration of black women. While this global recognition of black beauty is evident in celebrities like Beyoncé, it also provides black women with a sense of inclusivity. However, without disregarding her significance to the wider black community, it is important to highlight that while her identity serves as an embodiment of black beauty, she also serves as a profitable motor, which essentially places her in a hegemonic position representing a dominant ideology of beauty. As a result, black women are gradually being acknowledged on a wider spectrum compared to Pasifika women due to their minority representation.

#### 2.5 Pasifika women, post-colonialism and beauty

According to Jazeel (2019), Pasifika women were free to embrace their natural beauty until the arrival of western beauty through colonialism. It follows that, since the inception of western beauty, traditional concepts of Pacific beauty have been transformed. As western ideologies evolved, it definitely brought forward new influences central to face, skin and hair treatments among the Pasifika community, particularly amongst women. The influence and impact of western beauty became increasingly apparent during the 1860s. Suaalii (1997) analysed and deconstructed the "exotic" notion of Pasifika female beauty from two contexts: an academic approach and her experiences and understanding as a Pasifika woman. The term

"exotic" can be "described as synonymous with the following words or phrases: outside; foreign; ...strange or different in a way that is striking or fascinating; strangely beautiful, enticing..." (Suaalii, 1997, p. 76). These concepts are reflected in the construction of Pasifika female beauty seen in magazines, tourist products, advertisements and picturesque postcards from a western perspective where the term is commonly used to describe the beauty and settings of tropical islands as well as its people 1997), . Suaalii (1997) refers to images of Pacific Island women in magazines such as National Geographic where the depiction of women displays, "long flowing dark hair covering dusky bare skin... with blooms over her left ear signifying that she is unmarried" (p. 78-79). Here, Suaalii (1997) argues that this construction of Pasifika women's beauty involves her sexual availability, designating her as something of sensual natural native. Suaalii (1997) encourages women to deconstruct the appropriation of Pasifika female identities by writing about themselves - their experiences, perceptions and understanding of their identity.

There are limited studies on the subject of Pasifika Island women in relation to beauty. As such, the few studies that are concerned with this topic focused on the history of Pasifika women in relation to body sizes. According to Braginsky, Kataoka-Yahiroa and Inouyeb (2016), the bigger body frame was once attributed to the history of long distance travelling, working on farms and doing hard labour however, modern technology gradually transformed Pasifika people's lifestyles which has increased the problems of overweight and obesity. Heinberg et al. (as cited in O'Brien et al., 2007) examined the role of physical appearance comparisons and note that, "women with the tendency to make physical appearance comparisons with societal standards of beauty [are] likely to experience greater body dissatisfaction and eating disorder" (p. 249), as opposed to women comparing themselves to those who are perceived to be less valued than them (i.e. fat). O'Brien et al. (2007) suggest that "anti-fat prejudice" is likely to occur due to this conceptualisation of appearance-related comparisons. In order to support their work, O'Brien et al. (2007) draw on the concept of 'upward' and 'downward' comparisons, which refers to the comparison of one's self to people superior or less inferior than them (i.e. people more attractive or less attractive). Another suggestion was made that women with strong investment in their appearances most likely expect others to take similar care of their physical appearances. Thus, a woman who deviates from these values are deemed less comfortable with their body. Supposedly, one could argue that this is such a problematic argument to present; however, according to Braginsky, KataokaYahiro and Inouye (2016), attitudes and behaviour from these individuals are the result of their uninformed judgement. Understanding body images from a socio-cultural framework in the context of migration helps to understand how the past, present and future are connected (p. 11). In other words, Pasifika women have a uniform awareness of big body sizes and appearances, which lessen the negative connotations of big sizes compared to white communities.

In an attempt to understand how Pasifika women came to be more tolerant of larger body sizes than those favoured in other cultures, Hokowhitu (2008) discusses the Maori and Pacific body. He theorises that Pasifika ancestors voyaged into the Pacific many centuries ago and since it was not an easy trip, whoever made landfall in the Pacific islands were survivors. That is to say, only the strongest and fittest ones were able to survive the journey. Brewis, McGarvey, Jones and Swinburn (1998) note that, despite the common ancestry, Pasifika women residing in the islands have a different perception of what is considered beautiful compared to Pasifika women in foreign countries. Considering this, women in the islands perceive larger body sizes as normal, where is it considered attractive and seen as representing power and wealth, while women in other countries see it as unhealthy and a sign for a lack of self-confidence (Brewis et al, 1998). According to Knight, Latner and Illingworth (2010), who studied the body image and self-esteem of Asian, Pacific Island and White students, body dissatisfaction amongst the three cultures are relatively similar in terms of longing for a thinner body. However, also evident in their study is that Pacific landers have higher rates of obesity than the two other cultures. Nevertheless, Pacific Islanders also show more positivity and acceptance of their appearance and body image despite being bigger than other cultures. Suggestions have been made that such acceptance comes from the fact that there is "low levels of cultural stigma and fear of [being] overweight" (Knight, Latner & Illingworth, 2010, p. 364). The findings may also suggest that such acceptance derives from the principle of accepting people the way they are, or the likelihood of not being aware of the health issues associated with being overweight (Knight, Latner, & Illingworth, 2010, p. 431). In light of this, suggestions have been made that "understanding these factors could help maintain a positive body image in the presence of heavier weight" (Knight et al, 2010; Latner & Illingworth, 2011, p. 366) that does not conform to Western beauty standards.

For Pasifika peoples, the domestic role that stems from cultural tradition is a source of internal pride. Pasifika women can appreciate different types of beauty irrespective of body

size and/or shape and skin colour. Tongamoa (1988) explains that their level of education and understanding of the outside world determines the perceptions of a woman's role in the Pacific Islands and Moura-Kocoglu (2017) notes, colonialism affected the way in which the Pasifika community categorises gender roles. She explains that since the invasion of the Pacific Islands, the role of women has been greatly relegated to the context of traditional and oral culture whilst at the same time establishing male authority within Pasifika communities. Moura-Kocoglu (2017) also proposes that the traditional role of Pasifika women was changed through the highly sexualised "white male colonial gaze" and it happened at a time when a demonstration of patriarchal gender division was convenient in political struggle for power; men were positioned as leaders and women as the custodians of unchanging traditions. Moreover, Moura-Kocoglu (2017) also notes that this belief has been challenged by many Pasifika women who continue to change and adapt to the complex dynamics of economic and political imperatives characterised by globalised societies.

Pasifika women have always been known to hold less status than men. Similar to women in other cultures, their roles and social status are ascribed to them by society, regardless of their contribution to the family's welfare and economy. Tongamoa (1998) discusses the traditional roles of women in their respective societies - Fiji, the Solomon Islands, Tonga and Vanuatu and comments that they all share the belief that a woman must be subordinate to her husband, she is responsible for the "cleanliness of the home, cooking and the general comfort of the family" (p. 1) and that she must be "seen not heard" (p. 70). However, Tongamoa (1998) also finds that this embedded notion of women is gradually becoming less acceptable. While some women are disassociating themselves from these traditions, it is also evident that some women do not view this to be in any way degrading. Tongamoa (1998) explains that women see "the quality of their services bring dignity to the family therefore the value women place on their performances makes it difficult" (p. 4) for themselves to see it differently.

#### 2.6 Conclusion

This review of literature has, at its centre, examined the hegemonic influence "white beauty" continues to instil upon the beauty practices, and therefore experiences, of ethnic women. As Russell (2017) argues, the gaze has always been white, and all "others" are measured by it. His argument points to the notion that "whiteness as a discrete ethnic category has never been the subject of serious scrutiny, since the powerful have no need to explain or

justify themselves to the powerless" (p. 23). Though Gramsci (cited in Amigo et al., 2016) develops a theory explaining how whiteness has established itself as a hegemonic ideology, essentially, his suggestion argues that the construction of whiteness is passed through the conditioning of values, beliefs and culture by the ruling class to the extent that their view becomes a worldview.

Numerous researchers (Stokinger & Wilson, 2018; Taylor, Coates, Anyansi-Archibong & Tanaka, 2013) position the beauty industry and mass media as the two main contributing factors to the construction of beauty; they also suggest is that these institutions must be resisted in many ways. There is some sense that women must embrace their cultural and traditional beauty as part of the wider objective of resisting discrimination and/or cultural domination. As a young Tongan woman living and researching the lived experiences of Pasifika women, I write from a position of having an understanding of two worlds – traditional Tongan society and that of the Pasifika diaspora in Aotearoa New Zealand. To an extent, this literature review has presented an exploration of the critical discussion of beauty, and importantly, its intersections with race and power, in an attempt to ascertain how it can be better understood. It ultimately revealed that race is still a prevalent factor in the shaping of women's experiences of beauty worldwide. But an open question remains as to how Pasifika women navigate their own experiences in between the more common examinations of "white" normativity and "black" counter-ideals.

For the researcher, as a young Tongan descendant who grew up in a multi-cultural society, beauty was already anticipated as a concept that has changed significantly over time, and from experience it was considered that beauty has a strong link with the ideas of power, status and wealth. As such, it was an objective of this study to understand the particular influence of these concepts on Pasifika women. Casanova's (2004) notes that, regardless of whether you are mixed or of one ethnicity, ethnic women or racially mixed women are increasingly encouraged to embrace the practice of self-acceptance. Such self-acceptance may be evident among Pasifika women, who were found to be more tolerant towards big body sizes in comparison to white, black and Asian women (Braginsky et al., 2016). Knight et al. (2010) theorise that such acceptance may derive from "low levels of cultural stigma and fear of overweight" (p. 364). They further propose that understanding these risk factors could help encourage women to strive for healthier lifestyle and could potentially be a solution to those

struggling with body dissatisfaction. Above all else, this study seeks to understand the lived experiences of Pasifika women in relation to notions of beauty, by encountering Pasifika women directly and establishing an opportunity for their voices to be heard. The following chapter outlines the selection and design of a Pacific research methodology to achieve this objective.

#### 3. RESEARCH METHOD AND STUDY DESIGN

## 3.1 Ko e talanoa'i e talanoa mo hono kakala (The talking of Talanoa and Kakala)

Patten and Newhart (2017) state that, "research methods are the building blocks of the scientific enterprise" (p. 4), that they are the "how" for building systematic knowledge. In Pacific studies, many of the "hows" are located in the cultural and traditional methods of "Talanoa, Kakala, Vanua, Fa'afaletui, Fonofale, Tivaevae, 'Ula, Fonua and Kaupapa Maori" (McFall-McCaffery, as cited in Tunufa'i, 2016, p. 228). These are just some of the relatively new methods utilised in the field of Pacific studies. In accordance with the nature of this research, the researcher has chosen to utilise the approaches of Talanoa and Kakala. These methodologies can be attributed to Sitiveni Halapua (as cited in Tunufa'i, 2016), Semisi Prescott (2008), and Konai-Helu Thaman (as cited in Fua, 2014). This chapter discusses the methodological approaches and considerations that guide this research project. Firstly, it will outline the purpose and key stages of a Kakala research framework before detailing the use of Talanoa as a research method to identify and interpret the experiences of Pasifika women.

As a means of collecting and interpreting data, a variety of research methodologies can be considered for most studies; however, certain subjects or topics may also require a highly specified methodological approach. In this study, the nature of the subject informs the decision to employ Pacific research methodologies where possible, as opposed to any western or alternative non-Pacific research methodologies. This is not to discredit or invalidate the significance of non-Pacific research methods, but the common identity of the participants as Pasifika women and their experiences of beauty encourages the use of Pasifika research methodologies. As the researcher, I also identify as a Tongan woman, raised and nurtured in a multi-ethnic society. In the Tongan culture, or more so in my Tongan-ness, conversations around Pasifika women and beauty is central to how we perceive ourselves. To understand the experiences of Pasifika women is to firstly understand the cultural and value differences they have to other non-Pacific cultures. As a young Tongan woman, I consider this thesis from two different perspectives. I, as a Tongan who examines the impact of beauty on women in general as well as being a Pasifika woman who can identify with the experiences of the women involved in this study. As challenging and emotional it was to share these participant's personal experiences it paints a small representation of the concerning reality for Pasifika women. Importantly, it raises the question of my own position in this study. Reflecting on my position,

I refer to the work of Rewi (2014) as she discusses the complexities of being both an insider and an outsider in research. Rewi (2014) explains the importance and advantages of being an insider as being able to create a space that is culturally safe for both parties as well as adhering to appropriate customs. This is in opposition to an outsider that may have little-to-no familiarity, kinship and understanding of the researched culture/cultural group. Linda Tuhiwai Smith (1999) who writes extensively on decolonizing indigenous research methodologies adds that being an insider means to be in a privileged position as access to deeper levels of information and "cultural considerations are respectfully interwoven together" (p. 2). Given the overall sensitivity of this topic I position myself as insider who touches on certain issues that are rarely discussed amongst the Pacific communities let alone within more intimate settings such as family homes. I believe that through this study I also advocate for the value and importance of Pasifika women to retrieving self-love and self-acceptance from as a form of socially constructed identity that may instil, rather than hinder, confidence.

Simonds and Christopher (2013) conducted research on how to better understand indigenous people using western research methodologies and found these minority groups have long experienced exploitation by researchers in this context. As more and more researchers are engaging with the study of Pasifika and indigenous people, it has become crucial to practice cultural sensitivity and show respect for traditions and customs. Simonds and Christopher (2013) argue that Pacific research methodologies should be developed "alone or in conjunction with appropriate western methods when conducting research" (Simonds & Christopher, 2013, p. 2185) in these communities in order to facilitate a more culturally appropriate context and minimise the risk of misrepresentation or exploitation.

Smith (2013), drawing on Stuart Hall's study of the western system of knowledge suggests that the western system is a concept, which makes up complex stories that functions in four ways:

(1) Western system allow 'us' to characterise and classify societies into categories, (2) condense complex images of other societies through a system of representation, (3) provide a standard model of comparison, and (4) provide criteria of evaluation against which other societies can be ranked (Hall, as cited by, Smith, 2013, p. 44 - 45).

Hall (as cited in Smith, 2013) explains that Pasifika people and their traditions were coded into, "the Western system of knowledge" (p. 45) using these techniques. However, Smith (2013) believes that the western systems are not fixed as Hall suggests as they can be modified to

allow researchers to respectfully engage with other communities and recognise cultural-specific knowledge. These are the rules of classification, rules of framing and rules of practice. The point presented therein is that in the world of research, a sophisticated and mutually negotiated understanding of how one's culture works is essential. Whilst some may argue the western methodologies can be utilised to facilitate Pacific studies, Pacific methodologies contain traditions and customs and have a unique way of revealing knowledge gained from Pasifika peoples.

The practice of Talanoa is commonly shared by many of the South Pacific regions. While many of these Pacific islands share the same understanding of Talanoa, it is of importance to address its meaning for a greater understanding. In Fiji, Talanoa is known as a method to "disseminate information by local government departments, village representatives and local agencies" (Morrison, Vaioleti & Veramu, as cited in Vaioleti, T., 2006). It is also used as a data collection tool from leaders, villages and different local avenues. From a Samoan perspective, Talanoa is known as "fa'atatalanoa" and refers to an ancient practice where only critical concerns and discussions is communicated amongst. In this thesis, the notion of Talanoa is based on a Tongan perspective. The research methodologies of Kakala and Talanoa have been selected to affirm that this study will generate knowledge and understanding of our Pasifika peoples and their respective communities. It also reflects a range of Pacific worldviews, thereby increasing the motivation for Pasifika people to stay alert to, and be informed of, the development and deviations that their histories, cultures and traditions have reflected. Solomona (as cited in Tima, 2013) notes that "what should drive us researchers in seeking appropriate research methodologies is the desire that the research will support beneficial outcome[s] for our people" (p. 67). Pacific studies should not only aim to outline and inform our experiences but also invest in providing solutions. Therefore, the following sections will discuss the Kakala framework followed by Talanoa as a research method. However, as this chapter will demonstrate, some use of Western research methods, in particular "Thematic Analysis", is necessary in the design of this study.

# 3.2 Kakala mo hono talanga (The talking of Kakala)

Kakala is the name given to the garland used at ceremonial events (Fuka-lino, 2015). Tui kahoa kakala in the Tongan context is the practice of garland making, a common practice in the islands whereby one or more women gather in a circle with their tools and flowers threading it into a kakala. Fua (2014) explains that the process of making kakala is a

demonstration of collaboration, sharing of resources and the passing of skills to the next generation. It is a process that requires distinct focus and quite often, the maker has a specific person in mind as the recipient of the kakala. This practice of weaving the kakala has been identified by a number of Pasifika researchers as a useful metaphor and guide for the process of an academic study. The concept was developed in 1999 by Konai Helu-Thaman (Fuka-lino, 2015), but it can also be identified in the work of Ete-Rasch and Nelson (2013) and Fuka-Lino (2015) in studies examining health care, the study of epistemologies significant to Tongan students learning experiences by Kailahi (2017) and studies on gambling problems common amongst Tongan communities (Vatuvei, 2017). Initially, the Kakala framework conceptualises research to consist of three stages: 1. Toli (the data collection stage); 2. Tui (the data analysis stage); and 3. Luva (the presentation of findings). However, Taufe'ulungaki and Johannson (2005, cited in Fuka-lino, 2015) redeveloped the framework into four stages by adding *Teu* (the research preparation stage), as the first stage, preceding the 3 existing stages. Thaman (cited in Fuka-lino, 2015) expressed that the use of Kakala in Pasifika research allows Pasifika researchers the opportunity to articulate theories from their perspective and to recognise Pasifika worldviews in their own thinking. Similar to western methods of collecting, storing and analysing data, Kakala provides a blueprint for the recruitment of participants, the conducting of interviews, data collection and analysis. The following section outlines the research methodology based on the four stages of Kakala.

## 3.3 Stage 1: Teu [The Preparation stage]

Applying Kakala to studies concerned with Pasifika women is useful because "when exploring aspects of Pacific culture, it is important to refrain from trying to apply western frameworks to describe epistemologies that fall outside of western cultural constructs" (Toluta'u, 2008), p. 27). In kakala (garland weaving), the teu stage is where the preparation for the overall occasion takes place. It is where the goals and purpose of each kakala is determined. It is also the stage where the garland maker is has to decide what types of kakala would be suitable for the occasion. Significantly, not all kakala are the same. For instance, a kakala made for a wedding ceremony will not be appropriate for funeral ceremonies, just like a kakala made for traditional Tongan dance would not be appropriate for someone of royal hierarchy status. There are particular techniques and approaches that go towards making the garland and the type of garland to be used. This is because each garland has a meaning, purpose and hierarchy status and it requires particular attention and a definite person in mind. Likewise, in a research

framework, the researcher is required to identify purpose, aim and logic in order to know which approach/es can be deemed appropriate, taking into account, deliberations, planning, premeditation and brainstorming. The researcher is challenged on many aspects, such as:

- 1. Would a qualitative approach or quantitative approach be best suited to the research project?
- 2. How will the overall results benefit from the chosen approach?
- 3. Will the chosen approach collect a suitable range of information in a timely manner or lead to delays in the overall process?

These are concepts included but not limited to, what a researcher takes into consideration in the preparation stage. This stage is also about determining who your potential participants will be and what number of participants would be appropriate for the research project. Fuka-Lino (2015) suggests this stage is also about considering the ethical appropriateness of the research including, but not limited to, its cultural relevance and application as well as ensuring that the application for formal ethics clearance to collect data is finalised. Once completed, the next stage is the collection of information.

In the Teu stage of this study, the research topic was identified and refined. Initially the study was concerned with a primary critique of the beauty industry, but through greater consideration of the researcher's own identity, personal experiences, and the lack of representation for Pasifika women's voices, both Pasifika and non-Pasifika research, the chosen focus of this study was determined. Essentially, the initial focus of this thesis was to examine and explore the perceptions and experiences of women participating in any Pacific beauty pageant. It is believed that those within the beauty pageant have more conscious definition and perceptions of Pasifika beauty, which is why I saw a significance and value in studying their experiences. However, through deep consideration of the researcher's own identity, it was evident that the experiences of ordinary everyday women would be raw and authentic compared to those who are heavily immersed within the beauty pageant, which would add a distinctive perspective to the study. As a result, ordinary women were chosen as the main focus.

#### 3.3.1 Justification

Once the objective was established, the following step was determining the appropriate methods for the data collection. While many different approaches were available, such as qualitative research, semi-structured interviews, surveys, and others, I felt that my identity as a Pasifika woman who investigates the experiences of Pasifika women required the application of a Pasifika research framework. As such, the method of Talanoa was taken into account and measured. While many could argue that Talanoa is like an unstructured interview, Prescott (2008) explains:

Talanoa is any form of communication aimed at reaching understanding towards the building or enhancing of relationships. The openness associated with Talanoa is a product of the underlying trust relationship and sense of cultural connectedness between those involved. The benefits associated with reaching a state of understanding are shared between the participants, without prejudice. The modern interview on the other hand, while mimicking the transparent characteristics of Talanoa, is primarily focused on gaining knowledge. The relationship thread, which is central to Talanoa, is not embedded within the modern interview process.

In much of the theses I read involving the use of Talanoa, it was fascinating and encouraging that a study such as this, which involves the partaking of Pasifika women, to employ the use of Talanoa. With Talanoa being justified, the next step was the ethical approval processes.

#### 3.3.2 Ethics

With the nature and the cultural appropriateness incorporated within this study, an ethical approval was necessary. To ensure each participants was aware of the research subject, an information sheet detailing the study and the ethical principles were provided. Confidentiality was a central part of the process as some women were concerned about sensitive information being shared. Participants were given weeks to decide before making any further decisions about their involvement and as part of the mutual agreement, each participant was also provided with a consent form to validate use of information within this study. Since participants were of legal consent age, it was not necessary to seek the permission of a legal guardian. With the ethical approval in place, the recruitment process began.

#### 3.3.3 Procedure

Participants were recruited with the help of friends and use of personal networking-Facebook and LinkedIn. Information about the study was distributed throughout Facebook and LinkedIn posts. Women who showed interest were sent a brief email along with two attachments; an information sheet detailing the research subject, research proposal and a consent form. While many women were showing interest, some women did not meet the participation criteria due to the age restriction, language barrier and conflicting schedules. As a result, women who were unable to commit their time to this study offered their support by extending the invitation to friends and colleagues who they believed would be interested. The women who met the criteria were invited to meet in person. To provide comfort and stability, these women were advised of their rights and options to withdraw or decline answers at any given time, should they experience discomfort or change of mind during the Talanoa. However, should they wish to continue, they were assured that any information they shared would be kept confidential and that their names would be replaced with the use of pseudonyms for any publications that may come out of this research. All participants involved, were video recorded solely to capture any non-verbal communication and allowed for a well-grounded and deep Talanoa between the researcher and the participant without any interruption. These Talanoa were conducted in a face-to-face interaction with the exception of one participant due to other priorities. As a result, our Talanoa was conducted via video calling. Although this may contradict and challenge the authenticity of Talanoa, in my view I felt determined that any participant who was willing and strongly supportive of the research must have valuable perspectives and therefore should be included. This particular Talanoa was also video recorded. Each Talanoa consisted of two people: the researcher and the participant. In one of the Talanoa there were 4 people presented; the researcher and the 3 participants. This Talanoa was spontaneous and the researcher only became aware of the additional people on the scheduled date. In turn, the researcher adapted to the participants' wishes to conduct the Talanoa with all three participants simultaneously, as any additional feedback would add value to the topic. In total, each Talanoa took a maximum of 2 - 3 hours. For each Talanoa, the participant was seated across from the researcher with a copy of the information and consent form in front of them to read and sign. In order to make the participant feel comfortable, the researcher began the Talanoa by asking how their day was and what inspired them to be part of the research. This

allowed both parties to interact with each other in a comfortable manner, which eventually lead to the start of the Talanoa.

# 3.3.4 Participants

Overall, 12 Pasifika females participated in this study. They identified with a range of different ethnic backgrounds, including Tongan, Samoan, Niuean, Fijian, and Cook Island, and some even identified with more than one, including non-Pacific backgrounds. All participants were between the ages of 20 - 30 and lived in Auckland, New Zealand (NZ). It was important that any female who volunteered to participate would be of Pacific descent due to the sensitivity of the subject researched. More importantly, it was crucial to the researcher and the nature of the study that these women have relatedness to the topic discussed, as not only will it benefit the overall outcomes of the study but also their personal experiences will add values to the discussion. As such, those who reportedly identified with more than one ethnicity expressed that they identified more with their Pasifika identity based on their upbringing. The primary focus was to invite a maximum of 6 - 8 women. However, the number of responses received led to extending the number of participants involved, allowing those who fit the research requirements to participate. This resulted in a more diverse participant cohort and a greater range of perspectives to base the analysis on. After all, it is not the number of participants but the balance and richness of their justification related to the research that is relevant (Saunders & Townsend, 2016).

	Participants	Age	Occupation	Ethnicity
	Participant 1	22 yrs. Old	University Law student	Tongan/Maori
	Participant 2	23 yrs. Old	University Social worker student	Niuean
	Participant 3	21 yrs. Old	Customer Service Operator	Fijian
	Participant 4	20 yrs. Old	Hospitality Customer Service Agent	Fijian
	Participant 5	24 yrs. old	University Law student	Fijian/Maori
	Participant 6	22 yrs. Old	Researcher/Writer	Cook Island/African
	Participant 7	22 yrs. Old	TV Sports reporter	Samoan/Maori
	Participant 8	21 yrs. Old	University Visual Arts student	Samoan
	Participant 9	20 yrs. Old	University Law/Art student	Samoan
	Participant 10	22 yrs. Old	University Graphic Design student	Samoan
	Participant 11	27 yrs. Old	University Law student/Mentor	Samoan
	Participant 12	23 yrs. Old	University Culinary Art student	Samoan

Table 1: Participant sample

## 3.4 Stage 2: Toli [Kakala mo hono Paki - Collection]

Toli is the name given to the collection of flowers used to make kakala. The garland maker is required to go out and collect the nominated flowers suitable for the occasion, which requires her to pay attention to the picking of the flowers, the collecting of the flowers and safety of the flowers. In a research context, the tasks of Toli stage include that the researcher attends to the location of the interviewee and begins the collection process, in this case, through the process of Talanoa.

## 3.4.1 Talanoa'i e toli - The talking of the data collection

McFall-McCaffery (2010) comments that when conducting Pacific research, it is important to consider the Pacific knowledge systems as it allows Pasifika participants to be represented in a manner that is culturally appropriate. Talanoa has made quite an impression amongst Pasifika researchers, as the approaches offers researchers and participants the opportunity for the cultural production of stories, sharing of information and expressing emotions in a culturally familiar content. In the Tongan culture, Talanoa is a combination of

two distinct words: Tala means "to talk" or "to tell" and noa means "anything or nothing in particular" (Fa'avae, Jones & Manu'atu, 2016, p. 140). In other words, to perform Talanoa is to have an outpouring conversation without the same premeditation that would guide a structured interview. Although the use of Talanoa in this study relates broadly to the Tongan definition of the concept, it is important to acknowledge that Talanoa in general is a shared concept that belongs to many Pacific cultures, rather than one nation. In the wider context, Talanoa is the traditional Pacific practice of "engaging with dialogue or telling stories to each other, absent of concealment of the inner feelings and experiences that resonate in our hearts and minds" (Farrelly & Nabobo-Babam, 2014, p. 319).

According to Semisi Prescott (2008), the decision to use Talanoa in a research context emerged after experiencing Talanoa sessions facilitated by Sitiveni Halapua during the 2000 Fiji political coup. This session was Halapua's way of addressing how to better deal with issues held by those involved in the often opposing parties of a governmental body. Since then, Talanoa has played a significant role in a number of Pacific studies; educational research (Prescott, 2008; Tunufa'i, 2016; Vaioleti, 2006), sports management research (Stewart-Withers et al., 2017), research examining the relationship between Pasifika fathers and their involvement in their children lives (Tautolo, 2011), social science research examining the experiences and perceptions of NZ-born Tongan males living in New Zealand and "their participation in the Tongan cultural practice known as faikava" (Fehoko, 2015) as well as gambling issues amongst Pasifika communities research (Guttenbeil-Po'uhila et al., 2004). Vaioleti (2006, cited in Tunufa'i, 2016) states that, "Talanoa allows more authentic information to be available for Pacific research rather than data derived from other research methods" (p. 236). Tunufa'i (2016) concerns is that this statement places other research methodologies as ineffective when in actuality, is untrue. He believes Talanoa is different in the sense that the researcher must be informed of the cultural values, practice and all other significance traditions before conducting Talanoa. Here, he uses the work of Davidson (2008, cited in Tunufa'i, 2016) to articulate his claim. "The historian studying multicultural situations must learn to use new forms of evidence to involve himself in the other men's ways, and to avoid interpreting men's actions in terms of the patterns of his own culture" (p. 237). Aligning with the belief of Farrelly and Nabobo-Baba (2012, cited in Tunufa'i, 2016), "Kaupapa Maori, Kakala framework and Unaisi's Vanua Research framework" are the only methodologies that have been specifically used to study Pacific topics in a cultural context for research. Prescott (2008) explains that the difference between traditional method Talanoa and other forms of unstructured or semistructured interview is that Talanoa is a product of the underlying trust relationship and sense of cultural connectedness between those involved. The benefits associated with reaching a state of understanding are shared between the participants without prejudice, whereas other modern interview techniques focus primarily on gaining information (Prescott, 2008, p. 130). That is to say, the understanding, awareness and acknowledgement fundamental to Talanoa offers an important distinction from other modern interview approaches.

Despite the concept being interpreted and applied differently in various studies, most researchers favour Vaioleti's model of Talanoa. Vaioleti (2006, cited in Tunufa'i, 2016) outlines Talanoa as having an unguided or unstructured conversation without ground rules or instructions to direct the conversations that take place. That is to suggest that Talanoa is simply led and sustained by the content discussed, hence similar to an unstructured or semi-structured interview. However, Prescott (2008) argues that the concept of Talanoa as a research method is anything but an unstructured or unguided conversation. He claims that such a method cannot be unguided or unstructured as the sole purpose of Talanoa is to obtain knowledge and information about a particular topic:

The Talanoa process is characterised by having no set agenda. In research, this is impractical as any study is bound by a research topic or area. The absence of an agenda in the case of Talanoa does not necessarily mean a free-for-all discussion on whatever topic the speaker wishes, but rather an open format for the participant to raise any matter they feel relevant to the issue or issues being discussed. (Prescott, 2008, p. 137)

Fa'avae et al. (2016) also explain that Talanoa as a research method should simultaneously be understood as a research methodology. Their claim is that Talanoa incorporates both theoretical and practical concerns in order to enact data collection and analyse the information obtained. For example, emotions and empathy are central in this practice, alongside interview protocols. The benefit of employing Pacific research methods helps reflect the lived realities of research participants. Fa'avae et al., (2016) also explain that western research methods can obtain the same kind of information as Talanoa but, "the nature and focus of Talanoa is determined by the interest of the participants themselves, their immediate surroundings and worldview" (Fua et al, 2016 p. 140). Vaioleti (2006) also suggests that whilst one can assume that all Western, Eastern and Pacific knowledges may have had the same origins, constructions and instruments used to collect their findings, the differences position them in a way that findings are "unlikely to have values and lived realities that allow

understanding of issues pertaining to knowledge" (p. 22) and ways that originated from Pasifika people themselves. As previously mentioned, Vaioleti's (2006) interpretation of Talanoa has made quite an impression amongst many Pacific studies. In brief, he defined Talanoa as a personal encounter between the interviewee and the interviewer(s) where they communicate their stories on a deeper and connected level, allowing pure and authentic information to be available for Pacific research.

In the history of Talanoa as a research methodology, it is important to acknowledge that there are different types of Talanoa. These include, but are not limited to:

- (1) Po Talanoa, the deeper exchange and sharing of ideas type of talk and both participant and researcher already have a close bond.
- (2) Fakatalanoa, encouraging the discussion of a topic or issue that both participant and researcher have not met prior.
- (3) Talatalanoa, discussion based on selected topics, and the unravelling of cultural concepts.
- (4) Fokotu'utalanoa, the topic is given by the researcher and the discussion is based solely around that topic.

While these individual customs play different roles in Pacific culture, their focus and purpose are relatively similar – to reach a state of understanding between those involved in Talanoa. Likewise, it is important to remember that the context of Talanoa discussed here is primarily addressed from a Tongan perspective. This perspective is different, or at least includes some aspects that differs from the interpretations in other Pacific cultures. Prescott (2008) explains that Talanoa is a shared concept amongst Pacific Island nations, which is why any claim that Talanoa belongs solely to one's nation is unjustified. However, he believes the reason behind such claim most likely stems from the fact that Talanoa is applied uniquely different across variety of contexts. However, for the purpose of this study, the researcher considers the use of both "Talatalanoa" and "Fokotu'utalanoa". This in my view is essential as it allows both the researcher and participant to build the discussion and Talanoa around the topic while at the same time allowing for personal and free interaction that will encourage participants to talk openly and willingly.

Time and place are vital considerations in conducting Talanoa. In most instances, the major concern is trying to arrange a place or venue where the participant feels they can talk openly. Halapua (as cited in Prescott, 2008) suggests that ideally, Talanoa is should be

conducted during weekends rather than weekdays. This is to allow the participant to put aside weekday obligations and feel comfortable engaging in an open Talanoa without any worries. This, in the Tongan culture, is referred to as Talanoa heliaki, the process in which one discusses topics which may or may not be relevant before concluding (Prescott, 2008). Although the definition of Talanoa heliaki conveys the impression that it means "talking nonsense", it has benefits for the research in the sense that it allows the participant to explicate their responses rather than provide a one sentence answer. In addition, as Kaeppler (1993, cited in Ka'ili & Mahina, 2017) notes, another possibility for one to Talanoa "heliaki" can be from the pressure or limitation of time given to discuss the topic, in which case participants tend to feel pressured and speak figuratively rather than directly. Importantly, although according to Halapua's (as cited in Prescott, 2008) belief, Talanoa should best be conducted on the weekends, the majority of the Talanoa in this study were conducted during weekdays. This is because many of these women had other weekend commitments and to avoid conflicting schedules, the researcher allowed them to pick a location and time that suited them. Hence, it is imperative when conducting Talanoa to negotiate in advance the time, place and expected duration.

Talanoa is also a custom which is often exercised during a faikava. A faikava is a wellknown cultural practice that "encompasses social bonding, fostering of friendships, exchange of stories, knowledge and life-experiences whilst drinking the narcotic beverage of kava" (Fehoko, 2015, p. 132). However, the contemporary context in which people engage in Talanoa can start with a formal or in-formal introduction. In this study, the Talanoa began with asking the participants how their day was. As the researcher, it was crucial to ease into the conversation without pressuring the participant. With every new question their response was based on something they last said. For instance, when a participant shared her perceptions of what defines beauty and she referenced physical features, the following question would acknowledge the physical features of beauty while also inquiring about the inner or the nonphysical aspects of beauty. In some instances, and when it seems appropriate, the researcher may briefly share their thoughts as well, which often helps to break or reduce any possibilities of discomfort or tension that may occur. With that being said, almost all the participants were excited and inspired by the research topic and its overall purpose. It follows, that majority of these women had never thought about the underlying issues of beauty in relation to Pasifika women and they felt it was an important issue to highlight.

Emotion is another aspect that is evident in the Talanoa. The Talanoa offered a forum where participants could share both positive and negatives experiences as well as general views. In some instances, sharing their stories would make some participants emotional and it was important for me to acknowledge this part of the Talanoa and allow the participant to compose. Reflecting on these emotions, it seemed that each time the participant shares a negative experience that occurred at home it sparked emotions. When personal experiences were shared, it seemed to stimulate a sense of "deep thinking" and "regret" because oftentimes participants find themselves talking about a particular incident or mind-set they once maintained. it was the kind of mind-set that does not challenge the ideal of beauty rather: it adheres to its standards. While signs of "regret" and "sadness" were manifesting in some Talanoa, some participants were exhibiting signs of 'concerns' for the benefit of the future generation. This suggests that some participants fear the future generation may experience the same trauma, if issues such as these are not highlighted and addressed immediately.

# 3.5 Stage 3: Tui [Data Analysis]

This stage is concerned with the weaving of the flowers into kakala. In terms of the research process, this stage focuses on the analysis and the arrangement of the information collected from Talanoa. In a kakala context, once the garland maker finished collecting her flowers, she starts arranging them into colours, types and level of significance. Once this form of structure or grouping is completed she begins weaving the flowers together. The primary focus in this stage is the arrangement of themes as once that is established the rest of the flowers will fall into place. In relation to the research context, the researcher begins to analyse the collected data, reviewing information that is essential and organising them into categories before preparing to present the findings of the research process. More importantly, the researcher also needs to justify what information is relevant to the discussion as such. The benefit of this justification helps to create a well-informed discussion of the topic that acknowledged that not all information are relevant and, therefore, some information may be excluded.

Thematic analysis is one research methodology that many would argue serves a similar function of Tui within kakala, in terms of categorising flowers and themes prior to weaving. Just like garland weaving, the researcher begins by arranging themes and disseminating information into categories. Strachan, Yellowlees and Quigley (2015) explain that "thematic

analysis is a process of recognising and categorising patterns of meaning in a body of data" (p. 156). This is evident in the work of Castleberry and Nolen (2018) who suggest that the process of thematic analysis consists of six steps: familiarity, compiling, disassembling, reassembling, interpreting and concluding. Familiarity involves reading the information collected to gather an understanding of the overall findings. Compiling relates to the transcription of the data, disassembling refers to the picking and rearranging of the information into subheadings. Reassembling involves mapping the concepts and potential themes. Interpreting is grouping of relatively information to support the themes identified within subheadings, and lastly, concluding means the overall reflection of the research. In other words, the data collected from Talanoa should answer the research question. Similarly, in line with Vaioleti's (2006) explanation, Tui, just like thematic analysis, is where the stories are arranged and woven together; much like the integration and weaving of knowledge made available by Talanoa. He also explained that attention to details are essential at this stage, as ineffective selection and integration of rich information could easily lead to invalid conclusions.

Having used thematic analysis in conjunction with the Kakala framework, it became a shared pattern where both its cultural and western relevance were incorporated collectively to organise and analyse the collected information. This combination of the two methods were able to generate and strengthen the overall findings in a more rigorous manner. Since all Talanoa were documented using video recording, it was necessary to transcribe the data into words to facilitate organisation and documentation of the data. Each Talanoa session lasted between 2 – 3 hours long. Each video was transcribed manually, taking between 2-4 days each. Once the transcription was completed, the familiarity stage began. All transcripts were read to grasp a better understanding of the overall data. It emerged from the data that high school friends, colleagues and oftentimes, family members often had a profound impact on participants' perceptions of beauty. In addition, some participants highlighted television programs, social networks – Instagram and Magazine – as risk factors. Lastly, the idea of race, class and gender differences were identified as additional contributing factors. Many of these factors featured in all of the participants' experiences. These factors were then grouped separately under each individual sub heading, which was later categorised into three themes. All As the following chapter will show, the three themes were Social Relationships, Media and the construction of Race, Class and Gender.

# 3.6 Stage 4: Luva e Kakala [Presentation of Findings]

Luva e Kakala is the final stage of Teu, Toli and Tui. It is the presentation of the kakala to the nominated person. Although there is no formal procedure to the gifting the kakala, it is a process whereby the garland maker is highly acknowledged for their hard work. Whether it is a cultural ceremony, birthdays or weddings, this stage corresponds to the dissemination of results. Similar to the kakala presentation the researcher is encouraged to present their findings back to the public to allow for feedback. As Guttenbeil-Po'uhila et al. (2002) explain, Luva e kakala means returning the knowledge created to the people it was gifted from to ensure it serves its purpose. By using this research as a platform to share the voices of Pasifika women, the intended publication of an academic thesis provides a meaningful opportunity to share this information with the wider communities of first and foremost Pasifika women but also other populations similarly affected or concerned by the issues represented in this study. It is important to highlight that the quotes presented in the following chapters as interview data have been edited slightly. Minimal changes have been made to account for hesitation and excessive repetition. Overall, this editing greatly assists the readability of the quotes and ensures that the substance of each participant's contribution is not obstructed by the nuances of casual speech.

## 3.7 Challenges

The Talanoa process requires a significant amount of time and commitment from all participants. Therefore, ensuring that the scheduling of Talanoa sessions was convenient for invited participants was an essential stage in the process. In view of this, during the invitation stage, a large number of invited participants did not respond to the invitation to participant within the 2 weeks' period given in the information sheet whilst others did not respond at all. Due to this, the invitation was extended to more people. Each of the participants was asked about their eligibility to participate, which led to the majority of them being excluded from the project based on their age and other commitments. Some of these participants suggested I contact other people who were likely to fit the participant criteria. While it was necessary to find participants who solely fit the criteria, the ethnicity of women who strongly showed support and interest in the research were identified with more than one ethnic group. This prompted the researcher to further question their involvement in the research and their relatedness the topic. From the extended conversation it emerged that some of these women spent their whole life knowing only of their Pacific background and consequently identify more as Pasifika citizens regardless of their multicultural background; others were raised with single

parent which led them to have one sided experience of their multi-ethnic background whilst others began experiencing beauty as they grew, realising the reality and the sensitivity of the subject have conditioned them to think and act a certain way. To some of these participants, it painted a reality in their minds of what they can do to help the younger generations to be aware of the consequences of this concept. Even though as a researcher I wanted to include all people who showed interest, the nature and the requirements of the thesis required me to make appropriate decisions on how many participants should be included. Considering that, the Talanoa process demands an in-depth discussion with a limited number of participants rather than with a large number of people. This allows the researcher time to assemble all data collected and analyse it in a timely manner.

#### 3.8 Conclusion

The methodological considerations of the Kakala framework and Talanoa data collection approach have marked significance amongst Pacific studies both in local and international contexts. The essence of these approaches is to embrace the underlying values and relationships of Pacific cultures, while also being flexible it its function to accommodate multiple social settings such as formal and informal ceremonial events, social gathering such as *faikava* and academic research. While Talanoa and Kakala may have similarities with other Western research frameworks such as thematic analysis, unicity lies in the fact that the traditional practice of Talanoa centres on cultural connection, stories, emotions and social understanding. A practice absent of the concealment of the inner feelings and experiences differs from other guided research methodologies, particularly in the case of Western research of indigenous or minority populations.

Talanoa, Kakala and thematic analysis were all essential in the overall data collection and analysis process. They helped to create and analyse the data in a way that was culturally appropriate as well as theoretically practical. While the following chapter highlights the primary findings of Talanoa, it also reveals the importance of establishing effective investigation protocols and develop the means to communicate about matters that have so far been given little consideration. On many occasions, the participants involved in this research commented that the representation of beauty was rarely discussed in the media or even among their friends: and the perpetuation of beauty in amongst society made them think differently of themselves. An issue that would not have been examined thoroughly, if it was not brought to

attention with the use of Kakala and Talanoa. Despite its challenges, this study underlines both Talanoa and Kakala as a mode of communication suitable for collecting data in Pacific studies. Inevitably, allowing more studies to be explored on the issue of Pasifika women, beauty and race.

#### 4. FINDINGS

This chapter provides an overview of the findings, along with an elucidation of the data in reference to the research questions established prior to the Talanoa. To set the tone of the discussion, during each Talanoa session, participants were presented with the same question, "what is beauty and how would you define it?" To some participants, beauty was an internal affair; others perceived it as an attainable objective. While beauty may be socially concerned with the physical aspect of the woman, some participants believe that 'true' beauty lies within the idea of being involved in church and community duties, thereby focussing on the emotional rather than the physical aspect of beauty. However, within the broader categories, there were number of sub-themes that emerged, still connected to the context of the experience. These include the influence of mainstream media; the impact of social relationships and pressures from family, friends, and employers; and the construction of race. Based on these connections, this study established three main themes: Social peer pressure, Media, and Racial structures. According to these participants, excessive media consumption and use of social media contributed to and shaped participants' perceptions of beauty, in ways they deemed both negative and positive. Direct and indirect social peer pressure affected their beauty experiences significantly, and those with negative perceptions of communicated beauty ideals tend to find it difficult to unbridle themselves from the constructed ideologies. Others tend to exercise the ideologies keeping in mind an awareness and an understanding of its impacts. Whilst each of the themes demonstrated a significant impact in each woman's experiences, it shows that some of the issues highlighted in this study, such as family support and community involvement, are experiences that are culturally specific to Pasifika women. For the following section, I present an overview of the findings starting with the influence of social peer pressure.

## 4.1 Theme one: Social peer pressure

Social relationships had a significant impact on the experiences of the young women that participated in this study. Much of the Talanoa conversations centred on the influence of their peers in school, workplace and at home. For most of the participants, a lot of the pressure occurred during high school and through their formative, adolescent years – a time of heightened vulnerability when ideas about one's self can easily be influenced by the judgement of others. Bissell and Hays (2010), who studied the influence of beauty on young adolescent girls, found that children spend approximately 25% of their time watching television and engaging with others, which reinforces their ideas of attractiveness and thinness. They also

emphasised the composite effect of peak vulnerability during the teenage years when girls start to form their own beliefs, attitudes and perceptions of themselves and of others. Most participants agreed that their family played a role in supporting their navigation of these ideas where they had both a positive and negative impact on the way the participants experienced these new challenges. Interestingly, most of the participants acknowledged that social pressure still occurs in their adult lives; however, their consciousness and self-awareness of such pressure allowed for a more positive and encouraging response to perceived criticism.

#### 4.1.1 School and the workplace

Schools, and occasionally workplaces, were strongly identified by almost every participant that was involved in this study as a place that heavily influenced their perceptions of beauty. It believes that while participants were unreceptive to what determines beauty given their juvenescence age, in school participants often found themselves in situations where other students made judgemental references about their physical features, suggesting ways on how to enhance it. Some participants have also been subjected to beauty discrimination in the workplace, they stated it did not have the same effect as during their high school years as they are now more experienced in how to deal with social biases.

One participant shared some of the troubling experiences she endured during high school and how it constructed her way of thinking from an early age:

"I think I was bullied in school but it was small things like some of the girls would tell me... "Oh, I think you would look prettier if you straightened your hair", because I would always wear my hair curly" (Participant 1).

She also explained that, for a long time, she had mistaken these interactions as examples of "friendliness" and/or "amiable" behaviour, when in reality these were subtle pressures to conform to a particular standard. In essence, it made her think that these compliments were reasonable and appropriate and ideals that one should adhere to in order to be considered beautiful. She further explained how it began to affect her perception of beauty and how she saw herself:

I felt like I probably put the most pressure on myself to look a certain way. Like growing up, I hated how I looked, like my hair especially. I was in an all-white school and I did not understand why I wanted to look different so badly. Why I wanted to have lighter skin. Why I wanted to be thin and prettier like others. (Participant 1)

"All-white school" in this context refers to schools that are predominantly visited by white students with small population of brown students. However, for this participant, these experiences affected her subconsciously and pushed her towards different ways of altering her appearance such as chemical hair straightening and lip enhancements in order to look "beautiful" without realising its harmful consequences.

In an attempt to understand how judgment of beauty develops at such a young age, Diessner et al. (2016) designed a model to capture how beauty can be "reliably and validly identified" (p. 29) and why young children are not able to probe logical reasons as to why certain objects are beautiful to them. For instance, they can say what they like and do not like but more often would not offer any reasons for their preferences to make logical sense. Therefore, it is a very common practice for children to call something beautiful simply because they like it (Diessner et al., 2016). Parsons (as cited in Diessner et al., 2016) adds that "this is when egocentric perspective of judging beauty comes from because [within the child's own experience] there is nothing else to compare it with" (p. 29). In other words, children are more likely to make judgemental comments about others because they have representational thoughts - the process that occurs when one thinks about their surroundings using images, languages and symbols - that do not take the perspectives of others into account. However, school is a place where these occurrences are common, particularly for those attending an "all-white" school. Understandably, the use of the term 'all-white' in this study is a representation of lived experience and/or perceived-reality rather than a representative of the actual population of the school attended by the participants. In reference to this idea, the previously cited participant shared how her surroundings had influenced her perception of beauty:

I wanted high cheekbones, smaller nose and straight hair. Like I wanted straight hair so bad especially all throughout primary, throughout high school. It was not until recently that I started to realise, why have I been so conditioned to hate the way I look! (Participant 1)

This attitude or mind-set is common amongst many younger women, who, when it comes to "negotiation of beauty ideals between the individual and society, women were found to aptly draw on the existing discourses of beauty" (Glapka & Majali, 2017, p. 174). Participant 1's experiences offer an example of the ways that powerful and convincing social pressures can

have a lasting impact. This was also evident in another participant's experience, where she described feeling persuaded by peer pressure to conform to society's beauty standards:

My hair is naturally big and puffy so I remember in high school I was told if I could straighten it because it was too big, and I started straightening it. I think that would be one of the most frustrating things during high school but also because it was a trend where everyone was straightening their hair and it was on the mainstream media. You never really saw anyone with curly hair, so I gave in. (Participant 2)

As she explains, social pressure shaped her perception of beauty as a young Pasifika woman all throughout high school and she continues to encounter similar ordeals in other places such as university, her workplace and other public settings. While to some degree she interprets the purpose and meaning of her experiences differently from the previous participant, she conveys in a similar sense how they amount to social pressure:

I have never been directly told to look a certain way, but it was kind of subtle. You just get the message that you have to wear certain clothes or do your hair a certain way, and there are some things that are bit harder in most days especially at work because of my hair. I have to tame it. I am comfortable in myself but in terms of fitting into this standard of beauty, [that is when] I do not feel comfortable at all because then I have to do all these things to fit in, in order not to be judged or stereotyped. (Participant 2)

Both participants agreed that their experiences were common for many other women their age. However, they also believed that this experience has made it more difficult to embrace their identity of being Pasifika women in an egocentric society. Although these were identified as challenges by the participants, it was also suggested that these experiences subsequently fostered a sense of power, understanding and knowledge on how to deal with criticism that comes with their identity as Pasifika women, allowing for a more positive and assertive attitude towards their sense of self.

#### 4.1.2 Family, church and community support

The relationships with, and subsequent influence of, family and community emerged as another key theme in the lived experiences of the participants. One of the Talanoa conversations revealed how mother and daughter communication as well as being involved in church and community teachings help young Pasifika women navigate societal standards of beauty. In Pacific culture, the involvement of mothers in their daughter's social development

is considered natural and common. As such, mothers are seen as influential figures in their daughter's life. Taniguchi and Thompson (2015) believe that a home "that encourages children to express their opinion and feelings may implicitly communicate to children, that they are worth attention. Daughters, in turn will feel appreciated and valued, contributing general positive feelings about themselves" (p. 414). When this communication is not facilitated, young women may feel vulnerable and at risk of negative social impact. During the Talanoa, some participants shared how their relationship with their family helped them sustain "self-love": "My mom is my idol. I feel like the characteristics I have is from her and she just has a lot of self-love and I learned to embrace it too. She makes me feel beautiful and confident in myself" (Participant 6).

Being confident is a form of beauty that is highly talked about, but less inclined to practice in some women. When the researcher asked the participants to define beauty, the majority of the responses were centred on the idea of being confident. In one Talanoa, the participant described how the mother-daughter conversation helped her to build confidence, which gave her the strength not to adopt the dominant societal standards of beauty:

I think we just need to be confident and realise that we are beautiful in our own way. But we also need that support, even if it is from one person. I get that experience with my mother — because I am her only daughter, she always tells me to lose weight. She is more concerned about my health; she is not too concerned with my appearance in terms of beauty. I always tell her how I wish I had her arched eyebrows and I always compared [them] to mine. She always tells me, "no, do not wish for it, use what you have". (Participant 7)

This highlights how, although a complex web of life factors is involved in the production of societal beauty standards, parental communication provides young girls with crucial support when it comes to developing their body subjectivity (Taniguchi & Thompson, 2015).

However, for many other participants, the pressure to conform to certain beauty ideals was often seen stemming from home as well as wider social encounters:

I have this sibling who takes it upon himself to be the master mocker of everything. He is really thin and has his own gym gear in the garage. He goes for a run and he always teases me about my weight. He would say comments like, "you're so fat' etc... but it does not really bother me because I find ways to mock him back or respond. But still, even though it is a joke at the end of the day it is harsh and when

it continues to happen almost every few days you start to feel some type of way. (Participant 7)

Curtis and Loomans (2014) note that families are often not seen as a negative influence on young people's body image due to their perceived function as positive role models in familial support structures. However, the data in this study suggest that family and friends had a tendency to provide constant feedback and commentary on the physical appearance of the participants. As such, these family members would at times reinforce the stigma of being "oversized" or convey the demands of being attractive, which inevitably contributed to a strong drive for thinness amongst the participants. Whether it was through critical comments, teasing or encouraging to diet, Hardit, Hannum, Kichler and Crowther (as cited in Curtis & Loomans, 2014) comment that this type of behaviour can lead to body image dissatisfaction and eating disorders. They stress that people need to exercise more positive parental care, as it will help lower the risks of body dissatisfaction. In one of the Talanoa, one participant shared how she tends to humour those who make comments about her body weight:

I am the biggest one in my family and they always tell me to lose weight, but I never bother. I always have this joke where I tell them I am "PHAT" (Pretty Hot and Tempting) not FAT \*laughs\* I know it is their way of telling me to do something about my weight but maybe the way I perceive it or the way it is communicated to me, does not encourage me. (Participant 5)

Another participant described a slightly different approach from Participant 5's. She explained that it was difficult to respond to some of the negative or constructive criticism at home, making it difficult to have a positive outlook on her physical appearance:

I think for me it is different because I was brought up in the islands before moving here and that some of the women in my family are health conscious, especially my mom. She always tells me I need to lose weight even my whole family would consistently tell me to lose weight, because I would not be able to find a husband. So, my support system at home is not so great. (Participant 7)

She noted in many instances that comments from her family members regarding body image that are intended to be positive caused the greatest negative impact on how she sees herself. On a similar note, another participant explained that home was always a safe space for her. However, growing up in a household that consisted of two different cultures – her mother identifies as Maori and her father as Tongan – she often found that when she visits her dad's

side of the family, she was confronted with different expectations of how to look 'proper' in terms of beauty:

When I was growing up my aunty [from my Tongan side] would always plait my hair for school and she would constantly tell me that it is not lady-like to leave our hair out because young girls should have their hair nicely plaited. Even though she was saying that, I still felt like my hair looked prettier out than being plaited. (Participant 2)

In Pacific cultures, hair was always considered a symbol of beauty (Mageo, 1994) and girls with long hair were thought to be extraordinarily pretty. Girls were also taught that leaving one's hair out suggested sexual availability (Myford, 2005). Consequently, girls were taught to tie their hair up in a bun or plait it. In instances where a young girl follows through, respect is upon her mother.

Diverse experiences in multicultural households are not always attributed to ethnicity, as varying social standards or expectations also play a role in influencing the participants. For one participant, "conservative" values still feature in their household, but also extend outside of the home are where they are seen to represent the family:

In my family I cannot wear revealing clothes, I mean short sleeves and mini dresses are not allowed. I cannot wear short dresses without tights and my shoulder and everything has to be covered. [My family] kind of see it as exposing yourself so I cannot do that but then my mum also has trouble with me not wearing makeup and wearing too much makeup. At one point she would tell me to put on a little more effort and then at times she would tell me it is too much. One time we were getting ready to go out and I did not feel like getting dolled up and my cousin asked me what happened to my face. (Participant 3)

I spent most of my life living here [Auckland] and my parents live in Samoa so I would never dream of swimming in the beach in a bikini where here, I would do that freely because that is the social norms. In the islands, people would look at you and you will stand out like a sore thumb. So yeah you can say it is conservative, in a way where we are kind of stick to our fa'asamoa traditions (Samoan tradition) and I have no problems with that so it is just adapting to where you are at the time which is definitely conservative but it is also not bad. My mom always tells me, you can still be beautiful wearing a long-sleeves up to your neck just as wearing a singlet. (Participant 8)

Given these experiences, conservativism is not always followed through the same way. While families may come from similar backgrounds, how these participants deal with beauty ideals is rooted in how it is taught at home. For some of these participants, having unsupportive comments from their family members does not help in balancing or countering the negativity they deal with outside of home. However, based on these participants' experiences, conversations about body image are rarely acknowledged and generally uncommon in the Pacific culture. Due to the lack of support at home, participants indicated that they would seek help outside of their immediate family and instead confide in relatives such as cousins and aunts:

I think beauty is more about loving yourself, which is something I rarely ever practiced and especially in our culture, our Pasifika people because basically, the standard of our women is being overweight. You always hear comments like, "you have gone fat", 'you cannot lose weight' or 'you cannot find a husband if you are that size'. I find it really sad because we all have different ideas of beauty. For instance, for me it is about practicing self-love and from there comes self-respect. I always share this with my aunt whom I am really close with and she always tells me I do not need to listen to other people's nonsense. (Participant 6)

For me, it would have to be my aunty. My aunty is very important to me because I have always had natural curly hair and I used to straighten it all the time. She would encourage me to be natural. She would say stuff like, 'your hair is perfect that is who you are, that is your identity so you should keep it natural' that is why she is so dear to me because she always made me believe that I am beautiful from hair to the colour of my skin. (Participant 9)

Diversity and inclusiveness also plays a significant role in how women internalise the notion of beauty. From a Pasifika perspective, there is a strong acceptance of beauty linked to the support of the local church community. Having a relationship with the church community can help young women embrace their identity and natural beauty. Participants commented how the messages preached in church can help them navigate the pressure and ideologies that the wider society enforces on women. One of the ways that the participants conveyed this was through the idea of moving away from posting filtered and digitally modified images on social media, to posting unfiltered images:

Growing up my parents were always very religious and heavily involved with the local community, so when we were young it was already established as a routine where weekends were for church and community activities. When I got older, I started drifting away doing my own thing until last year [2018] I somehow found myself got involved in church and community work again but it came at a time where I was not happy with myself and for some reason being involved in church duties became a safe space for me to find confidence within myself and how to deal with negative consequences. (Participant 4)

The idea of keeping God centred in their everyday lives meant they could cope with all obstacles. For most of the participants, this relationship with the church community acts as a coping mechanism against the burdens of life, allowing them to excel in the face of social adversity.

Community support also acts as a strengthening system when it comes to fostering social development. It facilitates a great sense of empowerment and those who identified a strong sense of faith in their religion and support from their religious communities were able to have a different appreciation for what defines beauty. The participants' stories highlight how the link between church and women helps to nurture their perception of the world. It gives them the idea that going to church will not only help decrease social pressures but increase contentment within one's own beauty:

Being involved in community events has not only given me the opportunity to interact with other women, but also gives me the opportunity to help those in the circle, build self-confidence. I feel it is necessary at this point especially with a lot of the social norms coming through. (Participant 9)

It seems that schools, workplaces and home plays a huge role in these young participant's lives especially with how they project beauty ideals and their self-perceptions. It follows that schools came as a particular formative which may be due to the adolescents developmental stage and their vulnerability to other people's projection of beauty. Workplaces are considered similar in terms of beauty discrimination; however, the participants in this study noted it is more subtle and in-direct compared to previous experiences. Finally, while families are often believed to be supportive and encouraging, this study's findings revealed they can have both positive and negative impacts on the developing body images of young Pasifika women.

#### 4.2 Theme two: Media

The role of the media has been a comparatively well-researched factor in relation to the concept of beauty (Silverstein, Perdue, Peterson, & Kelly, 1986), albeit less so from the perspectives of Pasifika women. Based on the stories and comments made by participants during the Talanoa, media is a key influence when it comes to the lived experiences of the participants. The majority of participants expressed their concern with advertisements through social media, magazines and television. Some expressed their disappointment with how the media portrays and communicates messages about the ideal of beauty. A common idea that

emerged from the Talanoa was that how one views the world depends on the type of media they consume, taking into consideration the ideologies and values placed on beauty and how they are communicated to the public. From this perspective, there were two objectives during the Talanoa: to understand how these women interpret media messages and to what degree these messages influence their experiences. In the Talanoa, television, magazines and social media were described as highly effective in terms of communicating beauty ideals.

## *4.2.1 Television and magazines*

Many of the participants agreed that television (TV) programs and magazines were a key factor contributing to their perception of beauty ideals. For the majority, growing up watching their favourite movies and shows on TV was not just entertaining but also another way of learning about social trends and norms. In one Talanoa, the participant talked about how important it is to showcase diversity on TV, citing the news media and the lack of diversity she sees on TV:

People see people on TV, therefore, automatically there is the preconceived notion that only a certain type of people should be a news reporter - white, blonde, thin and first class. If you put a [non-Pasifika] reporter on a Fijian news or Samoan news that is going to eventually shape their perceptions of what is acceptable and not acceptable. (Participant 8)

More than half of the participants expressed that whilst their idea of beauty derives from different sources, television was the one they felt influenced their perception of beauty the most. In one Talanoa, the participant talked about how excessively watching excessive TV programmes convinced her that her frizzy hair was not attractive. When asked to what extent she believes these TV programmes influenced her perception, she responded, "We are [conditioned] to find European features attractive, but it is very unconscious" (Participant 2).

In research conducted by Zhang and Lien (2010), the authors explain two important theoretical frameworks related to the impact of TV programs - social learning and cultivation perspectives. Social learning is concerned with the idea that social behaviour can be learned through observing and imitating TV personalities. Cultivation perspectives is about the impact of excessive TV consumption on their audience. In other words, these theories argue that "extensive and repeated exposure to television over time gradually leads viewers to learn and accept TV portrayals as a true representation of social reality. In brief, TV is served as a core transmitter of societal ideals" (Zhang & Lien, 2010, p. 15). With majority of these women

having been influenced through their TV consumption, one participant shared the moment she began to think about how unrealistic and unnatural her perception of beauty was:

So being Fijian and growing up, the things I experienced as a young child were painful. Thinking back now at how much I hated the way I looked, I used to wish I looked like Zendaya all those Disney channel kids. I would dream of having the perfect skin with the perfect smile. Then as I got older I started to think about it....it is what you see on TV. That the idea of beauty is like the long lashes, the hair is never curly hair or anything frizzy. Then you see our women [Pasifika women] straightening their hair to look a certain way and it becomes culturally internalised, which I think is the worse part. (Participant 8)

Verdugo and Fierro (2014) offered an insight to the effects of TV programs and their influences on people, saying it is a platform, which we learn to see but are also blinded by it. To further understand, all responses related to the influence of TV programs were gathered and subsequent analysis found that the majority of participants grew up learning about beauty through television and magazines. For most of them, it started off as pure entertainment, but as they grew older it influenced their perceptions and understanding of the world they lived in. That is to say, they became more conscious that their own identities were rarely visible in the media:

When I was growing up on TV the main character is always like... white girl, white girl, white girl! You have quirky white girls, white girls with big glasses, big eyebrows, but that is always like the standard and the only coloured women who gets praised are like... you either have to look like Beyonce or Rihanna. It starts from a very young age and it keeps building up. You start to realise...what does it mean when people are like, "oh you are pretty for an Islander?" or "you are skinny for an Islander?" Like what is that supposed to mean? (Participant 9)

Generally, when the discussion concerned the functionality of TV programs, participants frequently highlighted the extreme impact of media contents and how it heavily affects their social lives. It follows that these media programs generally focus on homogenising western culture and promoting the already dominant social ideologies. In one Talanoa, the participant talked about how she views trends that advertised through media, saying: "We have to remember it's a trend and trends can fade out after some time" (Participant 11). She suggested that the representation of beauty ideas is usually temporary and prone to changing. In the excerpt below, she describes how fast-moving popular culture trends can be and how delicate human minds are when it comes to trends:

It has been ongoing for decades and what people do not realise is that, what you normally see on TV will eventually change so we have to take precaution when it comes to our media consumption. Once something is done to your body permanently, it cannot be undone and in most cases it becomes addicti[ve], and this takes into account the most extreme body modifications such as plastic surgery, skin bleaching, tanning, hair straightening treatments and tattooed freckles to less extreme body modification such as microblading, hairstyling, manicure and much more. (Participant 11)

Television as a communication medium has not only opened opportunities for entertainment but also allowed audiences to interact and engage with cross-media extensions. As these TV programmes evolve, it is important to understand how these participants are engaged with the social dimensions of contemporary TV fiction. One participant shared her thoughts and her experiences as a young Pasifika woman. In the excerpt below, she refers to TV programmes as just one side of beauty rather than an overall depiction of beauty:

If you are going to show me something on TV I want an overall depiction of beauty. I want to be able to see me, someone that represents me. There should [people] of all colour on the runway, ethnicity of all people not just one or two races. I think that is a massive misrepresentation that our media has, especially in New Zealand, because beauty should be a reference of all cultures and putting one race [on a screen] does not speak for multiculturalism. (Participant 3)

In relation to multiculturalism, another participant shared how her understanding of Pasifika beauty being represented on TV imperceptibly speaks for the majority of Pasifika women:

If I can think of one person that closely resembles my beauty, my culture it would be Frankie Adams. She is like the one person I can think of that is breaking the mould for the Pasifika women. She is super beautiful, and she has got those typical island features: the woman with the dark skin and the hair. She has that cultural clout and attention, but as far as everyone else in the mainstream media, there is just no one that looks like me... on primetime television and covers of magazines, they are not giving a platform to be outspoken about this and that is why these conversations are really necessary. If they are brown, they are like the tiniest brown and they will be like "oh we have got a diverse newsroom." For instance, they will be like, "oh Pippa Wetzell is part Samoan." Like, no shade to her, she is great, but that is what they will promote. They will just never put a full-blooded brown woman in there... not yet. (Participant 2)

Although diversity is not evident in all news media, it is important to highlight that Participant 2's view stems from a subjective observation seeing as some NZ media, such as Tagata Pasifika and Pacific Media Network, have high representation of Pasifika women. These stories and

views highlight the important role television and magazines play. Another media type that emerged as having a crucial impact on participants' perceptions of beauty was social media. Although functions just as mass media in terms of channelling ideas and information it also allows the accessibility to engage amongst users which many could argue problematic.

#### 4.2.2 Social media

Social media networks are widely integrated in many aspects of life, from personal communications to business connections, and they also have a greater diversity of representation, making this a potentially powerful medium for the representation of nonmainstream beauty concepts. Fardouly and Vartanian (as cited in Griffiths et al., 2017) found that minority groups are able to better represent themselves on a global scale through social media. Meta-analyses on the way that social media influences political participation and civic engagement suggests that people who consume news on social media have a greater probability of being civically and politically engaged across a variety of measures (Bajak, 2019), which suggests that social media has a dynamic effect on people's lives on a near daily basis. However, social media does not only have positive impacts on people's lives and Fardouly and Vartanian (as cited in Griffiths et al., 2017) also acknowledge that the study of social networks is often concerned with the effects of social media on the body image of young women and adolescent girls. According to a 2017 Sensis Social Media Report (Griffiths, Murray, Krug, & McLean, 2018), at least 79% of social media users are exposed to body dissatisfaction and eating disorder symptoms as a result of online exposure. For the most part, social media provides companies, sponsors and celebrities with the platform to network and construct themselves as influential figures and in the process influence everyday users with their messages – regardless of whether these messages are constructive or destructive. Though it can be easily misused and misunderstood, social media remains a key communication channel for people in society to keep up with what is happening around them.

Seeing that social media plays an increasingly significant role in contemporary society, it was important to determine whether mass media and social media have the same impact on the study's participants. Analysis of the Talanoa found that participants favoured social media more than any other media platforms, as social media "not only allow for consumption but also for production – and diffusion – of content" (Erz, Marder, & Osadchaya., 2018. p. 49) by everyday users. Social media networks, such as Instagram, are increasingly used by Pasifika women to embrace cultures, promote self-confidence and being beautiful. According to the

participants, although Pasifika women that feature on social media may not be classified as "beauty gurus", the stories, beauty tips and ideas they advocate resonated more with the participants' own beauty experiences than international celebrities. One participant agreed that Instagram is a platform she turns to for inspiration:

I follow plus size girls who I find an inspiration to my day to day life. One of the girls who I followed lost a lot of weight and she is very beautiful, and a lot of her followers were not happy with the fact she lost weight. They said that she is a traitor for losing weight, but she came out and responded to the criticism saying that she did it for the right reasons, for health reasons. (Participant 6)

This observation reveals that despite creating a safe space for female empowerment, beauty subjectivity is a personal journey where women can either choose to conform or resist. In this case, when physical transformations become evident in the celebrity or personality on social media, other women felt forsaken, highlighting the capacity for social media to facilitate a greater diversity of representation but not necessarily alleviate the social pressures of conforming to particular ideals or standards.

Many participants shared how encouraging it is to have Pasifika women influencers promoting issues and topics that are relatable. Here, one participant talked about how important it is to be proud of her heritage and her culture, especially those who have a lot of influence on the younger generation:

There is this Instagram influencer that I follow on Instagram. She is a plus size model, and she is amazing. She is Samoan and I like that she acknowledges her culture and she is proud of being Samoan. She advocates self-love and because it comes from a Pasifika woman, I admire that. (Participant 4)

According to two participants, Instagram shows potential for Pasifika women to showcase their beauty as it not only provides them the platform to be inspired by women who they can identify with, but also shows a promise for a greater diversity of representation than other forms of media, such as TV and magazines. The two participants also expressed how they were mostly concerned about the superficiality and extreme unrealistic beauty standards favoured in the mass media, and how it will affect those of the future generation than it does to them:

I have a lot of family in America and I think seeing their social media, they always post a lot of stuff about Black is beautiful and I would follow these beautiful light-skinned women on social media. They always talk about 'you need to deconstruct

your ideas of beauty and stop withholding European standards of beauty' and there was this whole discourse about it. When I saw them talking about it and saw how they had their hair the way I have my hair, their skin tone and the way they were confident about their body I think I started to get this idea that...'I may have grew up a certain way but I need to start deconstructing all these ideas. For instance, why did I try to be a brat (a term used for a child that is badly behaved) for so long? Imagine not knowing you are conditioned to think a certain way; how will you teach your children? Imagine telling your daughter her hair is beautiful the way it is, and she keeps saying otherwise. We really need to start deconstructing our ideas of beauty. (Participant 7)

This ties in with Poran's (2002) call for women of colour to deconstruct the socially constructed notions of beauty before it is too late. Some participants talked about how comfortable it can be to imitate or try to fit in with other cultures. In the excerpt below, a participant describes her response to some of the people she sees on social media:

I see so many of our girls [Pasifika young women] following big celebrities like Rihanna, Ciara and even Instagram model like Indie Love, Miranda Kerr and they try so hard to look like them. They would have pictures with layers of make-up trying to give that natural nude look and posting really bold captions like 'Baddie' which I think it is great, but it would have been so much more realistic if they did not have to spend hours putting layers of makeup and be somebody else on social media. Like what is wrong with being yourself, being different? (Participant 3)

According to Grau, Klesier and Bright (2019), social media can be addictive and it can be difficult to avoid especially in a contemporary society. For some of the participants, they have at least one or two people they idolise on social media. One participant shared how social media offers functionality for user-generated content that is attractive to a wider group of "followers":

Social media only gives you what you see. For example, Beyonce and Rihanna they are praised a lot on social media and all other media platforms but there is a strong emphasis of them on Instagram so in terms of beauty and who we look up to and inspired by? These are the only closest representation of brown beauty we [our Pasifika girls] get. (Participant 5)

However, she also feels that teaching self-care is a key that should be encouraged as it will help to better guide the younger Pacific generation, particularly when it comes to their culture and identity:

Also, teaching as well. I feel we do need to educate our younger girls as well. It will be nice to educate our younger Pasifika girls on the concept of beauty, the definition of a Pasifika Island woman because you never see that a lot and it is not

on any international platform at the moment. Hence, girls do not really know how to go about it so they will just be like 'oh I will look for the closest person that have similarities with me and that is Beyoncé and Rihanna. (Participant 5)

While Pasifika social media influencers help to minimise the negative ideals of beauty, they do not guarantee a complete desirable experience of beauty. Rather, it highlights that there is a slow but progressive movement among Pasifika women in terms of advocating for advancing Pacific beauty. While it can be acknowledged that social media provided Pasifika women an opportunity to depart from the socially constructed notion of "white beauty" through the influence of African celebrities such as Beyoncé and Rihanna, essentially the problem lies within these women being of non-Pasifika background. Therefore, experiences may differ from time to time. However, the overall point highlighted in this thesis is that social media is preferred over other media platforms as it allows for a more participatory approach and represents diverse women.

## 4.3 Theme Three: Race

Given the overall results of the Talanoa, much of the responses centred around the idea of race. Participants felt that their idea of beauty infrequently meets the equivalent of the perceived dominant standards. Furthermore, they find themselves victims of stereotypes and criticism. The third and final major theme explores the idea of race affected their beauty experiences and what factors of race-based identity contributed to that influence.

#### 4.3.1 Race

Beauty is perceived and practiced differently in many cultures. In some cultures, casual or natural looks may be the societal norm whereas in others, body jewellery is considered an artistic expression of beauty. Journalist Taube (2014) sent a photo of herself to graphic designers in more than 19 countries with a request to make her look "beautiful" however they may define the term. The results were a powerful representation of cultural bias with each photo displaying the personal and cultural beauty standards of the respective designer/s. In North American countries, blue eyes and long hair is considered beautiful whilst Europe and Asia countries added jewelleries and darkened her skin tone (Taube, 2014). In comparison to the Pasifika culture, the majority of the participants in this study stated, part of what defines beauty is being confident and natural in every being of your essence - appearance, personality and skills. Drawn from the Talanoa, one participant shared her feelings when it comes to people complimenting her beauty:

I feel like people put you in a category and try to say all these nice things like, you have such a nice brown skin colour and it makes me think...what does that mean? Is there a wrong shade of brown? (Participant 2)

Moran (2016), who cited the work of Kant states that beauty judgement is subjective to two senses; pleasure and objectivity, although he emphasized that "pleasure" in this context does not include the representation of an object. Objectivity in his interpretation refers to the idea of no preconceived concept rather, a genuine cognition of the subject. While beauty judgements, including compliments, are a common practice in social interactions and on social media, the complexity lies within the fact that racialisation seems practical amongst some women:

Sometimes I get told I have nice skin like nice brown skin but that is such a problematic thing to say and people do not realise that it is actually racist because you are comparing someone's skin tone to what they think is a nice colour. What if I was dark brown? Would they still have said those things?" (Participant 5)

Being brown skinned women in a white dominated space, the participants find themselves constantly battling with internalised racism. For these women they have exerted significant pressure on themselves in the process of attaining Western European features. For one participant, her background in education allowed her to view the world differently from her peers:

I think because I come from an art history background, [where] we study the female nude and different portraits, it makes you look at how artists have interpreted beauty. So much of it is like, "this is a beautiful woman... a portrait of a white, thin, cisgender woman", and it is like when they talk about classical beauty; it is always the small nose, high cheekbone, skinny body and they're always like..."oh it is not a race thing" but it always is — unconsciously it is. If you look like the blonde Grecian goddess, then you are beautiful and that is the European standards of beauty and if you do not look like that then you know [it is tough]. I specifically see so many different people as beautiful but I still think that society still privileges women who look like that and they are always going to have that beauty privilege attached to them, that a lot of our women do not. (Participant 1)

Often when beauty is discussed amongst participants, it draws attention to the importance of social status and how it is shaped by privileges that arise from standards of beauty. Some participants noted that social hierarchy as well as racialisation stems from criticism of visible and physical appearance; and expectations are generally based on these concepts. If deviate

from or not adhered to, results in the hatred for others or self-hatred. In one Talanoa, the participant described how internalised racism affected her perception of beauty:

I would always try and act so white in my actions, I would do everything in my power not to be considered Pasifika. The way I would speak, the things I was interested in, even to the point where people would be like, "oh are you Fijian?" And I would [say] no and they will be like "oh, are you Egyptian?" and I would say, "yes!" People would say comments like, "you are so smart, you are so white" and because you would get complimented on it you would [think] okay that is a good thing and you did not want to be considered [as a] brown girl. Even the group of friends I hung out with, I just wanted to hang with white girls and stuff and obviously a lot of these has stemmed from a lot of internalised stuff. (Participant 11)

It took a lot of courage for the participant to share this comment openly during the Talanoa and in doing so, she clearly demonstrated the influence and effects of "whiteness" on Pasifika women. Guess (2006) drew a similar conclusion, suggesting that society is to blame for the social standards that is prevalent today. She says everything that has happened in history has either been internationally generated or inadvertently left behind, assuming to be a reason for why internalised racism occur within society.

For some of the participants, attaining societal beauty standards is often problematic because of the belief that Pasifika women are naturally curvy, hence, they have to work twice as much as the "average person" to meet the standards. In one of the Talanoa, the participant described what it means to be a Pasifika woman in a westernised society:

I feel like it means working extra hard for what you want, [more] than the normal average person because of the stereotype that has been forced down on you. When people look at us, they already have an image of what we are like, so we have no choice but to break that cycle and to strive even harder. I guess that is where most of our girls go wrong because we are busy trying to achieve that standard that we forget our culture in the process. (Participant 3)

These issues are also reflected in Ahmed and Ahmed's (2012) work, who discusses the "invisibility of the whiteness". This concept highlights how whiteness is often treated as "invisible" or "hidden" in comparison to the "otherness" or women of colour. In a sense, it emphasizes the idea of colour being treated as abnormal next to white. In a society where multiculturalism and equality is expected, these Pasifika women still experience racialisation. In one Talanoa, the participant talked about how her perception of Pasifika women in New

Zealand motivates her to be culturally and educationally aware of her surroundings and those of others:

I know there is a big feminism movement and I think it is great that we are pushing women's equality and liberation. I just feel like, it needs to be more intersectional. I understand that women have been subordinate [in a] generally patriarchal society, but [as] Malcolm X said, "the most disrespected person in America is the black woman" and I feel like in our society the most disrespected person is the brown woman. She is always at the intersection of class, gender and race and she is always at the bottom and I feel like with a lot of the feminist movement, a lot of white women should understand the privilege that they have and how they are given opportunity and a platform and how they are perceived and they make sure that whatever they are doing, they let women of colour have their voice and not drown them out. (Participant 1)

Intersectionality is an issue that this participant highlighted and one that needs critical attention in the discussion of Pasifika women. Harvey (2005) also highlights that intersectionality helps us understand the way in which race, class and gender affect women and as such it can help women in privileged positions to understand the struggle that women of colour go through to be seen as equal. In highlighting this issue, an interesting conversation arose in the Talanoa where a participant talked about the idea of bearing mixed children. Evident here was the suggestion that mixed children are assumed to be cuter, prettier and more beautiful than single-ethnicity children. This perception is problematic as it suggests to brown women that full brown children are not as beautiful (Bland, 2017):

I think there is a subtle culturally racist thing [where] people fetishise half-caste children. Even in movies, I hear white women talking about having a brown baby daddy so they can have a cute half-caste baby... I think there is a really cultural thing about half caste children and biracial children and I think it can sometimes sexualise and fetishise [that identity] and I think that comes out [in] things like colourism and even some of the guys would be like, "oh you are one of the light skinned girls", like, "she is dark, but not too dark". That is really bad because there is a lot of dark brown skinned women who are beautiful. (Participant 4)

For most of the participants, being told they are "too pretty or too skinny for a brown girl" has become embedded in their minds to the extent that they become fixated on white beauty and are oblivious to its meaning. In one Talanoa, the participant shared her experience as a young Pasifika woman:

I think people think I am not supposed to be skinny or probably used to the stereotypes of Pacific Island culture that they always say stuff like, "you are so

skinny" or "oh you got that palangi size" and sometimes my cousins would tell me I eat like a palangi and I always think, "how am I supposed to eat?" (Participant 9)

This subtle discrimination of the female body is a prime example of how fixated people, just like the women represented in this study and the people they encounter, have become with perceived societal standards of beauty. Malik (1996) notes that it is important to understand that the results of our thoughts are an interrelation between humanity, society and nature and evident in this study, it is important to recognise that each participants have different experiences.

#### 4.3.2 Acculturation

In addition to the heightened experiences attributed to issues of race and racial identity, acculturation was found to be another factor contributing to the challenging experiences of the participants, particularly for those that migrated from one country to another and those who have close relationships with people identified as non-Pasifika. Chaker et al. (2015) discuss this concept in their research, stating that "greater mainstream acculturation contributes unique variance to lower levels of body esteem, internalisation of the thin ideal and greater perceived pressure to adhere to media's beauty standards" (p. 87). As introduced earlier in this chapter, most participants felt these changes occurred during high school, when friendships with peers were developing. In the excerpt below, one participant explained that her group of friends in high school were predominantly white students. As a result, she felt that the only option to fit in was to adapt herself to their standard:

I went to [school removed] and I remember a being in the one per cent of brown students there. I have friends who have grown up in [location removed] their whole lives and they have never interacted with a brown person at school, hence University is their first time ever to be in class with another brown person. In that case, I would always try and act white just in my actions, the way I speak, the things I am interested in. (Participant 1)

Interestingly, her experience is similar to another participant who shared that, as a half-caste student in a predominantly brown school, various factors such as her circle of friends, the environment, and her surroundings influenced her outlook on beauty. She reflected on this time, saying she despised being identified as a Pacific Islander because of the stigma and stereotypes that is attached to the culture. More so, she began to practice "being black" through the way she talks, how she performed beauty and the way she carried herself, eventually leading to her trying everything in her power to not be considered as a brown person:

When I was younger, I did not really accept who I was as a person even though I went to a predominantly multicultural school, with many of my friends being Islanders and other cultures. I did not like being a Pacific Island girl. For example, my friends were mainly Islanders and Africans but I did not feel like I fit in as my own self. I did not know, and it was not until I went to university that I started to realise, "am I acting a little different?" Like, "do I know my culture? Yes, we go to family meetings and Pasifika events but do I really know my culture?" I think it was not until my last year at university that I started to embrace my Pacific culture. I started wearing those Pacific Island garments half knowing what it meant and half beautifying it. (Participant 8)

This notion is also reflected in Weik's (2018) work, who comments that "beauty is as much a social as it is an individual phenomenon. It is anchored in the individual body but subject to socialisation, acculturation and discipline" (p. 5). Clearly, much of the participants' encounters are in one way or another influenced by their interaction with non-Pasifika communities and their exposure to non-Pasifika culture. Some participants expressed how they wished this would have been conveyed to them from an early age, to allow them to be more cautious and understanding that self-hatred can be a result of your surroundings and environment. In one Talanoa, the participant talked about her experience in this way:

When I was younger, I remember one of my cousins who I was close with was kind of exposed to the beauty pageant lifestyle so now thinking back, she would obviously have a different perception of beauty than mine. Her outlook of beauty was different from mine. I feel like she made me feel it was necessary to wear makeup every day and I had to be skinny, that I would have looked prettier with a short hairstyle and have my teeth ultra-white. We would play [with dolls] and she would often say comments such as, "you can be the ugly one and I will be the princess" because obviously, she is in the beauty pageant world and she judges beauty based on certain physical characteristics. But then growing up I got to learn more about what defines beauty. It is about being yourself, being different and being unique regardless. You do not have to change for anyone. (Participant 3)

Many participants have encountered challenges through migration, in the process of which acculturation became another challenge that would look into their perceptions of beauty. Many of these participants had to learn to embrace their beauty and identity when they were confronted with these issues. One participant explained how prevalent hair straightening is New Zealand, a practice she assumed was only common amongst women with curly hair:

When I think of the criticism they have towards my appearance and how I look I think it has good and bad impact because when I started my first job, I began

straightening my hair but gradually got tired of straightening all the time. I eventually started leaving my hair natural and I realised it is who I am and what defines me as me, and if they are going to tell me to tame it then I am going to have to say something. (Participant 2)

Evaluations of beauty are commonly based through the expression of physical appearance. Drawn from another participant's experience, women often compare one's appearances to the dominant ideologies of beauty; that if one can slightly resemble the features of white women, inevitably they are considered good looking or attractive. All too often there is an expression common in the Pasifika community to suggest that attractiveness is an exotic affair, that to say one is 'good looking' or 'attractive' is to embody or have traces of European features and this can range from skin complexion, to facial features, to body weight. According to Samovar et al. (2009), the "judgement of beauty across cultures is a perception that is ripe for ethnocentrism" (p. 252); in other words, the desire to look beautiful is associated with yearnings for western beauty. In spite of this, some participants felt their experiences differ from those of others, particularly participants who are half-caste, born and raised in Auckland New Zealand:

If you thought of a beautiful Samoan woman, you would not think of a half-caste woman. You would think of someone that is full Samoan. So I think with half-caste they kind of struggle to identify themselves as Samoan, because they [do not] necessarily have that look so obviously my skin tone is not as dark as a lot of Samoan women, so I cannot consider myself as a Samoan version of beautiful even though I know and understand the culture, language and customs." (Participant 3)

Half-caste Pasifika women often find themselves struggling to identify with their culture. This is due to lack of cultural knowledge as well as other factors contributed to the impact of cultural loss such as migration, technology evolution and acculturation. With reference to that, two of the participants who were born and raised in the Pacific Islands before migrating to New Zealand shared how migration tremendously changed their perception of beauty:

When I was younger, I grew up in Samoa for the first 15 years so we did not have straightener at the time, so my cousin would iron my hair. For the first time in my life people looked at me differently, complimenting my hair because it was straight and long. When I came to New Zealand I started to realise, "oh wow that is the standard here". (Participant 4)

For me the one experience I remember during high school was when I signed up to join the cheerleading team. In Fiji I was participating in school activities including cheerleading so it was one thing I wanted to explore when I attended school here.

What I did not know was that part of the requirement was you had to be fit and I mean fit, fit. You had to be stick thin and when they lifted me up they told me I [was] too heavy and that I needed to lose weight in order for them to lift me up. I started dieting, training and limiting the amount of food intake even though I was at my skinniest. I think that for me was the most pressured I have [been]. (Participant 6)

While beauty ideals may arguably be an issue that varies across cultures and time, this study examined the process of acculturation on perceiving body image. It follows that acculturation has a significant impact on these participants' experiences. While some participants were able to reflect on these issues at early times, majority of them found it difficult to break away from the constructed notion of beauty.

### 4.4 Conclusion

The outcomes of this findings chapter highlighted various factors which have contributed to the beauty experiences of the participants. Organised thematically, these findings emphasise that the relationships Pasifika women hold with their families and peers are powerful influences on their understanding of beauty and their wider sense of self in their communities. Social relationships emerged as an important factor in Talanoa, which suggest that the direct influence of others on these participants has a high risk of negatively influencing their overall experiences. In particular, peer pressure was heightened during adolescence and occurred more frequently in high school. Since vulnerability often occurs during adolescence, women take years to regain self-confidence and understanding of how to deal with beauty ideologies projected onto them (Vogt Yuan, 2009). However, with the overall findings, it shows that even through obstacles and challenges, these participants were still capable of reflecting on and learning from these early experiences.

Family and friends seem to also have played a central role in influencing the participants' experiences. While approaches vary greatly from one family to another, the data suggests that family interactions, such as mother and daughter communication, is vital in developing the beauty experiences of Pasifika women. This is particularly critical when women are in a society where it is hard to unbridle themselves from the constructed ideologies of beauty. More importantly, the findings have suggested that having a supportive system at home helps to sustain and maintain self-acceptance and encourage self-confidence.

As expected, media was another key important area that influenced participants' beauty experiences. Influential media forms included TV programmes to social media and media in general. Evident in the findings was that, although media has a way of bombarding their audience with information and ideologies, people have control over their media consumption, which suggests how people are vulnerable when it comes to media consumption. To many of these participants, beauty is not the reality but the fantasy they consume through the media.

Race was the third major theme that was consistently addressed by the participants in relation to their perception of beauty or attractiveness and their social experiences. Rather than overt, internalised racism played a significant role in influencing the behaviour and attitudes of the participants throughout their formative years. As the women grew older, they started to embrace their beauty and identity as Pasifika women. This has led to a greater sense of belonging and a sense of their own culture as they learn to deal with criticism and stereotypes stemming from the dominance of Western ideologies.

For some of the participants, the act of acculturation was a key feature of their early experiences in new communities, often as a result of migrating from the Islands to New Zealand and forming relationships with non-Pasifika peers during high school. The idea of acculturation prompted the participants to consider how their experiences would have differed had they understood the personal impact sooner. They would have sought more guidance on how to handle the struggle of articulating identity and the theme of wishing to support or assist a younger generation of Pasifika women was mentioned repeatedly throughout the Talanoa sessions.

### 5. DISCUSSION

This study examines the ways in which Pasifika women experience beauty, looking at how they integrate communicated notions of beauty into their everyday lives. It offers a new level of understanding as to how Pasifika women internalise beauty, bringing forward issues such as the concept of whiteness and racialisation of non-western women that tends to go unnoticed, particularly from a Pasifika woman's perspective. The role of media emerged as a recurring theme during the Talanoa with the participants of this study. There was significant concern about a lack of Pacific representation on mainstream media platforms and the effect it is having on young Pasifika women. The impact of the media on the understanding and representation of beauty has been studied extensively elsewhere (Foo & Johnson, 2010; Harris-Moore, 2016) and the common findings are that the idea of beauty is presented as an accompaniment to notions of power, wealth and love. During most discussions, the communication of beauty ideals through media platforms was seen to contribute negatively to the participant's perceptions of beauty, and there was recognition that beauty is constructed in an unequal society. As such, this study confirms the apparent ideological function of communicated notions of beauty.

The majority of women participants in this study acknowledged the pressure they endure in order to fit within the criterion of what society defines as beautiful. As Yan and Bissell (2014) explain, "the media portrays attractive people as far more desirable, credible and a source of inspiration for others" (p. 195). Women who do not feel they fit in are pressured to embody the same standards of beauty. Moreover, the findings of this study suggest that reinforcement from friends and family contributes both positively and negatively to how young Pasifika women perceive beauty. Critical to this study is that, although unfavourable remarks from friends and family can be daunting, most participants see it as a form of constructive criticism that should be taken as a learning opportunity to change what needs changed, for the betterment of their physical health. More so, it also highlights that the communication of certain beauty standards or expectations is as much a part of intimate, familiar interaction as it is a result of mass media communication and corporate interest. The findings show that the support of their loved ones is essential for Pasifika women, as very limited representation is available for Pasifika women in mainstream media. This chapter will reflect on how the summary highlighted in this study aligns with the findings from existing research.

# 5.1 Pasifika women and perceptions of beauty

There is a common understanding amongst the participants that contemporary notions of beauty lie within the physical characteristics of the woman in question. That, if her physical appearance appeals to the majority of a population, it may be considered the closest illustration of beauty standards in that society. As Suaalii (1997; Jones, Herda and Suaalii, 2000) discussed in reference to Pasifika women being labelled as 'exotic', the influence of "white consumption and eurocentric desires of white male[s]" (p. 93) diminishes the status of Pasifika women. Extending from this observation, 'orientalism' provides both a theoretical and a practical tool, which can further illuminate the way the term 'exotic' is defined within this context. It is argued here, that the expectations and ideals of beauty motivated by the commercial industry and imposed upon Pasifika women, function through an orientalist trope. According to Said (1980, cited in Quinn, 2017) Orientalism focuses on understanding the West as hegemony and anything outside of that as "other". In Suaalii's (cited in Jones et al., 2000, p. 95) work she explains though the term 'exotic' was used to describe the tropical settings of the Pacific Islands, the images of Pasifika women became a manifestation of pleasure for the white male gaze. Although seemingly contradicting to how Pasifika women were classified at the time – "savage and different" (p. 95) – there was a strong suggestion that Pasifika women were seen as both sensual and savage 'others' to the West, through the depiction of Pasifika women in Western magazines. Such depiction were of women being photographed partly naked in the garden/forest with flowers in their hair. This depiction of beauty not only introduced the western ideology of beauty, but also captured the "double marginalisation" (Jones, Herda, & Sualii, 2000, p. 95) of Pasifika women. In this study, the concept of double marginalisation is still evident in today's society in relation to Pasifika women. One participant shared how others often label her as exotic looking, a reference she understood to hold significant value to the Eurocentric ideology of western beauty. As physical appearance has become increasingly important in the everyday lives of women, many often find themselves trapped in a cycle of constant adjustment, fixing and enhancement of their feature. As Wolf (2015) noted, women are often trapped in a desperate cycle of compulsive malnourishment and exercising routines in an attempt to achieve societal beauty standards. It also follows that the constant striving for the perfect body is prevalent amongst women; and for some of the participants in this study, there is a shared believe that if the ultimate standards of beauty were achieved, they would be rewarded by the social capital of acceptance.

The recognition and interpretation of beauty that occurred in this study also emphasised the role of the cultural perspective - that to define beauty is to first look within the inner beauty of the woman and her heritage. This was also highlighted in the Talanoa where participants expressed the belief that the identity of a Pasifika woman not only represents herself but her family and ancestors. While historically, scholars have debated whether beauty can be considered as either objective or subjective, in recent years the concepts have become more explicitly concerned with its subjectivity. Most of the participants acknowledged that there is high representation of "white beauty" in society and very little emphasis on Pasifika women's identity. In a country which encompasses 50.9% of the Pasifika women living in New Zealand (Stats NZ Aotearoa Tataranga Aotearoa, 2013), there is a lack of Pasifika representation in the fashion and beauty industry as well as the mainstream media as a whole. From a cross-cultural perspective, the western population heavily influences the concept of beauty and understandably, many of the younger Pasifika women are subject to a hegemonic ideology. The concept of hegemony in this context implies a way that coerces one to act a certain way. This understanding of beauty is consistent with Gramsci's (cited in Amigo et al., 2016) conceptualisation of hegemony - that through the influence of western beliefs, values and cultures, the western perspective inevitably becomes a worldview where everyone ultimately abides by.

This manifestation of beauty in society has generated pressure for women of colour to respond to certain ideals or standards. Although social media offers an improvement that other media platform fail to provide, it does not guarantee that the prevalence of western beauty ideals will decrease. Rather, it suggests that Pasifika women will likely have to deal with multiple challenges but ensure a more effective way of how to better navigate those social perceptions of beauty. It follows that, being light-skinned, tall, slim with skinny body is what the majority of women - and men - glorify in today's society. As such, there was a clear analysis that emerged from the data that concepts of beauty were influenced by western ideals were common amongst the participants. In a society, that supposedly embraces diversity and the beauty of other cultures, for women of colour the reality of marginalisation continues to remain evident in large parts of the country. Wolf (2015) adds that there is a beauty myth that tells a story: universally, beauty exists and women must want to embody it. In return, men must want women who embody those qualities. This notion is much more important for women than men as it is natural, sensual and evolutional. "Strong men fight for beautiful women and beautiful

women are more reproductively successful" (p. 5). Wolf (2015) emphasizes that this notion of beauty is untrue and discriminatory against women. She believes that just like old times, beauty is determined by social norms. For many women, beauty exists as a series of social standards and there is a common understanding that beauty has become explicitly linked to sexuality: that for women to be considered beautiful and attractive requires them to embody beauty, and consequently men would want women who possess beauty. Having looked at how beauty is examined in this study, Festinger's (1954, cited in David, Boyne & German, 2009) Social Comparison Theory (SCT) can be used to emphasize that women tend to compare and evaluate themselves against other women. SCT determines that "the more similar the target of comparison is to the individual, and the less objective the standards for the domain is, the stronger the drive for the individual to socially compare with that target" (Luong, Knobloch-Westerwick, & Niewiesk, 2018. p, 2). With regard to the findings of this study, most participants acknowledged that social comparison was a common practice when they were younger, particularly during adolescence when they had the constant need to compare their faces and bodies to those of the same-sex, which often resulted in a loss of self-esteem and negative self-evaluations. Although this social practice was common during their teenage years, the majority of these participants were subsequently able to recognise those imbalances and were able to re-evaluate their way of analysing beauty.

In analysing the identity of Pasifika women in this study, it became apparent that the support of family and loved ones plays a pivotal role in supporting the participants' experiences and understanding of beauty. Most participants acknowledged that, although negative beauty-related comments were common at home, some considered it more of a constructive criticism rather than a condemnation. Those who struggled to apprehend the positive effect of such comments, would often confine in their aunties or other close family female figures. This study reveals that, despite the complicated balance between being constructive and being positively encouraging, the overall benefit is that it teaches the values of being strong, secure and confident. Similar to any other type of encouragement, it involves challenges, mutual agreement, unity and adjustment. This type of support is in line with what Taniguchi and Thompson (2015) describe as the importance of mother and daughter communication. In their work, mothers emerged as influential figures in their daughters' lives and as such, their motherly advice was seen as an important part of that relationship. Taniguchi and Thompson (2015) modelled their studies on Mallinckrodt, McCreary, and Robertson's (cited in Taniguchi

& Thompson, 2015) Dysfunctional Family Environment model which suggests that dysfunctional family dynamics are in prime position of causing insecurity amongst children. As such, leading to their shortfall in social competencies which can negatively impact their interpersonal relationship skills in adulthood. In cases where shortfall occurs, many young women struggle with limited social skills and experience difficulty gathering social support from interpersonal relationships and thus are more vulnerable to the impact of social expectations (Taniguchi & Thompson, 2015, p. 411). The importance of analysing this model is essential to how participants in this study experience body criticism and negative observations. This type of communication is important as it assists in mending negative social impact, and it also helps young Pasifika women build positive and strong perception on how they can observe their surroundings and the ideas presented to them.

The lack of Pasifika beauty representation in the media was evident in this study. For a majority of the participants, it took knowing what is considered socially acceptable to realise that these social norms are the reasons that hinder them from embracing their own natural beauty. As noted in the previous chapters, there is a significant lack of representation of Pasifika women in mainstream magazines. Further analysis found that the representation of a white cisgender woman is featured in almost every article. Reiterating one participant's observation, the lack of diverse representation not only speaks for the reality many women of colour encounter, but also manifests the idea of whiteness as a beauty standard. Regardless of the existence of local Pasifika magazines that may feature representations of Pasifika beauty ideals, many participants were concerned about the lack of representation in mainstream magazines that cater for the majority of the New Zealand population. It perpetuates the idea of a domination work against meaningful diversity.

# 5.2 The role and influence of media on beauty notions amongst Pasifika women

The controversy around beauty conveyed in this study is rooted in an apparent lack of diversity and representation in the media. Traditionally, representations of beauty in the media were exclusively embodied by western women (Adams & Adams, 2015). However, in recent years, other representations of beauty have begun to appear and for a while, beauty brands began to embrace values of diversity and inclusiveness. This study reveals that diversity remains a key concern when it comes to the marketing and representation of beauty ideals. The participants largely identified that the media and much of society still adhere to standards in

which white attributes are considered the benchmark for beauty. For these participants, each had a story of how they encountered and dealt with the lack of representation in these contexts. For some, they recalled how the notion of beauty perpetuated by the media made them feel insecure about their physical appearance. Some participants despised their body image; others fancied the idea of having a light skin complexion and others wanted to be thin and feel accepted:

Thinking back now, I hated the way I looked. I used to dream of having the perfect skin with the perfect smile wishing I looked more like these [actresses on Disney channel] then, as I got older I realised it is what you see on TV. (Participant 8)

The depiction of beauty in the media is so extensively controlled and constructed, that many young Pasifika women often embody them. Berman and White (2013), who studied the role of media played in fostering cultural norms, found that media plays a significant part in altering the attitudes, self-esteem and perception of young adults. Their study suggests that the development of media literacy skills among young people would be crucial in helping them gain the sense of self to be conscious in a world where "pervasive and unrealistic media fantasy is delivered in a multiplicity of forms" (Berman & White, 2013, p. 38). Media literacy is a complex concept that takes into account the development of "higher order thinking skills such as media messaging, writing and critical thinking skills" (Berman & White, 2013, p. 39). It also involves the decoding of media messages, target audiences and production techniques. In light of this, the findings of this study revealed that participants wished for young Pasifika women to become media literate to assist them in understanding the notions of beauty and navigating adolescence. Participants were hopeful that education and support at home may help young people understand that media content is a product that often skews the representation of reality and it should not necessarily be emulated or adhered to.

Verdugo and Fierro (2014) offer similar insight, stating that the media offers a distorted representation of reality and as a result, our consciousness becomes vulnerable to its influence. For the most part, this present study highlights that Pasifika women in New Zealand have great concern for the welfare of the younger generation with regard to their ability to deal with hegemonic beauty ideology. Schefer (1997) similarly identified that beauty nowadays has become more complex than ever before and that, even though beauty may not be significant for everyone, it still affects how we, as people, live our everyday lives. As people, there is a

sense of acceptance that our consciousness has become invested in mass media and the social ideologies that it bears. With beauty standards being a huge concern in this study, the role of media certainly plays a part in the production. The perceived lack of Pasifika women in mainstream media highlights two concerns; that the fashion and beauty industry needs to reconsider their response to challenges of diversity, and that Pasifika women should feel encouraged to address the way they interpret beauty on a larger scale. Not only will their voices help break barriers for a younger Pacific population but also serve as a form of inspiration. At the level of interaction between the researcher and participants, this aspiration is validating of the purpose of this study.

The use of social media emerged as another form of communication participants use to interact and communicate beauty ideas. It follows that Instagram was a preferred media platform (when compared or contrasted with TV and magazines) for many of the participants because there is greater representation of Pasifika women advocating for their own identity, and therefore beauty, which the participants could relate to. Instagram is a prominent vehicle for fashion, design and beauty brands. It often targets women to purchase their brands and products and it is convenient for users to share built-in filtered photos. What occurs is that most of these images are altered, which places an extreme emphasis on how these women look. However, participants in this study commented that they mostly follow women on Instagram who highlight their Pasifika heritage. Participants further suggested that seeing content made by Pasifika women on a public platform such as Instagram makes them feel proud of their own Pasifika identity and that such visibility promotes love for one's own skin and encourages others to embrace their individuality. This strategy is in line with many of the participants' experiences and their definitions of beauty as conveyed during the Talanoa conducted for this study. McKeown, Dupre, Andelic and Morrison's (2018) found that sharing personal content via social media can "facilitate a strong bond forming between peers" (p. 665). A suggestion from participants was that this type of social media participation helps encourage the expression of feelings and emotions that others may be able to learn from or use for motivation purposes. To most of these participants, their curvaceous body has been a significant part of their identity and in a society that they feel privileges thin women, having alternative inspiration through a platform like Instagram helps them feel confident in their own body.

# 5.3 Race and ethnicity in relation to Pasifika women's beauty

Having looked at how race is discussed within this study, there is a strong impression of how it was used to measure one's physical appearance. As if being a woman of colour was not difficult enough, participants' stories also expressed the perception that racist ideologies were often reinforced upon them. It follows that for women of colour to be considered as beautiful by the mainstream, they can be brown but not too brown or look white but not too white. This illustrates the complicated balance between notions of "whiteness" and "exotic" and raises the question as to whether white women feel the same way about being white with racist ideologies being reinforced upon them. One participant shared how a compliment from another Pasifika woman made her question her perception of beauty and the way beauty is perceived overall. After being told she was "too pretty" for a brown girl she started to wonder why her race or ethnicity was made to seem problematic against her physical appearance. Evident in this example is a true representation of how beauty is ascribed racist ideologies. It communicates the idea that to be beautiful one must look and act a certain way but that this is directly linked to the colour of their skin or the shape and size of their physical features. Participants expressed the believe that these kinds of experiences explain why there is an increase in Pasifika women adopting the dominant ideals of beauty as doing that minimises the chances of being racially stereotyped and increases their desire for changes.

Since the notion of beauty is the focus of this study, participants' contributions were also examined with regard to their experiences of race and how it affected the beauty experience as Pasifika women. The term race in this context was used to identify how influential western popular culture shifts the perception of Pasifika women and to what degree it shifts their beauty experiences. It follows that the reality of being a brown Pasifika woman, albeit in a declared multicultural society, still leads to encounters of racism on an everyday basis. Race was an important factor in this study because not only did it highlight the reality of a culturally diverse society, but also brought together the idea that Western beauty ideals is still dominates New Zealand culture, which has serious implication for how Pasifika women understand social justice, racialisation and class structure. With a focus on beauty advertisements, modelling figures – mannequins, wigs etc. - clothing brands and beauty products, all these features constitute a new thinking structure on how they communicate beauty, and it raises questions about race hierarchy and colonialism. This is also reflected in Malik's (1996) work who noted that 'race has been an interesting factor in relation to beauty,

it has shaped so much of our lives and it continues to rank people's social status, physical appearance, fashion sense, according to their race' (p. 2). This view is in line with one participant's experience at art class. She spoke of how classical beauty is taught in a way where female nude is shown in art portraits. The purpose is to reiterate how each portrait is a representation of each artist's interpretation of beauty. She noted that although her point may not seem critical to others, she believe that subconsciously, this way of teaching promotes the western idea of beauty. That if one can look like the [Grecian goddess] they are going to have that beauty privilege attached to them and society will always privilege those who look like that. This is also in line with Hall's (2018) conceptualisation of what he believes to be an implicit racism.

Racist beauty ideologies often appear in places that lack diversity. In light of this, the participants stated that attending an "all-white high school" not only made it difficult to feel a sense of belonging, but also meant encountering differences in values and beliefs. As being in a white dominated space can be challenging, these participants revealed that friendship is generally determined by the similarity of the attitudes and behaviour. It suggests that their idea of beauty starts to merge with the standards of the dominant culture to the point of manifesting westernised beauty ideals. De Casanova (2004) referred to this as the 'whitening of the population' (p. 291), meaning that we all become white when we accept the goals of national culture (Stutzman, as cited in Casanova, 2004).

### **5.4 Conclusion**

Beauty as a concept has affected the way we see others and the way we perceive ourselves. Women nowadays are continuously bombarded with different ways of how to look and how to feel. Since media plays a central role in how beauty is communicated to the public, there is strong suggestion that biased portrayals of beauty are not only towards Pasifika women but also on a global scale. The growing concern is that many of these young women are constantly striving to achieve western ideas of beauty. Many of these participants are blaming this development on the over promotion of beauty in the mainstream media This study also noted that there is lack of diversity in the mainstream media with a regard to the representation of Pasifika beauty.

Family support and motherly advice was seen as another influential figure. It follows that many of these young participants feel empowered when mother-daughter communication is encouraged. While unrealistic and negative beauty standards is monetised through various platforms, participants stated they found courage and strength through the support of their loved ones. Interestingly, engaging in a spiritual relationship with God emerged as a coping mechanism for some women. This suggests that to find peace and comfort within one's own natural beauty, one must seek the guidance of God. This was found to be a common factor amongst some participants.

Race differences had also become a central theme in this study. It appears that in multicultural environments with cultural groups of different sizes, one particular culture can sometimes end up overpowering the others. This cultural dominance and cultural control can even be found in friendships, especially when the friendships is of two different race. Many participants commented that most of their early encounters with racism took place during high school years. The critiquing of one's beauty was a common practice, where the majority of these participants did not realise the significance of these evaluations. With awareness, many of these participants nowadays have more understanding of beauty and the power it has to change one's perceptions of themselves.

### 6. CONCLUSION

Various factors were identified to constitute much of the contemporary beauty ideals and the lived experiences of the participants. The data presented in this study suggest that constant pressure to conform to societal standards that reflect social advantages were prevalent amongst the Pasifika women involved in the research. The core of the problem lies within society not addressing the degree of bias within beauty messages, that, when left unaddressed, leaves women of colour to feel subjugated to the westernised normativity of beauty (Bryant, 2013). Many scholars (Delgado, Stefancic, Harris, 2017; Reece, 2018; cooper, Nwadike, & Macaulay, 2017) emphasise that to understand the complexity of these prejudices, we must first challenge the power structure within the beauty industry. To some extent, black women have challenged the power structures within the beauty industry by celebrating the idea that "black is beautiful" (Ford, 2012, p. 2); a movement that strived to empower black women to address inequality and embrace their natural beauty. This thesis was motivated to study the experiences of Pasifika women, who are less likely included in the black and whiteness discourse. The study has offered a representative view of how Pasifika women understand the communication of beauty ideals in a contemporary society. The thesis has also provided insights to the participants' experiences, with an emphasis on several contributing factors, which have become the relevant sites for the women's negotiated perceptions of "beauty".

The Talanoa that serve as the foundations of this study were conducted to determine how the understanding and experiences of Pasifika women explain the impact and negotiation of beauty messages. It revealed that platforms such as television and social media have the power to alter female perceptions even at a young age. More significantly, the use of social media has provided women some accessibility to regain control of the social perceptions that are deemed "standards" in society, by advocating for and promoting realistic beauty standards of Pasifika beauty. From the Talanoa, key themes emerged, such as the influence of social relationships and the impact of racial difference in distinguishing and negotiating beauty standards. It was revealed that racial differences amongst women can often be the cause of what generates a negative experience and perception of their own beauty or appearance. Given these findings, it became evident that fostering of good relationships at home helps to balance the negative standards of beauty that are placed upon women in the wider society. However, the primary concern evident in this study was the lack of diverse representation in the

communication and promotion of beauty. This conclusion chapter presents an overview of the overall thesis along with concluding remarks in conjunction with the findings. It also provides a summary of the study's limitations and makes some recommendations for future studies.

# 6.1 Summary of key findings

The main objectives of this study were to examine the experiences and perspectives of Pasifika women and their understanding of the communication of beauty messages. The significance of studying this subject is to assist in understanding how Pasifika women interpret the conceptualisation of beauty and the impact it has on their own self-confidence, self-esteem and their identity. The literature review, presented earlier in this thesis, highlighted that there were discourses concerning the normalisation of whiteness, related to the impact of westernised beauty on non-white, non-western women. Existing studies also detailed how the reclamation of beauty by African Americans since the civil rights movement was as a response that many women of colour went through for social change. As Yerima (2017) noted, for years women of colour have had roles ascribed to them by society, which is why exploring their own stories enables us to gain a greater understanding of how women of colour have navigated challenges to their identity. Subsequently, the literature review also introduced the impact of western ideals on the well-being of Pasifika women, setting the scene for the qualitative study presented here.

Given the overall thesis, it was important to identify the constructed ideology of beauty, finding that whiteness and western ideology is still privileged, holding significant value when it comes to the practice of beauty. In the same way that society privileges whiteness, mainstream media homogenises this notion of beauty and raising concerns towards media exposure and consumption by young women. The influence of both television and social media platforms on the participants of this study was also found to be only one facet of a bigger issue. While mainstream media were believed to the main influence, comments from friends and family were also found impactful in how these participants perceive beauty. These outcomes of the thesis are summaries in greater detail below.

The overall findings of the study highlight that television content was seen by the participants as having the highest capacity to produce unrealistic beauty standards. This was also understood as generic standards that society has held for many years, but leading to a long-

term negative effect due to the prejudice it promotes. This was evident in the experiences of the participants in this study and as Verdugo and Fierros (2014) noted, the media offers perfect imaginations of the real world and as a result, we often find it difficult to disconnect reality from the virtual realm. While the media has always been a relatively well-researched factor in relation to notions of beauty (Silverstein et al., 1986) this thesis focused on the lack of diverse representation of Pasifika women in the promotion of beauty, in a contemporary multi-cultural society. Although social media was understood to generate the same negative impact as other media platforms, the accessibility and participatory features of social media were seen to put users in greater control of generating beauty standards or ideals. A large number of the participants were aware of this advantage and some of them still favoured the influence of social media, despite general concerns over media influence, due to the similarity and compatibility they have with users or influencers that advocate for the beauty of Pasifika women.

# 6.1.1 Impact of racial stereotype

Considering how race was discussed in this thesis, racial stereotyping was still evident in the discussion of black women in the literature review. For years, women of colour fought injustice and oppression for social change and although some progress has been made, in reality every time there was a great push for women's right, there was always some ideal that arose to deter their energies, making it difficult for them to get very far (Wolf, 2015). For instance, skin colour has been discussed in this thesis as a beauty marker and women of colour have fought against this stereotype. In this study, it appears as though Pasifika women are experiencing racialisation against their physical features. In contemporary society, racial stereotypes live on in the minds of many people in both subtle and sophisticated ways. These include the negative perceptions of hair texture, the calling into question of women's multicultural identity and racial stereotype to name a few. Although much has changed in recent years, this racial stereotype against women of colour to some extent still prevails in many parts of society. For Pasifika women, the burden has been far less extreme in these areas as their experiences of beauty relates more to a race-based identity and concern with physical characteristics, which differentiates them from white and black women.

# 6.1.2 Impact of social relationships

The participants in this study recognised the importance of building positive relationships with friends, family and their wider community. While family members may be a positive influence in promoting self-confidence, they can also be the cause of negative influence on one's perception. Many women identified school as a place where their ideas and attitudes were often influenced by the perceptions of others, while others identified home as a place where support can be complicated by frank criticism or demeaning humour. This study revealed that for most participants, the perceived benefit of compliments from family and friends holds significant value in the way they navigate ideas of beauty. It enables them to feel a sense of confidence in their physical appearance, enough to experience comfort and high self-esteem in themselves. However, individuals may have different styles of interaction however, the most important stage in this process is that when young women will be exposed to different pressures outside of home, experiences in the home often make much greater impact on the perceptions of young women, outweighing the social stigma outside of home.

# 6.1.3 To understand the impact of whiteness in developing self-confidence

The study of whiteness in this thesis challenges western ideologies of beauty. It examines the way society privileges whiteness and deconstructs its function as a normative ideology. For years, the notion of whiteness serves as an ideal for women and consequently, many women of colour wanted to attain these standards of beauty. Today, there is a stronger dialogue regarding the role of whiteness and its impact on women of colour, however, this thesis was still concerned that Pasifika women remain largely excluded from this discourse. According to the findings, while the role of whiteness can create a strong awareness of what society privileges in terms of beauty, fostering positive communication about the notion of beauty at home was highlighted as a way that could provide better understanding for younger Pasifika women on how to deal with social standards.

# 6.1.4 Understanding racial difference, beauty and diversity

The discussion of race in the thesis looked at the prevalence of whiteness as an ideology and a solution as well as the notable resistance of "black is beauty". It also examines the way in which women of colour strive to overcome the lack of diversity in the beauty industry, particularly when it comes to their own sense of self. Existing studies found that women who lack pride in being a woman of colour tend to conform to westernised beauty standards. At the same time, women who have a well-grounded understanding of their racial and cultural

background are able to resist mainstream beauty standards and embrace their own identity in an effort to celebrate black beauty. There was a time when black women were not able to celebrate the natural beauty of their body, hair, and skin colour; the studies cited in this thesis revealed that black women are now more responsive with greater purpose. There is still lack of diversity when it comes to beauty products and the appreciation of black beauty. For years the focus has always been on western beauty and in order for progress to occur, women of colour need to continue being vocal about these issues. As Aduonum (2004) explains, if black women do not speak now they will risk going through the same struggle they went through for social change.

#### 6.2 Recommendations

While this study has acknowledged the representation of Pasifika women in the communication of beauty, it also recognises the potential of exploring the perspectives of women who advocate for advancing Pasifika beauty. The extension of this exploration to include those who are actively engaging in promoting and advocating for Pasifika women's beauty as new ideas and information may trigger an interest in other possible areas. The suggestion acknowledges that while ordinary people will likely speak about their experiences, advocates tend to bring expertise, knowledge, and new information that normal people would not generally recognise. In addition to that, the hypothesis reveals that while personal experiences are beneficial to the overall study, advocates, due to their commitment and familiarity with such issues, can provide valuable information that are intended to seek justice and equality in these concerned areas.

Conducting a Talanoa with other ethnic groups is another possibility to build from this study. While the primary integration of Talanoa was with Pasifika women only, it would be valuable to understand how the outcomes would change if a Pacific method of talanoa were applied to a similar study with other ethnic groups. In much of the literature, Talanoa is a culturally unique method of collecting data and one that is prominent in Pacific studies. While its use in this study was successful in gathering deep and personal experiences of Pasifika women, it may be similarly useful for examining the experiences of non-Pasifika women. While this notion may break the tradition of Talanoa, it will help towards understanding shared experiences and valuing Pasifika knowledge systems.

This study could also be extended to include the experiences of other gender groups such as men and those that identify with the Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Queer and Transgender (LGBQT) communities. The point is that, although the examination of beauty in this study focused primarily on women, it also considers how beauty messages can affect people of different race, class and genders in a way that is not just applicable to women.

#### 6.3 Limitations

The major limitations in this study extends beyond its feasibility constraints nature. Since this study involved the use of Talanoa, the process of data gathering was time consuming and as such, this study was more focused on depth over breadth. Due to the limited time available to complete this study, the data collected from the 12 participants involved was somewhat influenced by concerns of feasibility within the data gathering period. While the sample size was achievable for this study, it is important to note that the results of this study do not constitute a representative majority of Pasifika women. While the use of Talanoa was valuable in this study, there is no guarantee that each participant shared their experiences accurately, but they were able to volunteer their narrative in an environment that responded to their cultural values. Evident in each Talanoa was the authenticity and sensitivity of their stories, which indicated the intensity of their experiences.

While every effort was made to ensure this thesis addresses all Pasifika women, location also played a role in its limitations. Since Auckland is known to be home to a large percentage of the global Pacific Island population, this study was comfortable focusing primarily on Pasifika women residing within the Auckland region. However, it would also be meaningful to extend the study to women located in the Pacific Islands, perhaps as indigenous peoples. Seeing that participants in this study revealed the experiences of Pasifika women in foreign countries, it would be worth exploring if those women who have remained in the Pacific Islands have their own unique experiences. It also suggests that perceptions of Pasifika women who moved from the Pacific Islands to other countries such as Australia, United States and other distant countries, are also likely to vary with the perceptions of beauty compared to those involved in this study.

Although moderately small in scope, this study revealed some areas worthy of further analysis. The age range of the participants was from 20 - 30 years old, which was decided

based on the researcher's own identity. However, after finalising and executing the recruitment process it was clear that women outside of the age bracket were interested to participate in this study, too. It is therefore suggested, that for future studies, it would be interesting to explore the experiences of the older generations who are arguably more experienced and knowledgeable. While limitations exist within this study, there is great confidence that the overall efforts taken to complete this study provides greater insights into some of the issues Pasifika women deal with on a daily basis.

# **Reference List**

- Adams, C., & Adams, T. (2015). Female Beauty Systems: Beauty as Social Capital in Western Europe and the United States, Middle Ages to the Present. Retrieved from <a href="http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/aut/detail.action?docID=4534697">http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/aut/detail.action?docID=4534697</a>
- Aduonum, A. O. (2004). Buwumu: Redefining Black Beauty and Emancipating the Hottentot Venus in the Work of Oforiwaa Aduonum. *Women's Studies*, *33*(3), 279–298. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/00497870490430915">https://doi.org/10.1080/00497870490430915</a>
- Amigo, B., Cecilia Bravo, M., Sécail, C., Lefébure, P., & Borrell, A. (2016). Television, diversity and cultural hegemony: A comparative study of the dominant ethnic stereotypes in the television systems of Chile and France. *Televisión, Diversidad y Hegemonía Cultural: Un Estudio Comparado de Los Estereotipos Étnicos Dominantes En Los Sistemas Televisivos de Chile y Francia.*, (39), 151–164. <a href="https://doi.org/10.7764/cdi.39.754">https://doi.org/10.7764/cdi.39.754</a>
- Amos, Timothy D. "The Subaltern Subject and Early Modern Taxonomies: Indianisation and Racialisation of the Japanese Outcaste." *Asian Studies Review* 41, no. 4 (October 2, 2017): 577–93. doi:10.1080/10357823.2017.1365816.
- Ahmed, Sara, and Ahmed Ahmed. *On Being Included: Racism and Diversity in Institutional Life*. Durham, UNITED STATES: Duke University Press, 2012. http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/aut/detail.action?docID=1173269.
- Asante, G. (2016). Glocalized whiteness: Sustaining and reproducing whiteness through "skin toning" in post-colonial Ghana. *Journal of International and Intercultural Communication*, 9(2), 87-103. doi:10.1080/17513057.2016.1154184
- Barber, M. (2016, September 16). Afro Spring Raises Awareness of Black Identity and Black Beauty in Rio. Retrieved July 3, 2019, from <a href="https://www.rioonwatch.org/?p=32774">https://www.rioonwatch.org/?p=32774</a>
- Bajak, A. (2019, May 14). Modeling networked media: Diagrams and graphics in John

  Wihbey's The Social Fact. Retrieved 3 November 2019, from Storybench website:

  <a href="http://www.storybench.org/modeling-networked-media-diagrams-and-graphics-in-john-wihbeys-the-social-fact/">http://www.storybench.org/modeling-networked-media-diagrams-and-graphics-in-john-wihbeys-the-social-fact/</a>
- Beech, D. (2007). The Politics of Beauty. *Art Monthly*, (306), 5–8. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aft&AN=5 05246662&site=eds-live
- Benveniste, T., Guenther, J., Dawson, D., & King, L. (2018). Race, Rules and Relationships: What Can Critical Race Theory Offer Contemporary Aboriginal Boarding Schools? Journal of Intercultural Studies, 40(1), 32-48. doi:10.1080/07256868.2018.1552573
- Bissell, Kim, and Hal Hays. "Exploring the Influence of Mediated Beauty: Examining

- Individual and Social Factors in White and Black Adolescent Girls' Appearance Evaluations." *Howard Journal of Communications* 21, no. 4 (October 2010): 385–411. doi:10.1080/10646175.2010.496646.
- Bland, L. (2017). Interracial Relationships and the "Brown Baby Question": Black GIs, White British Women, and Their Mixed-Race Offspring in World War II. Journal of the History of Sexuality, 26(3), 424-453. doi:10.7560/jhs26304
- Braginsky, N. Kataoka-Yahiro, M., & Inouye, J. (2016). The lived experience of Pacific Island women with a "big body" size. *Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal*, (2), 10. https://doi-org.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/10.9741/23736658.1018
- Bryant, S. L. (2013). The Beauty Ideal: The Effects of European Standards of Beauty on Black Women. *Columbia Social Work Review*, 80–91. Retrieved from <a href="https://doajorg.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz">https://doajorg.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz</a>
- Brewis, A.a. (1, 5), S.t. (2) McGarvey, J. (3) Jones, and B.a. (4) Swinburn. "Perceptions of Body Size in Pacific Islanders." *International Journal of Obesity* 22, no. 2 (01 1998): 185–89. doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0800562.
- Byungju-Shin, & Gon-Namkung. (2008). Films and Cultural Hegemony: American Hegemony 'Outside' and 'Inside' the '007' Movie Series. *Asian Perspective*, *32*(2), 115–143.

  Retrieved from <a href="http://ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=34366091&site=eds-live">http://ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=34366091&site=eds-live</a>
- Castleberry, A., & Nolen, A. (2018). Thematic analysis of qualitative research data: Is it as easy as it sounds? *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 10(6), 807–815. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.03.019
- Clewis, Robert R. "Beauty and Utility in Kant's Aesthetics: The Origins of Adherent Beauty." *Journal of the History of Philosophy* 56, no. 2 (April 17, 2018): 305–35. doi:10.1353/hph.2018.0025.
- Chaker, Z., Chang, F. M., & Hakim-Larson, J. (2015). Body satisfaction, thin-ideal internalization, and perceived pressure to be thin among Canadian women: The role of acculturation and religiosity. *Body Image*, *14*, 85-93. doi:10.1016/j.bodyim.2015.04.003
- Cunningham, M. R., Roberts, A. R., Barbee, A. P., Druen, P. B., & Et al. (1995). "Their ideas of beauty are, on the whole, the same as ours": Consistency and variability in the cross-cultural perception of female physical attractiveness. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 68(2), 261-279. doi:10.1037//0022-3514.68.2.261
- Curtis, C., & Loomans, C. (2014). Friends, family, and their influence on body image dissatisfaction. *Women's Studies Journal*, 28(2), 39–56. Retrieved from <a href="http://ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=anh&AN=100357459&site=eds-live">http://ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=anh&AN=100357459&site=eds-live</a>

- Craig, P., Halavatau, V., Comino, E., & Caterson, I. (1999). Perception of body size in the Tongan community: differences from and similarities to an Australian sample. *International Journal of Obesity*, 23(12), 1288. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edb&AN=61393074&site=eds-live
- Craig, P. L., Swinburn, B. A., Matenga-Smith, T., Matangi, H., & Vaughan, G. (1996). Do Polynesians still believe that big is beautiful? Comparison of body size perceptions and preferences of Cook Islands, Maori and Australians. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, 109, 200-203.
- Davis, J. F. (2017). Selling whiteness? A critical review of the literature on marketing and racism. *Journal of Marketing Management*, *34*(1-2), 134-177. doi:10.1080/0267257x.2017.1395902
- Davidson, D. J (2007). Private Property Wrongs: Uncovering the Contradictory Articulations of an Hegemonic Ideology\*. *Sociological Inquiry*, 77(1), 104-125. <a href="http://doiorg.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/10.1111/j..1475-682X.2007.00179.x">http://doiorg.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/10.1111/j..1475-682X.2007.00179.x</a>
- De Casanova, E. M. (2004). "No Ugly Women" Concepts of Race and Beauty among Adolescent Women in Ecuador. Gender & Society, 18(3), 287-308.doi:10.1177/0891243204263351
- Delgado, R., & Stefancic, J. (2017). Critical Race Theory (Third Edition): An Introduction(3rd ed.). Retrieved from <a href="https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/aut/reader.action?docID=4714300">https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/aut/reader.action?docID=4714300</a>
- Dixson, A. D., & Rousseau, C. K. (2006). *Critical race theory in education : all God's children got a song*. Routledge. (North Campus Main Collection 370.115 CRI).
- Diessner, R., 2, Schuerman, L., Smith, A., Marker, K., Wilson, A., & Wilson, K. (2016). Cognitive-Developmental Education Based on Stages of Understanding Experiences of Beauty. *Journal of Aesthetic Education*, 50(3), 27–52. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5406/jaesteduc.50.3.0027">https://doi.org/10.5406/jaesteduc.50.3.0027</a>
- Docker, J., & Fischer, G. (2000). Race, Colour, and Identity in Australia and New Zealand. Sydney: University of New South Wales Press.
- Eco, U., & McEwen, A. (2004). *History of beauty*. Rizzoli. (North Campus Main Collection 111.8509 HIS).
- Edman JL, & Yates A. (2004). Eating disorder symptoms among Pacific Island and Caucasian women: the impact of self-dissatisfaction and anger discomfort. *Journal of Mental Health*, *13*(2), 143–150. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login.aspx?direct=true&db=ccm&AN= 106779653&site=eds-live
- Elers, S. (2018). A 'white New Zealand': Anti-Chinese Racist Political Discourse from 1880

- Ete-Rasch, E., & Nelson, K. (2013). Management of skin infections in Pacific children prior to hospitalisation. *Journal of Primary Health Care*, *5*(1), 43–51. Retrieved from <a href="http://ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true-backers.html">http://ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true-backers.html</a> &db=ccm&AN=104246000&site=eds-live
- Erz, A., Marder, B., & Osadchaya, E. (2018). Hashtags: Motivational drivers, their use, and differences between influencers and followers. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 89, 48-60. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2018.07.030
- Fa'avae, D., Alison, J., & Linita, M. (2016). Talanoa'i 'a E Talanoa--Talking About Talanoa. Retrieved from <a href="http://eds.a.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=33527a61-2b00-42bf-a7ed-5a380c70d0e9%40sessionmgr4009">http://eds.a.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=33527a61-2b00-42bf-a7ed-5a380c70d0e9%40sessionmgr4009</a>
- Flores, L. A. (2009). Critical race theory. In S. W. Littlejohn & K. A. Foss (Eds.), Encyclopaedia of communication theory (pp. 231-234). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications
- Ferguson, R. (1998). *Representing 'race': ideology, identity, and the media*. London; New York: Arnold, 1998. (City Campus Main Collection 305.8 FER).
- Fehoko, E. (2015). Social space and cultural identity: The faikava as a supplementary site for maintaining Tongan identity in New Zealand. *New Zealand Sociology*, 30(1), 131–139. Retrieved from <a href="http://ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=anh&AN=108830282&site=eds-live">http://ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=anh&AN=108830282&site=eds-live</a>
- Fisher, R. J., & Yu Ma. (2014). The Price of Being Beautiful: Negative Effects of Attractiveness on Empathy for Children in Need. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 41(2), 436–450. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1086/676967">https://doi.org/10.1086/676967</a>
- Foo, S. Y. Y., & Johnson, R. (2010). The beauty trap: how the pressure to conform to society's and media's standards of beauty leave women experiencing body dissatisfaction: a thesis submitted to Auckland University of Technology in partial fulfillment [sic] of the requirements for the degree of Master of Communication Studies (MCS), 2010. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cat05020 a&AN=aut.b11864692&site=eds-live
- Ford, T. (2015). Black Women and the Making of a Modern Soul Style Introduction.

- *Liberated Threads: Black Women, Style, and the Global Politics of Soul, 1,* 1–12. Retrieved from <a href="https://heinonline.org/HOL/P?h=hein.peggy/liberthds0001&i=20">https://heinonline.org/HOL/P?h=hein.peggy/liberthds0001&i=20</a>
- Fuji Johnson, Genevieve, and Randy Enomoto. *Race, Racialization and Antiracism in Canada and Beyond*. Toronto, UNKNOWN: University of Toronto Press, 2007. <a href="http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/aut/detail.action?docID=4634230">http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/aut/detail.action?docID=4634230</a>
- Fua, S. J. (2014). Kakala Research Framework: A Garland in Celebration of a Decade of Rethinking Education. In M. 'Otunuku, U. Nabobo-Baba, & J.-F. Seu'ula (Eds.), *Of Waves, Winds & Wonderful Things: A Decade of Rethinking Pacific Education*. Suva, Fiji: USP Press. Retrieved from http://repository.usp.ac.fj/8197/
- Fuka-lino, A. (2015). Exploring the issues of communication regarding Tongan Youth Suicide in South Auckland, New Zealand (Master's thesis, Auckland University of Technology). Retrieved from <a href="http://aut.researchgateway.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10292/9244/LinoA.pdf?sequence=3">http://aut.researchgateway.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10292/9244/LinoA.pdf?sequence=3</a> &isAllowed=y
- Frankenberg, R. (1997), Displacing whiteness: essays in social and cultural criticism. Duke University Press. Retrieved from <a href="http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cat05020a&AN-aut.b11308060&site=eds-live">http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cat05020a&AN-aut.b11308060&site=eds-live</a>
- Gay, Roxane. "Dethroning Miss America: The Star-Spangled Pageant Became a Surprise Battleground in the Fight for Women's Rights and Racial Equality." *Smithsonian* 48, no. 9 (February 1, 2018): 104–7.
- García-Rapp, F. (2017). 'Come join and let's BOND': authenticity and legitimacy building on YouTube's beauty community. *Journal of Media Practice*, 18(2/3), 120–137. <a href="https://doi-org.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/10.1080/14682753.2017.1374693">https://doi-org.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/10.1080/14682753.2017.1374693</a>
- Griffiths, S., Murray, S. B., Krug, I., & McLean, S. A. (2018). The Contribution of Social Media to Body Dissatisfaction, Eating Disorder Symptoms, and Anabolic Steroid Use Among Sexual Minority Men. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, 21(3), 149-156. doi:10.1089/cyber.2017.0375
- Glapka, Ewa, and Zukiswa Majali. "Between Society and Self: The Socio-Cultural Construction of the Black Female Body and Beauty in South Africa." *Qualitative Sociology Review* 13, no. 1 (January 2017): 174–90.
- Goodman, R., & Rhee, S. (2014). Barometer for Beauty: How Cosmetic Surgery Websites Define and Visualize "What is beautiful". 21.
- Gonzalez, M. (2019, April 10). "Invisible Reality": Student Art Project Focused On Colorism. *The Advocate*. Retrieved from <a href="https://msumadvocate.com/2019/04/10/invisible-reality-student-art-project-focused-on-colorism/">https://msumadvocate.com/2019/04/10/invisible-reality-student-art-project-focused-on-colorism/</a>

- Guttenbeil-Po'uhila, Y., Tu'itahi, S., Htay, T., & Hand, J. (2002). *Tongan Gambling Research Report*. Retrieved from Auckland Regional Public Health Service website: <a href="http://www.arphs.govt.nz/Portals/0/Health%20Information/Pacific%20Health/TonganGambling.pdf">http://www.arphs.govt.nz/Portals/0/Health%20Information/Pacific%20Health/TonganGambling.pdf</a>
- Guess, T. J. (2006). The Social Construction of Whiteness: Racism by Intent, Racism by Consequence. *Critical Sociology (Brill Academic Publishers)*, 32(4), 649–673. https://doi.org/10.1163/156916306779155199
- Grau, S., Kleiser, S., & Bright, L. (2019). Exploring social media addiction among student Millennials. Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal, 22(2), 200-216. doi:10.1108/qmr-02-2017-0058
- Hall, S: Race the Floating Signifier now | Kanopy. (1997). Retrieved 10 March 2018, from <a href="https://aut.kanopystreaming.com/video/race-floating-signifier-stuart-hall">https://aut.kanopystreaming.com/video/race-floating-signifier-stuart-hall</a>
- Harris-Moore, D. (2016). *Media and the rhetoric of body perfection : cosmetic surgery,*weight loss and beauty in popular culture. Routledge. Retrieved from

  http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cat05020a
  &AN=aut.b24614373&site=eds-live
- Harvey, A. M. (2005). Becoming Entrepreneurs: Intersections of Race, Class, and Gender at the Black Beauty Salon. *Gender and Society*, 19(6), 789–808. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.jstor.org/stable/27640851">https://www.jstor.org/stable/27640851</a>
- Heggenstaller, A. K., Rau, A., Coetzee, J. K., Smit, R., & Ryen, A. (2018). Beauty and the Cosmetic Secret. Qualitative Sociology Review, 14(4), 66–84. <a href="https://doiorg.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/10.18778/1733-8077.14.4.05">https://doiorg.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/10.18778/1733-8077.14.4.05</a>
- Holubar, K. (1997). Black Skin and the Ideal of Beauty. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 108(5), 813–814. https://doi.org/10.1111/1523-1747.ep12292283
- Hokowhitu, B. (2008). Understanding the Māori and Pacific body: Towards a critical physical education pedagogy. *Physical Educator Journal of Physical Education New Zealand*, 41(3), 81–91. Retrieved from <a href="http://ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true-&db=anh&AN=39348922&site=eds-live">http://ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true-&db=anh&AN=39348922&site=eds-live</a>
- J Jones, A., Herda, P., & Sua'ali'i-Sauni, T. (2000). *Bitter sweet: indigenous women in the Pacific*. University of Otago Press. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cat05020a &AN=aut.b10391149&site=eds-live
- Jazeel, T. (2019). *Postcolonialism*. Retrieved from <a href="http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/aut/detail.action?docID=5718456">http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/aut/detail.action?docID=5718456</a>
- Jackson, J., & Lyons, T. C. (2012). The perfect body: Men and women negotiate spaces of resistance against beauty and gender ideologies. *Women's Studies Journal*, 26(1), 25–33. Retrieved from

- http://ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true &db=anh&AN=82556598&site=eds-live
- Reece, Robert. (2018). Color Crit: Critical Race Theory and the history and future of colorism in the United States. *Journal of Black Studies*, 50(1), 3-25. Diu:10.1177/0021934718803735
- Richardson-Stovall, J. (2012). Image Slavery and Mass-Media Pollution: Popular Media, Beauty, and the Lives of Black Women. *Berkeley Journal of Sociology*, *56*, 73. Retrieved from <a href="http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edsjsr&AN">http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edsjsr&AN =edsjsr.23345262&site=eds-live</a>
- Ross, T. (2016). Rethinking Journalism and Culture. *Journalism Studies*, *18*(12), 1559-1575. doi:10.1080/1461670x.2016.1146626
- Kailahi, V., & Fairbairn-Dunlop, P. (2017). No'oloto: exploring the epistemological significance of no'oloto to the academic achievements of Tongan tertiary students in New Zealand: a thesis submitted to Auckland University of Technology in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Education (MEd), 2017.
- Ka'ili, T. O., Māhina, O., & Project Muse. (2017). Theorizing Ta-Va. In *Marking indigeneity: The Tongan art of sociospatial relations* (pp. 34-36). Tucson: The University of Arizona Press.
- Kennedy, V. (2000). *Edward Said: A Critical Introduction*. Retrieved from <a href="http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/aut/detail.action?docID=1181433">http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/aut/detail.action?docID=1181433</a>
- Knight T, Latner JD, & Illingworth K. (2010). Tolerance of larger body sizes by young adults living in Australia and Hawaii. *Eating Disorders*, 18(5), 425–434. https://doi.org/10.1080/10640266.2010.511932
- Khattab, U. (2012). Saya Happy: re-reading the promotion of female identity in local and international women's magazines--a semiotic study. *E-Journal of Social & Behavioural Research in Business*, *3*(1), 14-. Retrieved from <a href="http://link.galegroup.com/apps/doc/A302113940/AONE?u=learn&sid=AONE&xid=aa97ffdc">http://link.galegroup.com/apps/doc/A302113940/AONE?u=learn&sid=AONE&xid=aa97ffdc</a>
- Landau, CNN, E. (2012, March 3). Beholding beauty: How it's been studied.

  Retrieved July 15, 2019, from <a href="https://edition.cnn.com/2012/03/02/health/mental-health/beauty-brain-research/index.html">https://edition.cnn.com/2012/03/02/health/mental-health/beauty-brain-research/index.html</a>.
- Liu, T. (2018). Ethnic Studies as Antisubordination Education: a Critical Race Theory Approach to Employment Discrimination Remedies Notes. *Washington University Jurisprudence Review*, 11, 165–190. Retrieved from <a href="https://heinonline.org/HOL/P?h=hein.journals/wujurisre11&i=170">https://heinonline.org/HOL/P?h=hein.journals/wujurisre11&i=170</a>
- Lopaciuk, A., & Loboda, M. (2013, June). *Global Beauty Industry trends in the 21st century*. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.toknowpress.net/ISBN/978-961-6914-02-4/papers/ML13-365.pdf">http://www.toknowpress.net/ISBN/978-961-6914-02-4/papers/ML13-365.pdf</a>

- Luong, Kate T., Silvia Knobloch-Westerwick, and Stefan Niewiesk. "Superstars within Reach: The Role of Perceived Attainability and Role Congruity in Media Role Models on Women's Social Comparisons." *Communication Monographs* 0, no. 0 (June 4, 2019): 1–21. doi:10.1080/03637751.2019.1622143.
- Madan, Shilpa, Shankha Basu, Sharon Ng, and Elison Ai Ching Lim. "Impact of Culture on the Pursuit of Beauty: Evidence from Five Countries." *Journal of International Marketing* 26, no. 4 (December 2018): 54–68. doi:10.1177/1069031X18805493.
- Mackley-Crump, J. (2015). *The Pacific Festivals of Aotearoa New Zealand : Negotiating Place and Identity in a New Homeland*. Honolulu: University of Hawaii Press. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN =986752&site=eds-live
- Malik, K. (1996). *The meaning of race : race, history and culture in western society*.

  Macmillan. Retrieved from

  http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cat05020a
  &AN=aut.b10625033&site=eds-live
- Mageo, Jeannette Marie. "Hairdos and Don'ts: Hair Symbolism and Sexual History in Samoa." *Man* 29, no. 2 (1994): 407–32. doi:10.2307/2804480.
- Martínez-Jiménez, L., Gálvez-Muñoz, L., & Solano-Caballero, Á. (2018). Neoliberalism Goes Pop and Purple: Postfeminist Empowerment from Beyoncé to Mad Max. *The Journal of Popular Culture*, *51*(2), 399–420. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpcu.12671
- McFall-McCaffery, J. (2010). Getting started with Pacific research: Finding resources and information on Pacific research models and methodologies, 5. Retrieved from <a href="http://ndhadeliver.natlib.govt.nz.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/delivery/DeliveryManagerServlet?dps">http://ndhadeliver.natlib.govt.nz.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/delivery/DeliveryManagerServlet?dps</a> pid=FL1656897
- Marger, M. (2000). Race and ethnic relations: American and global perspectives.

  Wadsworth. Retrieved from

  http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cat05020a
  &AN=aut.b10098598&site=eds-live
- Mehar, P. (2019, March 25). Attractive business women are considered less trustworthy. Retrieved April 11, 2019, from <a href="https://www.techexplorist.com/attractive-businesswomen-considered-less-trustworthy/21830/">https://www.techexplorist.com/attractive-businesswomen-considered-less-trustworthy/21830/</a>
- Menon, A. (2016). Reconstructing race and gender in American cosmetic surgery. Ethnic and Racial Studies, 40(4), 597-616. doi:10.1080/01419870.2016.1206590
- Moura-Kocoglu, M. (2017). Decolonizing Gender Roles in Pacific Women's Writing: Indigenous Feminist Theories and the Reconceptualization of Women's Authority. *Contemporary Women's Writing*, 11(2), 239–258. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/cww/vpx015">https://doi.org/10.1093/cww/vpx015</a>

- Mole, C. (2016). Real Objective Beauty. *The British Journal of Aesthetics*, 56(4), 367-381. doi:10.1093/aesthj/ayw053
- Moran, R. (2016). The Topic of the Judgement of Beauty. *British Journal of Aesthetics*, 56(4), 397–400. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/aesthj/ayw049">https://doi.org/10.1093/aesthj/ayw049</a>
- Mills, K. A., & Unsworth, L. (2018). The multimodal construction of race: a review of critical race theory research. Language and Education, 32(4), 313-332. doi:10.1080/09500782.2018.1434787
- Morgan, K. P. (1991). Women and the Knife: Cosmetic Surgery and the Colonization of Women's Bodies. Hypatia, 6(3), 25-53. doi:10.1111/j.1527-2001.1991.tb00254.x
- Murji, K., & Solomos, J. (2005). *Racialization: studies in theory and practice*. Oxford University Press. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cat05020a &AN=aut.b22765542&site=eds-live
- Myford, L. (2005). Beyond the Bun: An Ethnographic Examination of the Meanings and Significance of Hair in Samoa. 40.
- Naugler, D. (2010). 'Oh, sure they're nice, but are they real?': Greeting cards and the normalizing of cosmetic surgical intervention in practices of feminine embodiment. *Resources for Feminist Research*, 33(3–4), 119-. Retrieved from <a href="http://link.galegroup.com/apps/doc/A257127031/AONE?u=learn&sid=AONE&xid=955ab6c5">http://link.galegroup.com/apps/doc/A257127031/AONE?u=learn&sid=AONE&xid=955ab6c5</a>
- Nadeem, S. (2014). Fair and anxious: on mimicry and skin-lightening in India. *Social Identities*, 20(2/3), 224–238. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13504630.2014.881282">https://doi.org/10.1080/13504630.2014.881282</a>
- Nicola Di Stefano, P. (2017). The Idea of Beauty and Its Biases: Critical Notes on the Aesthetics of Plastic Surgery. Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Global Open, (10), e1523. https://doi-org.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/10.1097/GOX.0000000000001523
- O'Brien, K., Hunter, J., Halberstadt, J., & Anderson, J. (2007). Body image and explicit and implicit anti-fat attitudes: The mediating role of physical appearance comparisons. *Body Image*, 4(3), 249–256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bodyim.2007.06.001
- Osuri, G. (2008). Ash-coloured whiteness: The transfiguration of Aishwarya rai. *South Asian Popular Culture*, 6(2), 109–123. <a href="https://doi-org.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/10.1080/14746680802365212">https://doi-org.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/10.1080/14746680802365212</a>
- Patten, M. L., & Newhart, M. (2017). *Understanding Research Methods: An Overview of the Essentials*. London, United Kingdom: Routledge. Retrieved from <a href="http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/aut/detail.action?docID=4891037">http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/aut/detail.action?docID=4891037</a>
- Pasefika Proud. (2016). The Profile of Pacific Peoples in New Zealand. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.pasefikaproud.co.nz/assets/Resources-for-download/PasefikaProudResource-Pacific-peoples-paper.pdf">http://www.pasefikaproud.co.nz/assets/Resources-for-download/PasefikaProudResource-Pacific-peoples-paper.pdf</a>

- Prescott, S. M. (2008). Using Talanoa in Pacific Business Research in New Zealand: Experiences with Tongan Entrepreneurs. *AlterNative: An International Journal of Indigenous Peoples*, 4(1), 127–148. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/117718010800400111">https://doi.org/10.1177/117718010800400111</a>
- Picton, O. (2013). The complexities of complexion: a cultural geography of skin colour and beauty products. *Geography*, 98(2), 85–92. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.jstor.org/stable/24412204">http://www.jstor.org/stable/24412204</a>
- Portella, J. (2014, December 28). Kinky Hair Fair: Affirming Identity, Raising Awareness. Retrieved July 3, 2019, from <a href="https://www.rioonwatch.org/?p=19732">https://www.rioonwatch.org/?p=19732</a>
- Poran, M. A. (2002). Denying diversity: Perceptions of beauty and social comparison processes among Latina, Black; and White women. *Sex Roles; New York*, 47(1/2), 65–81. http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.auckland.ac.nz/10.1023/A:1020683720636
- Rabaka, R. (2007). The Souls of White Folk: W.E.B. Du Bois's Critique of White Supremacy and Contributions to Critical White Studies. Journal of African American Studies, 11(1), 1-15. doi:10.1007/s12111-007-9011-8
- Rhee, S. C., Woo, K., & Kwon, B. (2012). Biometric Study of Eyelid Shape and Dimensions of Different Races with References to Beauty. *Aesthetic Plastic Surgery*, *36*(5), 1236-1245. doi:10.1007/s00266-012-9937-7
- Rice, C. (2014). Becoming Women: The Embodied Self in Image Culture. Toronto, Canada: University of Toronto Press.
- Russell, J. G. (2017). Replicating the White Self and Other: Skin Color, Racelessness, Gynoids, and the Construction of Whiteness in Japan. *Japanese Studies*, *37*(1), 23–48. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/10371397.2017.1297183">https://doi.org/10.1080/10371397.2017.1297183</a>
- Sauchelli, A. (2013). Functional Beauty, Perception, and Aesthetic Judgements. *The British Journal of Aesthetics*, 53(1), 41–53. https://doi.org/10.1093/aesthj/ays057
- Saunders, M. N. K., & Townsend, K. (2016). Reporting and Justifying the Number of Interview Participants in Organization and Workplace Research. *British Journal of Management*, 27(4), 836–852. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12182">https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12182</a>
- Samovar, L. A., Porter, R. E., McDaniel, E. R., & Roy, C. S. (2009). *Communication between cultures*. Boston, MA: Wadsworth/Cengage Learning.
- Scott, Rebecca R. "Appalachia and the Construction of Whiteness in the United States." *Sociology Compass*, September 1, 2009. doi:10.1111/j.1751-9020.2009.00235.x.
- Schuller Kyla. (2009). Facial Uplift: Plastic Surgery, Cosmetics and the Retailing of Whiteness in the Work of María Cristina Mena. *Jml: Journal of Modern Literature*, (4), 82. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2979/jmodelite.32.4.82">https://doi.org/10.2979/jmodelite.32.4.82</a>

- Simonds, V. W., & Christopher, S. (2013). Adapting Western Research Methods to Indigenous Ways of Knowing. *American Journal of Public Health*, 103(12), 2185–2192. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2012.301157">https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2012.301157</a>
- Smith, Linda Tuhiwai. *Decolonizing Methodologies : Research and Indigenous Peoples*. Second edition. Zed Books, 2012.
- Sidhu, D. M., McDougall, K. H., Jalava, S. T., & Bodner, G. E. (2018). Prediction of beauty and liking ratings for abstract and representational paintings using subjective and objective measures. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(7), e0200431. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0200431
- Silverstein, B., Perdue, L., Peterson, B., & Kelly, E. (1986). The Role of the Mass Media in Promoting a Thin Standard of Bodily Attractiveness for Women. *Sex Roles*, *14*(9–10), 519. Retrieved from <a href="http://ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true">http://ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true</a> &db=edb&AN=23804720&site=eds-live
- Stats NZ Aotearoa, T. A. (2013). Demographics of New Zealand's Pacific Population.

  Retrieved 23 July 2019, from

  <a href="http://archive.stats.govt.nz/browse\_for\_stats/people\_and\_communities/pacific\_people\_s/pacific-progress-demography.aspx">http://archive.stats.govt.nz/browse\_for\_stats/people\_and\_communities/pacific\_people\_s/pacific-progress-demography.aspx</a>
- Stewart-Withers, R., Sewabu, K., & Richardson, S. (2017). Talanoa: A contemporary qualitative methodology for sport management. *Sport Management Review*, 20(1), 55–68. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smr.2016.11.001">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smr.2016.11.001</a>
- Stokinger, Ellen., & Wilson, Ozuem., (2018) "The Intersection of Social Media and Customer Retention in the Luxury Beauty Industry." Chapter. <a href="http://Services.Igi-Global.Com/Resolvedoi/Resolve.Aspx?Doi=10.4018/978-1-5225-5187-4.Ch066">https://Services.Igi-Global.Com/Resolvedoi/Resolve.Aspx?Doi=10.4018/978-1-5225-5187-4.Ch066</a>, <a href="https://www-igi-global-com.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/chapter/the-intersection-of-social-media-and-customer-retention-in-the-luxury-beauty-industry/195151">https://www-igi-global-com.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/chapter/the-intersection-of-social-media-and-customer-retention-in-the-luxury-beauty-industry/195151</a>.
- Strachan, J., Yellowlees, G., & Quigley, A. (2015). General practitioners' assessment of, and treatment decisions regarding, common mental disorder in older adults: thematic analysis of interview data. *Ageing & Society*, *35*(1), 150–168. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0144686X13000585
- Suaalii, T. M. (1997). Deconstructing the 'exotic' female beauty of the Pacific Islands and 'white' male desire. *Women's Studies Journal; Auckland, N.Z.*, *13*(2), 75–94. Retrieved from <a href="https://search-proquest-com.ezproxy.auckland.ac.nz/docview/1306161619/citation/9DE7B6C7E4F44CDPQ/1">https://search-proquest-com.ezproxy.auckland.ac.nz/docview/1306161619/citation/9DE7B6C7E4F44CDPQ/1</a>
- Tautolo, E. (2011). Pacific Fathers: Cultivating the future: The Health of Pacific fathers and their influence upon and involvement with their children (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from <a href="http://aut.researchgateway.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10292/3488/TautoloE.pdf?sequence=3&isAllowed=y">http://aut.researchgateway.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10292/3488/TautoloE.pdf?sequence=3&isAllowed=y</a>

- Taube, A. (2014, June 27). These Photoshopped Portraits Show How People Define Beauty In 19 Different Countries. Retrieved 31 October 2018, from <a href="https://www.businessinsider.com.au/how-19-different-countries-define-beauty-2014-6">https://www.businessinsider.com.au/how-19-different-countries-define-beauty-2014-6</a>
- Taniguchi, E., & Thompson, C. M. (2015). Family Communication and Body Dissatisfaction among Young Adult Females: Mediating Effects of Social Competence. *Journal of Family Communication*, *15*(4), 410-427. doi:10.1080/15267431.2015.1076823
- Taylor, Marilyn L., Theresa L. Coates, Chi Anyansi-Archibong, and Norihito Tanaka. "The Twenty-First's Second Decade-Whither the Beauty Industry?" *Business Case Journal* 21, no. 1 (Fall/Winter2013/2014 2013): 6–52.
- Tongamoa, T. (1988). Pacific women: role and status of women in Pacific societies. Institute of Pacific Studies of the University of the South Pacific. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cat05020a &AN=aut.b10559814&site=eds-live
- Toluta'u, T. (2008). *Talanoa: matala 'o e fonua* (Master's thesis, Auckland University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand). Retrieved from http://aut.researchgateway.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10292/503/Toluta\_uT.pdf?sequence =7&isAllowed=y
- Taniguchi, E., & Thompson, C. M. (2015). Family Communication and Body Dissatisfaction among Young Adult Females: Mediating Effects of Social Competence. *Journal of Family Communication*, *15*(4), 410-427. doi:10.1080/15267431.2015.1076823
- Tunufa'i, L. (2016). Pacific Research: Rethinking the Talanoa 'Methodology'. *New Zealand Sociology*, *31*(7), 230. Retrieved from <a href="http://eds.a.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=5&sid=ca75b536-e730-4c21-8684-e20aa9ea736f%40sessionmgr4007">http://eds.a.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=5&sid=ca75b536-e730-4c21-8684-e20aa9ea736f%40sessionmgr4007</a>
- Tima, M. (2013). Youth Participation: Does it have a place in the Samoan traditional church? Exploring youth perceptions of the EFKS in South Auckland (Master's thesis, Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand). Retrieved from <a href="http://aut.researchgateway.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10292/7721/TimaT.pdf?sequence=3">http://aut.researchgateway.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10292/7721/TimaT.pdf?sequence=3</a> <a href="https://aut.researchgateway.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10292/7721/TimaT.pdf?sequence=3">https://aut.researchgateway.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10292/7721/TimaT.pdf?sequence=3</a> <a href="https://aut.researchgateway.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10292/7721/TimaT.pdf?sequence=3">https://aut.researchgateway.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10292/7721/TimaT.pdf?sequence=3</a>
- Varghese, Josephine. "RESEARCH REPORT: Fair & Lovely: Ideas of Beauty among Young Migrant Women in Chennai, India." *Women's Studies Journal* 31, no. 1 (January 2017): 59–69.
- Varisco, D. M. (2017). *Reading Orientalism: Said and the Unsaid*. Retrieved from <a href="http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/aut/detail.action?docID=4858168">http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/aut/detail.action?docID=4858168</a>
- Vatuvei, L. H. (2017). Using the 'Kakala Research Framework' to research the way in which gambling and problem gambling have been studied among Pacific families in Auckland, New Zealand (Master's thesis, Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand). Retrieved from <a href="http://aut.researchgateway.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10292/11043/VatuveiLH.pdf?sequence=7&isAllowed=y">http://aut.researchgateway.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10292/11043/VatuveiLH.pdf?sequence=7&isAllowed=y</a>

- Vaioleti, T. M. (2006). Talanoa Research Methodology: A Developing Position on Pacific Research. Waikato Journal of Education, 12, 21–34. Retrieved from <a href="http://ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true-db=anh&AN=24102566&site=eds-live">http://ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true-db=anh&AN=24102566&site=eds-live</a>
- Verdugo, A., & Fierro, R. (2014). Media Consumption Patterns and Communicative. *Global Media Journal - Canadian Edition*, 7(2), 23-39. Retrieved from http://eds.b.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=20 34d3c6-3481-4cc0-a933-77166d796448%40pdc-v-sessmgr02
- Vogt Yuan, A. S. (2009). Body Perceptions, Weight Control Behavior, and Changes in Adolescents' Psychological Well-Being Over Time: A Longitudinal Examination of Gender. Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 39(8), 927-939. doi:10.1007/s10964-009-9428-6
- Wladyslaw Tatarkiewicz. (1963). Objectivity and Subjectivity in the History of Aesthetics. *Philosophy and Phenomenological Research*, 24(2), 157. https://doiorg.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/10.2307/2104458
- Weik, E. (2018). Value, affect and beauty: The Weird Sisters of institutionalist theory. A ritualist perspective. *European Management Journal*, 1-11.doi:10.1016/j.emj.2018.06.009
- Wilson, J. (2019, April 10). Pretty Powerful: 15 Black Female Beauty Executives Who Are Changing The Industry. *Essence*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.essence.com/feature/pretty-powerful/">https://www.essence.com/feature/pretty-powerful/</a>
- Williams LK, Ricciardelli LA, McCabe MP, Waqa GG, & Bavadra K. (2006). Body image attitudes and concerns among indigenous Fijian and European Australian adolescent girls. *Body Image*, *3*(3), 275–287. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login.aspx?direct=true&db=ccm&AN= 106113311&site=eds-live
- Wolf, N. (2015). *The Beauty Myth: How Images of Beauty are Used Against Women*. New York, NY: Random House.
- Xie, Q. (Vivi), & Zhang, M. (2013). White or tan? A cross-cultural analysis of skin beauty advertisements between China and the United States. *Asian Journal of Communication*, 23(5), 538–554. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/01292986.2012.756046">https://doi.org/10.1080/01292986.2012.756046</a>
- Yan, Y., & Bissell, K. (2014). The Globalization of Beauty: How is Ideal Beauty Influenced by Globally Published Fashion and Beauty Magazines? *Journal of Intercultural Communication Research*, 43(3), 194–214. https://doiorg.ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/10.1080/17475759.2014.917432
- Yerima, D. (2017). Regimentation or Hybridity? Western Beauty Practices by Black Women in Adichie's Americanah. *JOURNAL OF BLACK STUDIES*, 48(7), 639–650. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021934717712711

Zhang, Y. B., & Lien, S.-C. (2010). Television Viewing and Taiwanese Adolescent Girls' Perceptions of Body Image. *China Media Research*, *6*(4), 15–23. Retrieved from <a href="http://ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=ufh&AN=55341187&site=eds-live">http://ezproxy.aut.ac.nz/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=ufh&AN=55341187&site=eds-live</a>



# **Auckland University of Technology Ethics Committee (AUTEC)**

Auckland University of Technology D-88, Private Bag 92006, Auckland 1142, NZ T: +64 9 921 9999 ext. 8316 E: ethics@aut.ac.nz www.aut.ac.nz/researchethics

15 August 2019

Rufus McEwan Faculty of Design and Creative Technologies

**Dear Rufus** 

Ethics Application: 18/32 Pacific women, beauty and race: The communication of beauty ideals and the

experiences of Pacific women in contemporary society

At their meeting of 12 August 2019, the Auckland University of Technology Ethics Committee (AUTEC) received the report on your ethics application. AUTEC noted your report and asked me to thank you.

On behalf of AUTEC, I congratulate the researchers on the project and look forward to reading more about it in future reports.

When communicating with us about this application, we ask that you use the application number and study title to enable us to provide you with prompt service. Should you have any further enquiries regarding this matter, you are welcome to contact me by email at <a href="mailto:ethics@aut.ac.nz">ethics@aut.ac.nz</a> or by telephone on 921 9999 at extension 6038.

Yours sincerely

Kate O'Connor Executive Manager

**Auckland University of Technology Ethics Committee** 

Cc: rmx7765@autuni.ac.nz; latumalia3@gmail.com

M Course